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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
SEC FORM 17-A 

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE 

AND SECTION 141 OF THE CORPORATION CODE 
 
 
1. For the fiscal year ended 31 December 2021   
     
2. SEC Identification Number: CS202052294 3. BIR Tax Identification No. 502-228-971 
     
4. MREIT, INC.    
 Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter   
     
5. Metro Manila, Philippines    
 Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization 
     
6.  

 

(SEC Use Only)    
 Industry Classification Code    
     
7. 18th Floor, Alliance Global Tower, 36th Street cor. 

11th Avenue, Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City 1634 
  

 Address of principal office    
     
8. (02) 88946400    
 Registrant’s telephone number, including area code   
     
9. Former name, former address and formal fiscal year, if changed since last report: 

N/A 
     
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the 

RSA 
     
 Title of Each Class Number of Shares of Stock Outstanding 
 Common 2,532,121,381 
     
11. Are any or all of these securities listed on a Stock Exchange? 
     
 [x] Yes [   ] No   
     
 If yes, disclose the name of such Stock Exchange and the class of securities listed therein: 
     
 Philippine Stock Exchange Common Shares 
   
12. Check whether the issuer:  
   
 1. has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17 

thereunder or Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 
and 141 of The Corporation Code of the Philippines during the preceding twelve (12) 
months. 

   
 [x] Yes [   ] No 
   
 2. has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 
   
 [x] Yes [   ] No 
   
13. Aggregate Market Value of Voting Common Stock held by Non-Affiliates as of 31 December 

2021 is Php18,711,798,750 based on the closing price of Php19.70 per share. 
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14. Briefly describe documents incorporated by reference and identify the part of the SEC Form 
17-A into which the document is incorporated:  
 
(a) 2021 Audited Financial Statements; 
 
(b) Pursuant to SEC Memorandum Circular No. 4-2019, MREIT, Inc.’s Sustainability 

Report for 2021 is attached to and submitted together with this SEC Form 17-A.  
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PART I - BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS 
 
 
Background 
 
MREIT, Inc. (the Company) is a real estate investment trust (REIT) incorporated under the Philippine 
Real Estate Investment Trust Law (Republic Act No. 9856) on 2 October 2020.  The Company was 
designated by Megaworld Corporation (Megaworld), its Parent and Sponsor, to operate as its flagship 
REIT company, the primary focus of which will be office and retail leasing to a diversified tenant base, 
with a high-quality portfolio of 14 office, hotel, retail and other assets across the Philippines and an 
aggregate GLA of of 280,175 sqm as of 31 December 2021.  

The Company has an authorized capital stock of ₱5,000,000,000.00 divided into 5,000,000,000 
common shares with a par value of ₱1.00 per share, with no preferred shares and no shares held in 
treasury. 

On 1 October 2021, the Company conducted an initial public offering and listed its shares in the 
Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). MREIT has a total market capitalization of Php49.9 billion based on 
the closing price of Php19.7 per common share on 31 December 2021, the last trading day of the year. 
As of the date of this report, the Company has 2,532,121,381 common shares issued and outstanding. 
62.09% of the issued and outstanding shares is held by the Sponsor, Megaworld, while the remaining 
37.51% is held by the public.  
 
The Business 
 
MREIT is a REIT formed primarily to own and invest in income-producing commercial portfolio of office, 
retail, and hotel properties in the Philippines, that meets its investment criteria. The principal 
investment mandate and strategy of MREIT is to invest in income-generating real estate that meets a 
select set of criteria, such as location, property grade and type, and tenant profile.  In 2021, the 
Company acquired a total of fourteen (14) mixed-use buildings from Megaworld, with a total gross 
leasable area of 280,175 sqm, namely: 
 

Quezon City 
1800 Eastwood Avenue 
1880 Eastwood Avenue 
E Commerce Building 
 
Taguig City 
One World Square 
Two World Square 
Three World Square 
8/10 Upper Mckinley 
18/20 Upper Mckinley 
World Finance Plaza 
 
Iloilo City 
Richmonde Hotel Iloilo and Richmonde Iloilo Office Tower 
One Techno Place 
Two Techno Place 
Three Techno Place 
One Global Center 

 
In furtherance of the transfer, assignment and conveyance in favor of the Company of all of Megaworld’s 
rights, title and interests in the Properties, Megaworld also assigned in favor of the Company all of its 
rights and interests in and to the contracts of lease over portions of the Properties leased out to various 
entities as office, retail and hotel. In 2021, the Company started earning rental income from the 
Properties. (For more information, see Exhibit 1 – Audited Financial Statements). 
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As a commercial REIT, MREIT will focus on expanding its office, mall, and hotel properties. However, 
if the opportunity arises, MREIT may also explore other types of real estate properties available in the 
market. MREIT offers Shareholders an investment opportunity with a stable yield, opportunities for 
Gross Revenue and Net Operating Income growth, high-quality properties with strong tenant demand, 
strong Sponsor support from Megaworld, experienced management with incentive to grow the 
Company’s Gross Revenue and Net Operating Income, and distribution of at least 90% of the 
Company’s Distributable Income.  

Through its Fund Manager, the Company intends to maximize investment returns by growing the 
Gross Revenue as well as the Net Operating Income from the the Company’s Properties over time, 
through active management of present and future property portfolio in order to secure income growth 
and provide a Competitive Investment Return to its investors.  
 
The Company derives its revenues through leasing real properties. As of 31 December 2021, the 
Company owns fourteen (14) mixed used buildings located in Quezon City, Taguig City and Iloilo City 
leased out to various entities as office, retail and hotel. All of the Properties were developed by 
Megaworld. All of the Properties are owned by the Company and stand on land leased from Megaworld 
for an aggregate period of 50 years. 
 
All Properties are PEZA-registered and/or located in PEZA-registered zones. The Company’s portfolio 
has tenants across various sectors which are categorized as follows: (i) Business Process Outsourcing 
(BPO) and traditional office; (ii) hotel, (iii) retail and others. Due to the sustained growth from the BPO 
sector, the Company has secured a number of major BPO customers as long-term tenants in the 
properties. As of 31 December 2021, 94% or 254,227 sqm of the total available GLA of the portfolio 
was occupied by BPOs and traditional offices, and 6% or 15,381 sqm of the total available GLA of the 
portfolio was occupied by retail and other tenants including 6,769 sqm pertaining to the hotel GLA.  
 
In spite of the community quarantine imposed by the Government due to the coronavirus pandemic, 
the Properties enjoy pre-COVID-19 occupancy levels due largely to the sustained operations of the 
BPO office tenants. The Properties have enjoyed consistently high occupancy rates thus earning stable 
rental revenues. Most of the commercial office lease agreements for the Company’s properties are for 
tenancy periods of between five (5) to ten (10) years. To ensure the timely payment of rent, arrears 
management procedures are enforced to ensure timely payment of rent. For office properties, we 
require three months’ deposit and three months’ advance rental. For retail properties, we require six 
months’ deposit and one month advance rental. Rentals, as well as common use service area (CUSA) 
fee of the maintenance upkeep of the buildings, are billed monthly or quarterly, and are collected every 
fifth of the month or first month of the quarter. In addition, under the general terms of the leases, lessees 
and tenants for office properties are obligated to pay additional security deposit also equivalent to three 
months’ rental upfront.  
 
The Company’s current Committed Leases structurally provide opportunities for growth, and this is 
primed to continue into the future. The total Gross Revenue from the Properties is expected to increase 
continuously primarily due to higher rental rates obtained on new leases or on renewals of existing 
leases and built-in rental escalations. The Properties have contractual fixed lease rental escalations of 
5% to 10% per annum, providing for a secure source of organic growth and clear income visibility. 
Additionally, the Company also has the ability to lease up the assets—raising the overall occupancy of 
the buildings.  
 
The Company is also not subject to the effects of seasonality or other sales cycles, as its rent terms are 
fixed and apply uniformly (subject to individually negotiated escalation rates) across the lease terms. 
Additionally, tenants of office properties typically pay a security deposit equal to three months’ rent and 
advance rent equal to three months. Meanwhile, tenants of commercial properties usually pay a security 
deposit equal to six months’ rent and advance rent equal to one month.  All of these advance rents are 
forfeited in case the tenant pre-terminates the lease agreement without prior notice or before the expiry 
of the lease term without cause. Such stable cash flows have, and will continue to, allow the Company 
flexibility in maintaining and upgrading the Properties to continually satisfy its tenants needs; in seeking 
further investment opportunities, whether expansion of the Company’s existing Properties or acquisition 
of additional properties; and in making regular distributions to the Company’s shareholders.  
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Distribution Methods of Services 
 
The Company caters primarily to office tenants. As of December 31, 2021, commercial office space 
comprised approximately 94% of the total gross leasable area of the properties, leased out to BPOs 
and traditional office lessees. The remaining 6% of the GLA is allotted to retail tenants and hotel 
operations. 
 
Marketing  
 
The Company engages the services of MREIT Property Managers, Inc. (MPMI) to render, among other 
things, marketing services of vacant office units, retail, units, and other spaces in the properties, 
including the preparation and submission of proposals and offers to prospective lessees in the name of 
the Company, and the identification of potential tenants. MPMI shall also formulate and implement 
leasing and marketing strategies, and package leasing and marketing materials to be provided to 
prospective lessees. In exchange for MPMI’s services, the Company pays property management fee 
to MPMI on a quarterly basis. 
 
Competition  
 
The Company believes that the competition for office space is principally on the basis of location, quality 
and reliability of the project’s design and equipment, reputation of the developer, supply of comparable 
space, changing needs of business users, and PEZA registration. The Company considers as primary 
competitors Ayala Land, Inc. and its REIT Subsidiary, SM Prime Holdings, Inc., Robinsons Land 
Corporation and its REIT Subsidiary, Filinvest Land Inc. and its REIT Subsidiary, and Double Dragon 
Properties Corporation and its REIT Subsidiary. 
 
The Company competes on the basis of the strategic locations of its buildings, including their proximity 
to the malls and residences as part of its mixed-use developments and accessibility to public 
transportation. The Company believes that its and its Sponsor’s established reputation for good quality, 
ease of doing business, and completing projects on time makes the Company one of the most preferred 
choices of the BPO industry as well as local and multinational companies. The Company is committed 
to providing an excellent customer experience and satisfaction by offering and maintaining office 
projects of high quality and reliability, meeting the evolving needs of its customers. Together with 
Megaworld, the Company aims to maintain its leading position in the office leasing market. 
 
Suppliers 
 
The Company has a broad base of suppliers that cater to the operation, maintenance and upkeep of 
the Company’s properties, which the Company engages either directly or through the property 
manager.  
 
Transactions with and/or dependence on related parties 
 
The Company, in its ordinary course of business, engages in transactions with its parent and affiliates. 
The Company’s policy with respect to related party transactions is to ensure that these transactions are 
entered into on terms comparable to those available from unrelated third parties.  
 
Transactions with related parties include asset acquisitions from, property-for-share swap transactions 
and land leases with, Megaworld (the Company’s Parent and Sponsor), and fund and property 
management agreements with affiliates. As a newly established business, the Company’s current 
operations depend principally on the services of its Senior Management, comprised of officers who are 
seconded from Megaworld. Other related party transactions include advances granted to and obtained 
from subsidiaries, associates and other related parties are for purposes of working capital requirements. 
(For more information, see Exhibit 1 - Audited Financial Statements, Note 15). 
 
Intellectual Property 
 
The Company has adopted a logo of MREIT which has been filed for the trademark registration with 
the Philippine Intellectual Property Office. The Company has also secured an exclusive domain for its 
website and email system (www.mreit.com.ph).  
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The Company also relies on Megaworld’s trademarks to establish and protect its business interests, 
believing that Megaworld’s trademarks and intellectual property rights are important to the Company’s 
success and competitive position. Megaworld, the Sponsor, has registration of trademarks of the 
McKinley Hill and Iloilo Business Park townships where most of the Properties are located, approved 
by the Philippine Intellectual Property Office. Megaworld has granted the Company non-exclusive rights 
to use the foregoing marks where the Properties are located for free for a period of 25 years plus an 
extension of 25 years, commencing on June 1, 2021. 
 
Regulatory  
 
Republic Act No. 9856 or the Real Estate Investment Trust Act of 2009 lapsed into law on December 
17, 2009. Pursuant to Section 22 of the said law, the Philippine SEC approved the implementing rules 
and regulations of the Real Estate Investment Trust Act of 2009 on May 13, 2010. Under the REIT Law, 
a REIT is a stock corporation established primarily for the purpose of owning income-generating real 
estate assets. Although designated as a trust, the REIT Law explicitly provides that a REIT is not a 
“trust” as contemplated under other existing laws and regulations. Instead, the term is used for the sole 
purpose of adopting the internationally accepted description of the company in accordance with global 
best practices. 
 
On January 20, 2020, the Philippine SEC issued Memorandum Circular No. 1, Series of 2020 (Revised 
REIT IRR), amending the existing REIT regulations by, among other things, modifying the minimum 
public ownership of a REIT, incorporating a reinvestment of proceeds policy, imposing additional 
corporate governance mechanisms into a REIT, and adding qualifications of a REIT fund manager and 
property manager. The regulatory amendment was published in a newspaper of general circulation on 
January 23, 2020 and became effective on February 7, 2020. 
 
In order to be considered a REIT and to benefit from the incentives under the law, the shares of a REIT 
must be registered with the Philippine SEC in accordance with the SRC and listed with the PSE in 
accordance with its Listing and Disclosure Rules and its Amended Listing Rules for REITs (PSE Rules). 
The procedure for the registration and listing of such shares as a REIT shall comply with the applicable 
registration and listing rules and regulations of the Philippine SEC and the PSE, in addition to the 
specific requirements under the REIT Law and the PSE Rules. 
 
The REIT Law and the Revised REIT IRR limit the allowable investment of a REIT mainly to income 
generating real estate. 75% of the total value of the REIT’s assets, reflecting the fair market value of 
total assets held, must be invested in, or consist of, income-generating real estate and 35% of which 
must be located in the Philippines. Should a REIT invest in income-generating real estate located 
outside of the Philippines, the same should not exceed 40% of its Deposited Property and only upon 
special authority from the Securities and Exchange Commission. An investment in real estate may, by 
way of direct ownership or a shareholding in a domestic special purpose vehicle, be constituted to 
hold/own real estate. The real estate to be acquired by the REIT should have a good track record for 
three years from the date of acquisition. An income-generating real estate is defined under the REIT 
Law to mean real property which is held for the purpose of generating a regular stream of income such 
as rentals, toll fees, user’s fees, ticket sales, parking fees and storage fees. 
 
A REIT must distribute at least 90% of its distributable income annually, as dividends to its shareholders 
not later than the last working day of the fifth (5th) month following the close of the fiscal year of the 
REIT. 
 
Government approvals and regulations 
 
The Company secures various government approvals, such as PEZA licenses, environmental 
compliance certificates, and operating permits, required primarily in the Company’s operation of its 
assets for leases. The Company’s property manager is tasked to ensure that the Company’s permits 
and licenses to operate the properties and to engage in property leasing business are up-to-date. 
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Employees  
 
The business of the Company is not highly dependent on the services of personnel outside of Senior 
Management, who are officers and employees of Megaworld, and of the services performed by the 
Company’s fund manager and property manager. As of December 31, 2021, the Company only has 
one full-time employee. 
 
The Company has no collective bargaining agreements with employees and there are no organized 
labor organizations in the Company.  
 
Risks Associated with the Company’s Business 
 
The Company is exposed to risks inherent in the Philippine real estate market. 
 
The Company is highly dependent on the performance of the Philippine real estate market and the state 
of the Philippine economy because all of its Properties are located in the Philippines. The demand for, 
and prevailing prices of office leases are directly related to the strength of the Philippine economy and 
the overall levels of business activity in the Philippines. The growth of the real estate sector has been 
mainly driven by the fast-growing BPO sector, which is vulnerable to global economic changes. As one 
of the fastest growing sectors in the Philippine real estate industry, the BPO sector drives office space 
demand, which fuels the performance and profitability of the Company’s Properties. 
 
Several factors contribute to fluctuations in the Philippine property market including the general demand 
and supply of properties which may cause asset price bubbles, increases and decreases in interest 
rates, inflationary pressures, Government-related real estate policies and other factors beyond the 
Company’s control. In particular, the global economic downturn resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic 
has resulted in an economic slowdown and negative business sentiment, which may have an adverse 
effect on the outlook on the Philippine property market and lead to an adverse change in the Philippines’ 
macroeconomic situation generally, which could materially and adversely affect the Company’s results 
of operations. Moreover, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic could result in the Company’s tenants in the 
BPO sector taking actions to mitigate its impact, such as early termination of leases, downsizing or non-
renewal of leases, particularly with the increase in work-from-home arrangements. Thus, the Company 
is directly affected by the risks that affect the Philippine property market as a whole, and the property 
market in the BPO sector in particular. The Company cannot foresee when the disruptions of business 
activities caused by the outbreak of COVID-19 will cease. Any decline in the value of land or real estate 
in the Philippines may lead to a downward revaluation of the Properties and a decrease in rental rates. 
 
The Company is exposed to risks that it will be unable to lease its properties in a timely manner or 
collect rent at profitable rates or at all. 
 
The Company is subject to risks incidental to the ownership and operation of office and related retail 
properties including, among other things, competition for tenants, changes in market rents, inability to 
renew leases or re-let space as existing leases expire, inability to collect rent from tenants due to 
bankruptcy or insolvency of tenants or otherwise, increased operating costs and the need to renovate, 
repair and re-let space periodically and to pay the associated costs. In particular, the Company relies 
on the growth of the BPO business as a continued source of revenue from its rental properties.  If the 
BPO business does not grow as the Company expects or if the Company is not able to continue to 
attract BPO-based tenants, it may not be able to lease its office space or as a consequence, its retail 
space, in a timely manner or otherwise at satisfactory rents.  
 
Significant competition in the markets in which the Company operates could adversely affect its 
business. 
 
The Company operates in a highly competitive industry. Its future growth and development are 
dependent, in large part, on the availability of large tracts of office and commercial assets suitable for 
acquisition, development or lease. As the Company and its competitors compete for such assets, it may 
become more difficult to find suitable properties in locations and at prices acceptable to the Company, 
particularly in Metro Manila, CBDs and other key urban areas. To the extent that the Company is unable 
to grow its portfolio at acceptable prices, its growth prospects could be limited and its business and 
results of operations could be adversely affected. 
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A number of other office and commercial center developers and real estate services companies, some 
with greater financial and other resources than the Company, compete with the Company in various 
aspects. Competition from other real estate developers and real estate services companies may 
adversely affect the Company’s ability to grow its portfolio, or attract and retain tenants, and continued 
development by these and other market participants could result in saturation of the market for office 
spaces. 
 
Market changes in demand for new types of office space may reduce the appeal of the Properties to 
potential tenants. 
 
The Company’s Properties cater primarily to the BPO sector and the traditional office sector. Majority 
of its Properties are currently designed with traditional office space or to suit the specific requirements 
of a BPO tenant. 
 
Recent trends in the Philippine commercial leasing market, however, indicate that many corporate 
consumers desire non-traditional office space, such as co-working spaces. Tenants that desire these 
types of co-working space also typically seek short-term lease terms. There is no guarantee that the 
Company will be able to keep pace with such changes in the commercial leasing market and offer office 
space and rental terms that are desirable for such businesses. There is also no guarantee that the 
Company’s current tenants will not prefer different types of office space and rental arrangements. If the 
Company’s pool of potential tenants is significantly reduced or if a large number of tenants do not renew 
their leases as a result of such trends, the Rental Income generated by the Properties could be 
adversely affected, which could adversely affect the Company’s financial condition and results of 
operations and ability to make distributions at the desired levels. The Company attempts to manage 
this risk by actively monitoring the real estate market in the Philippines to assess market trends and 
respond to changing needs and tastes, and by continuing to maximize the desirability of its Properties 
and by pursuing well-planned and timed asset acquisition and investments. 
 
The Company does not own the lands on which its Properties are situated. 
 
The Properties are situated on lands owned by Megaworld. Although the Company’s owns the 
Properties, the Company leases the underlying land from Megaworld pursuant to separate lease 
agreements for the land underlying each of the Properties. 
 
Lease agreements were entered into between the Company and Megaworld over the land on which the 
Properties stood for an aggregate period of 50 years, comprising an initial lease period of 25 years, with 
the Company having the option to renew for 25 years on such terms and conditions mutually acceptable 
to the Company and Megaworld. As consideration for the land leases, the Company will pay the 
Sponsor, commencing July 1, 2023 and until June 30, 2025, rent equivalent to 2.5% of gross rental 
income for office properties, 2.5% of gross retail revenues for retail and other properties, and 1.5% of 
hotel rental/revenues for hotel properties; and, commencing July 1, 2025 onward, rent equivalent to 
5.0% of gross rental income for office properties, 5.0% of gross retail revenues for retail and other 
properties, and 3.0% of hotel rental/revenues for hotel properties. Rent is exclusive of VAT, DST and 
other taxes which shall be borne by the Company. The rental amounts due to Megaworld from the 
Company may be renegotiated for the renewal period. 
 
Any substantial changes to the land lease contracts or Megaworld’s ownership or right over the leased 
land, as well as the cancellation or termination of the lease, may adversely affect the Company’s 
financial condition and results of operations and ability to make distributions. Because Megawold 
remains as the majority shareholder of the Company, the Company believes that the interests of both 
parties are generally aligned and this alignment helps mitigate the risk. 
 
The Company’s business and operations are dependent upon the expertise and experience of the Fund 
Manager’s and Property Manager’s managers and employees. 
 
As part of its transition to a REIT, the executive officers of the Company are seconded from other 
companies in the Megaworld Group. As such, the Company will be dependent on the expertise and 
experience of the Fund Manager’s and the Property Manager’s directors, senior management, and 
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other key employees for the success of the business. Most of these individuals possess deep industry 
knowledge and an acknowledged reputation in the market, owing to their track records and experience.  
 
If one or more of these directors or members of senior management are unable or unwilling to continue 
in their present positions, the Fund Manager or the Property Manager may not be able to replace them 
within a reasonable period of time with individuals who possess comparable expertise and experience, 
or at all, which may seriously disrupt, and materially and adversely affect, the Company’s business, 
results of operations, and future prospects. The Company intends to manage the foregoing risks by 
adopting a business continuity plan and succession plan by identifying members of the management 
who will be able to assume and take on the role and additional responsibilities arising from such 
departure. 
 
 
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 
 
The principal properties of the Company as of 31 December 2021 consist of rental office and retail 
properties and hotels, including the following:  
 

Property Location Description GLA (in sq.m.) 

One World Square McKinley Hill, Fort Bonifacio, 
Taguig City 
 

11-storey Office 
Tower 

30,481.7 

Two World Square McKinley Hill, Fort Bonifacio, 
Taguig City 
 

16-storey Office 
Tower 

21,286.4 

Three World Square McKinley Hill, Fort Bonifacio, 
Taguig City 
 

16-storey Office 
Tower 

21,216.6 

8/10 Upper McKinley 
Building 

McKinley Hill, Fort Bonifacio, 
Taguig City 
 

10-storey Office 
Tower 

19,937.5 

18/20 Upper McKinley 
Building 

McKinley Hill, Fort Bonifacio, 
Taguig City 
 

10-storey Office 
Tower 

19,413.8 

World Finance Plaza McKinley Hill, Fort Bonifacio, 
Taguig City 
 

15-storey Office 
Tower 

25,066.5 

1880 Eastwood Avenue 
 

Eastwood, Quezon City 
 
 

10-storey Office 
Tower 

33,743.8 

1800 Eastwood Avenue 
 

Eastwood, Quezon City 
 
 

10-storey Office 
Tower 

34,738.2 

E-Commerce Plaza 
 

Eastwood, Quezon City 
 
 

10-storey Office 
Tower 

20,940.2 

Richmonde Tower and 
Richmonde Hotel Iloilo 
 

Iloilo Business Park, Iloilo City 
 
 

3-storey Office 
Tower and 12-
storey Tower 

 

6,354.8 and 
6,769.1 

One Techno Place 
 

Iloilo Business Park, Iloilo City 
 
 

4-storey Office 
Tower 

9,548.7 

Two Techno Place  
 

Iloilo Business Park, Iloilo City 
 
 

5-storey Office 
Tower 

10,808.9 

Three Techno Place  
 

Iloilo Business Park, Iloilo City 
 
 

4-storey Office 
Tower 

9,567.9 
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One Global Center 
 

Iloilo Business Park, Iloilo City 
 
 

4-storey Office 
Tower 

10,301.0 

 
The Company continuously seeks opportunities to acquire properties in prime locations through 
purchase or otherwise to increase its leasable assets. 
 
There are no mortgages, liens or encumbrances over any of the Properties owned by the Company. 
 
 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
No Material Pending Legal Proceedings 
 
Neither the Company or any of its Properties are involved in or the subject of any legal proceedings 
which would have a material adverse effect on the business or financial position of the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries, or any of its or their properties. 
 
 
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 
 
No matter was submitted during the fourth quarter of 2021 to a vote of security holders. 
 
 

PART II – OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR ISSUER'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 
Market Information  
 
The common shares of the Company are traded on the PSE under the symbol of MREIT. The 
Company’s common stock was first listed on the PSE on 1 October 2021. 
 
The following table sets out, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales price for the Company’s 
common shares as reported on the PSE: 
 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

2021             High - - - 19.70 

                     Low - - - 16.12 

 
Market price of the Issuer’s Shares as at 31 December 2021 was ₱19.70 per share. 
 
Holders 
 
As of 31 December 2021, the Company had 11 shareholders of record. The following table sets forth 
the shareholders of the Company as of 31 December 2021.1   
 

Rank Name of Stockholder Number of Common Shares Percentage of 
Ownership 

1.  Megaworld Corporation 
 

1,572,282,881 62.09% 

2.  PCD Nominee Corp. (Filipino) 
 

926,937,100 36.61% 

3.  PCD Nominee Corp. (Non-
Filipino) 

32,878,400 1.30% 

 
1 The shares of Mr. Kevin Andrew L. Tan, Mr. Francisco C. Canuto, and Ms. Lourdes T. Gutierrez-Alfonso are lodged with PCD 
Nominee Corporation. 
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4.  Myra P. Villanueva 
 

10,000 0.00% 

5.  Milagros P. Villanueva 
 

4,000 0.00% 

6.  Myrna P. Villanueva 
 

4,000 0.00% 

7.  Marietta V. Cabreza 
 

1,000 0.00% 

8.  Antonio E. Llantada Jr. 
 

1,000 0.00% 

9.  Sergio R. Ortiz-Luis Jr. 
 

1,000 0.00% 

10.  Katherine L. Tan 
 

1,000 0.00% 

11.  Jesus B. Varela 
 

1,000 0.00% 

 
Dividends and Dividend Policy 
 
The Company is required to declare dividends pursuant to the REIT Law. The REIT Law requires a 
REIT to distribute annually a total of at least 90% of its distributable net income as adjusted for 
unrealized gains and losses/expenses and impairment losses, and other items in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting standards (excluding proceeds from the sale of the Company’s assets 
that are reinvested in the Company within one year from the date of the sale) as dividends to its 
shareholders. Such dividends shall be payable only from the unrestricted retained earnings, and the 
income distributable as dividends shall be based on the audited financial statements for the most 
recently completed fiscal year prior to the prescribed distribution. The Company may declare either 
cash, property, or stock dividends. However, the declaration of stock dividends must be approved by 
at least a majority of the entire membership of the Company’s Board, including the unanimous vote of 
all its independent Directors, and stockholders representing not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the 
outstanding capital stock at a regular meeting or special meeting called for that purpose. Any such 
stock dividend declaration is also subject to the approval of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC) within five working days from receipt of the request for approval. If the SEC does not act on said 
request within such a period, the declaration shall be deemed approved. 
 
The Company has adopted a dividend policy in accordance with the provisions of the REIT Law, 
pursuant to which the Company’s shareholders may be entitled to receive at least 90.0% of the 
Company’s annual Distributable Income. The Company intends to declare and pay out dividends on a 
quarterly basis each year. 

The Company’s distributable income as of 31 December 2021 is Php1,098,164,684, computed by 
deducting the fair value adjustment of investment properties and unrealized gains from the Company’s 
net income. 
 
Out of the distributable net income for 2021, the Company declared total cash dividends on the 
Company’s common shares amounting to Php1,215,165,050.74 broken down as follows; 
 

Payment Date Amount Amount per Share 
From Income Generated for the 6-months ending June, 2021 
November 15, 2021 Php139,013,463.82 Php0.0549 

From Income Generated for the 6-months ending December, 2021 
November 15, 2021 Php468,695,667.62 Php0.1851 

March 31, 2022 Php607,455,919.30 Php0.2399 

Total Php1,215,165,050.74 Php0.4799 
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The Company has distributed a total of  Php1,076,151,586.92 out of its income generated for the six 
months ending December 31, 2021 or 98% of its distributable income for the period. 
 
 
ITEM 6. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION AND 
FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 
Results of Operations 
 
(Based on Financial Statements adopted in accordance with the Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards) 
 
Review of Six Months ending December 31, 2021 versus Six Months Ending June 30, 2021 
 
In the six months ending December 31, 2021, the Company saw an increase in its net income by 519% 
to Php2,014 million from Php325.5 million in the previous period. The increase was mainly driven by 
increase in rental revenues from the acquisition of the initial ten buildings, in exchange for shares of 
stock in the Company (the Initial Properties), in June 2021.  
 
Revenues, primarily from rental income, grew by 543% to Php1,461 million from Php227 million for the 
same reason above. Total costs and expenses likewise grew by 493% to Php233 million from Php39.2 
million. 
 
Meanwhile, other income and charges – net grew by 187% to Php687 million from Php239 million due 
mainly to the recognition of the fair value gain arising from the re-appraisal of the Initial Properties 
pursuant to the requirements under the REIT Law and the Revised REIT IRR. 
 
In December 2021, the Company also acquired four prime office assets from Megaworld for a 
consideration amounting to Php9,116 million, namely World Finance Plaza in McKinley Hill, Two 
Techno Place, Three Techno Place, and One Global Center in Iloilo Business Park.  
 
Financial Condition 
 
The Company maintains a prudent financial policy and has a healthy balance sheet to support its 
financial and operational requirements. As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s total assets stand at 
Php60.9 billion, a 17% increase from the previous period.  
 
The Company’s total current assets now stand Php1,493 million compared to Php2,319 million in June 
30, 2021. The change was driven by the utilization of the Company’s cash balance to partially fund its 
acquisition of the four office assets in December 2021 to improve the Company’s productive use of its 
resources.  
 
Interest bearing loans, net of capitalized transaction costs, now stand at Php7,196 million as of 
December 31, 2021, arising from the term loan secured from a local bank to partially finance the 
acquisition of the four office assets. 
 
The top five (5) key performance indicators of the Company are shown below: 
 

 December 31, 2021 June 30, 2021 
Current Ratio1 3.43 9.51 
Debt to Equity Ratio2 0.14 - 
Net Debt to Equity Ratio3 0.11 - 
Return on Assets4 3.57% 1.26% 
Return on Equity5 3.91% 1.28% 

 
*1 – Current Assets / Current Liabilities 
*2 – Total Debt / Equity (Total debt includes interest bearing loans and borrowings and bonds payable) 
*3 – Net Debt / Equity (Net debt is total debt less cash and cash equivalents) 
*4 – Net Profit / Average Total Assets  
*5 – Net Profit / Average Equity 
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• Due to the Company’s sound financial condition, there is no foreseeable trend or event which 
may have a material impact on its short-term or long-term liquidity. 

• Funding will be sourced from internally-generated funds and/or bank loans. 
• There is no material commitment for capital expenditures other than those performed in the 

ordinary course of trade or business. 
• There is no known trend, event or uncertainty that have had or that are reasonably expected to 

have a material impact on the net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations. 
• There is no significant element of income arising from continuing operations. 
• There have not been any seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition 

or results of the Company’s operations. 
• There were no known events and uncertainties that will trigger direct or contingent financial 

obligation that is material to the company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 
• There were no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including 

contingent obligations), and other relationship of the Company with unconsolidated entities or 
other persons created during the reporting period. 

 
Material Changes in the Year 2021 Financial Statements 
 
(Increase/decrease of 5% or more versus June 30, 2021) 
 
Statement of Financial Position 
 

Item Change Causes 
Cash and cash equivalent -42% Decrease due to the utilization of the Company’s 

cash balance to partially fund its acquisition of the 
four office assets in December 2021 

Other current assets 5,867% Increase in creditable withholding taxes and 
prepaid expenses 

Trade and other 
receivables 

569% Increase due to a combination of increase in 
accrued receivables arising from straight-line 
method recognition of rental income and increase 
in billed receivables which are generally collectible 
on a 30-day term  

Investment properties 20% Increase due to the acquisition of the four office 
assets in December 2021 and increase in value 
from the re-appraisal of assets 

Accounts and other 
payables 

170% Increase due to the commencement of Fund 
Manager and Property Manager services whose 
fees are payable annually and quarterly 
respectively 

Interest bearing loans N/A2 Increase due to the interest-bearing loan secured 
from a local bank to partially finance the 
acquisition of the four office assets 

Deposits and other 
liabilities 

47% Increase due to assumption of security deposit 
and advance rent arising from the assignment of 
leases from the acquisition in December 2021 

Deferred tax liabilities -100% Reversal of deferred tax liabilities 
 
Statement of Income 
 
The Company started operating its investment properties and earning therefrom beginning only in June 
2021. Thus, the Company’s statement of income as of 31 December 2021 is not comparable with the 
statement of income as of 30 June 2021. The Company shall provide a statement of Material Changes 
for the items in the statement of income in the succeeding financial reports. 
 
 
 

 
2 The loan taken out by the Company in December 2021 is the first interest-bearing loan of the Company. 
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External Audit Fees and Services  
 
The external auditors of the Company billed the amounts of Php627,000 for the 6-month period ending 
31 December 2021, Php444,500 for the 6-month period ending 30 June 2021, and Php77,000 for 
2020, in fees for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company’s annual financial 
statements and services that are normally provided by the external auditor in connection with statutory 
and regulatory filings or engagements for 2021 and 2020.  
 
Except as disclosed above, no other services were rendered or fees billed by the external auditors of 
the Company for the years 2021 and 2020. 
 
The Board of Directors, after consultation with the Audit Committee, recommends to the stockholders 
the engagement of the external auditors of the Company. The selection of external auditors is made on 
the basis of credibility, professional reputation, accreditation with the Philippine Securities and 
Exchange Commission, and affiliation with a reputable foreign partner. The professional fees of the 
external auditors of the Company are approved by the Company’s Audit Committee after approval by 
the stockholders of the engagement and prior to the commencement of each audit season. 
 
 
ITEM 7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Financial Statements meeting the requirements of SRC Rule 68, as amended, are attached hereto as 
Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by reference.   
 
 
ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  
  
There are no disagreements with the auditors on any matter of accounting principles or practices, 
financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which, if not resolved to their satisfaction, 
would have caused the auditors to make reference thereto in their reports on the financial statements 
of the Company.  

 
 

PART III – CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 9. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE ISSUER 
 
There are seven (7) members of the Company’s Board of Directors, three (3) of whom are independent 
directors. An independent director is a person who, apart from his fees and shareholdings, is 
independent of management and free from any business or other relationship which could, or could 
reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with his exercise of independent judgment in carrying 
out his responsibilities as director [SRC Rule 38].  All directors were elected during the annual meeting 
of stockholders held on 28 May 2021, and will hold office until their successors have been duly elected 
and qualified.  All the incumbent directors have been nominated for election to the Board of Directors 
of the Company for the ensuing calendar year. 
 
Information concerning the background of the directors/nominees for directors and executive officers 
of the Company indicating their principal occupation or employment and their business experience for 
the past five (5) years is provided below.  
 
The table sets forth each member of the Company’s Board as of 31 December 2021. 
 

Name Age Citizenship Position 
Francisco C. Canuto 64 Filipino Director and Chairman 
Kevin Andrew L. Tan 42 Filipino Director, President and CEO 
Katherine L. Tan 70 Filipino Director 
Lourdes T. Gutierrez-Alfonso 58 Filipino Director  
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Antonio E. Llantada, Jr. 66 Filipino Independent Director 
Jesus B. Varela 65 Filipino Independent Director 
Sergio R. Ortiz-Luis, Jr. 78 Filipino Independent Director 

 
The table below sets forth the Company’s executive officers in addition to its executive directors listed 
above as of 31 December 2021. 
 

Name Age Citizenship Position 
Giovanni C. Ng 47 Filipino Treasurer 
Englebert G. Teh 30 Chinese Chief Financial Officer 
Maria Carla T. Uykim 45 Filipino Corporate Secretary 
Vladimir B. Bumatay 49 Filipino Assistant Corporate Secretary 
Cheryll B. Sereno 42 Filipino Compliance Officer and DPO 
Dave Michael V. Valeriano 42 Filipino Investor Relations Officer 

 
 
Francisco C. Canuto 
Chairman of the Board 
 
Mr. Canuto is a Certified Public Accountant and is currently the Chairman of the Board of Directors. 
He holds a bachelor’s degree in Commerce major in Accounting and a Master’s Degree in Business 
Administration. He is concurrently Senior Vice President, Chief Finance Officer, Treasurer, 
Compliance Officer, Corporate Information Officer and Chief Audit Executive of Megaworld 
Corporation (publicly-listed), Director of Megaworld Global-Estate, Inc. and Eastwood Property 
Holdings, Inc., Director and Corporate Secretary of Megaworld Central Properties, Inc., and Director 
and Treasurer of Megaworld Cebu Properties, Inc., Twin Lakes Corporation, Oceantown Properties, 
Inc., Megaworld Resort Estates, Inc., Megaworld Land, Inc., Megaworld-Daewoo Corporation, 
Eastwood Cyber One Corporation, and Prestige Hotels & Resorts, Inc.  He serves as a Director and 
President of Arcovia Properties, Inc., Lucky Chinatown Cinemas, Inc., Festive Walk Cinemas, Inc., 
Southwoods Cinemas, Inc., McKinley Cinemas, Inc., Uptown Cinemas, Inc. and Gilmore Property 
Marketing Associates, Inc. He is also the President of Megaworld Foundation, Inc. Before joining the 
Megaworld Group, he worked as Audit Manager of SGV & Company and Controller of Federal Express 
Corporation. 
 
Kevin Andrew L. Tan 
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer 
 
Mr. Tan is a Director and the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  He obtained his 
bachelor’s degree in Business Administration major in Management from the University of Asia and 
the Pacific. He is concurrently Executive Vice President and Chief Strategy Officer of Megaworld 
Corporation. He previously held the position of Senior Vice President of Megaworld Corporation for 
Commercial Division which markets and operates the Megaworld Lifestyle Malls including Eastwood 
Mall and The Clubhouse at Corinthian Hills in Quezon City, Venice Piazza at McKinley Hill and Burgos 
Circle at Forbestown Center, both in Fort Bonifacio, California Garden Square in Mandaluyong City, 
Newport Mall at Resorts World Manila in Pasay City, Lucky Chinatown Mall in Binondo, Manila and 
Uptown Mall in Bonifacio Global City. He is also the Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chairman of 
Alliance Global Group, Inc (public-listed). He is also the concurrently a Director of Empire East Land 
Holdings, Inc., Emperador Inc. and Global-Estate Resorts, Inc. (all publicly-listed companies) and of 
Eastwood Cyber One Corporation, Uptown Cinemas, Inc., Megaworld Central Properties Inc., Twin 
Lakes Corporation, Megaworld Land, Inc., Townsquare Development, Inc., Emperador Distillers, Inc., 
Alliance Global Brands, Inc., Anglo Watsons Glass, Inc., Yorkshire Holdings, Inc., The Bar Beverage, 
Inc., Emperador Brandy, Inc., and New Town Land Partners, Inc. He is also a trustee and an Executive 
Director of Megaworld Foundation, Inc.  
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Katherine L. Tan  
Director 
 
Ms. Tan is a Director of the Company. She is concurrently a Director of Megaworld Corporation 
(publicly-listed) and a Director and Treasurer of Alliance Global Group, Inc. and Emperador Inc. (both 
publicly-listed). She has extensive experience in the food and beverage industry and is currently 
Director and Corporate Secretary of The Bar Beverage, Inc. and Director and President of Andresons 
Global, Inc., Raffles & Company, Inc., The Andresons Group, Inc. and Choice Gourmet Banquet, Inc. 
She is also a Director and Treasurer of Alliance Global Brands, Inc. and Emperador Distillers, Inc. 
 
Lourdes T. Gutierrez-Alfonso  
Director 
 
Ms. Gutierrez is a Director of the Company. Ms. Gutierrez has extensive experience in real estate and 
a strong background in finance and marketing. A certified public accountant by profession, she is 
concurrently the Chief Operating Officer of Megaworld Corporation, where she also previously held 
the position of Senior Executive Vice President for Finance and Administration. Ms. Gutierrez is also 
the Chairman of the property management company, First Oceanic Property Management, Inc.  She 
serves as Director in numerous affiliate companies including Global-Estate Resorts, Inc. (publicly-
listed), Suntrust Properties, Inc., Twin Lakes Corporation, Southwoods Mall, Inc., Mactan Oceanview 
Properties and Holdings, Inc., Megaworld Resort Estates, Inc., Megaworld Cebu Properties, Inc., 
Oceantown Properties, Inc., Megaworld Bacolod Properties, Inc., Eastwood Cyber One Corporation, 
Davao Park District Holdings, Inc., and Prestige Hotels & Resorts, Inc.  She is also currently the 
Chairman of Belmont Newport Luxury Hotels, Inc., Megaworld Global-Estate, Inc., Savoy Hotel Manila, 
Inc. She is also a trustee and a Corporate Secretary of Megaworld Foundation, Inc.  
 
Jesus B. Varela  
Independent Director 
 
Mr. Varela is an Independent Director of the Company and has served as such since April 2021. He 
concurrently serves as independent director in the boards of Megaworld Corporation (publicly-listed), 
Global-Estate Resorts, Inc. (publicly-listed), and Travellers International Hotel Group, Inc. He is also 
the Chairman of the Philippine Chamber of Commerce and Industry, GS1 Philippines (Barcode of the 
Philippine), and New Lights Technologies, Inc. He is the President and CEO of the Advancement of 
Workers’ Awareness Regarding Employment (AWARE) Foundation, Inc., and President of Foundation 
for Crime Prevention, Philippine Greek Business Council and Philippine Peru Business Council. He is 
also the Director General of the International Chamber of Commerce Philippines (ICC-Philippine), 
Receiver of J-Phil Marine Shipping Inc., and Member of the Committee for Accreditation of Cargo 
Surveying Companies. Mr. Varela has more than twenty years of experience in the fields of marketing, 
human resources, international labor affairs, agriculture, and commerce, among others. He has done 
executive work with the Department of Agriculture, National Food Authority Council, Philippine 
Genetics, Inc., National Irrigation Administration, Philippine Planters Products, National Agri- Business 
Corporation, Agriculture Anti-Smuggling Task Force, and Nautical Highway Board. He served as Labor 
Attaché to Kobe, Japan, to the Commonwealth of Northern Marianas Island, and to Athens. Mr. Varela 
obtained his bachelor’s degree in Economics from Ateneo De Manila University. He attended training 
courses in Labor Administration and Policy Formulation under the International Labor 
Organization/ARPLA program, the Corporate Planning Course at the Center for Research 
Communication, Foreign Exchange Training by Metro Bank and Forex Club of the Philippines, 
Systems Analysis by the Presidential Management Staff, Asian Productivity Seminar and other in-
house seminars conducted by the Department of Labor and the Development Academy of the 
Philippines. 
 
Antonio E. Llantada, Jr. 
Independent Director 
 
Mr. Llandata is an Independent Director of the Company and has served as such since May 2021. Mr. 
Llantada is a certified public accountant by profession. He is concurrently a professor of Accounting 
and Finance in Enderun Colleges and Thames International Business School, and a guest lecturer in 
the Asian Institute of Management School of Executive Education and Lifelong Learning. He previously 
served as the Internal Audit Consultant and Chief Audit Executive of Empire East Land Holdings, Inc. 
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(publicly-listed). He is a member of the Philippine Institute of Certified Public Accountants and Institute 
of Internal Auditors. Mr. Llantada obtained his Bachelor or Science degree in Accounting and Bachelor 
of Arts degree in Behavioral Science in De La Salle University of Manila, and his Master’s Degree in 
Business Administration in the Ateneo Graduate School of Business.  
 
Sergio R. Ortiz-Luis, Jr. 
Independent Director 
 
Mr. Ortiz-Luis is an Independent Director of the Company and has served as such since April 2021. 
He is concurrently an Independent Director of Alliance Global, Inc. (publicly-listed), and Calapan 
Ventures, Inc. He is the President of the Philippine Exporters Confederation, Inc. (PHILEXPORT) and 
Honorary Chairman and Treasurer of the Philippine Chamber of Commerce & Industry. He is also 
Honorary Chairman of Integrated Concepts & Solutions, Inc. and Vice Chairman of Export 
Development Council. He is a Director of Waterfront Philippines, Inc., Philippine Estate Corporation, 
B.A. Securities, Manila Exposition Complex, Inc., and Jolliville Holdings. Mr. Ortiz-Luis, Jr. obtained 
his bachelor’s degree in Liberal Arts and Business Administration, and a candidate of Master of 
Business Administration from De La Salle College. He has a PhD in Humanities from Central Luzon 
State University, PhD in Business Technology from Eulogio “Amang” Rodriguez Institute of Science 
and Technology, and PhD in Business Administration from Angeles University Foundation. 
 
Giovanni C. Ng 
Treasurer 
 
Mr. Ng, is the Treasurer of the Company.  He concurrently serves as Senior Vice President and 
Finance Director of Megaworld Corporation, the Company’s Parent and Sponsor (publicly-listed). He 
also serves as Director of Eastwood Property Holdings, Inc., Oceantown Properties, Inc., Empire East 
Communities, Inc., Gilmore Property Marketing Associates, Inc., First Centro, Inc., Valle Verde 
Properties, Inc., Lucky Chinatown Cinemas, Inc., McKinley Cinemas, Inc., Uptown Cinemas, Inc., 
Mactan Oceanview Properties and Holdings, Inc. and New Town Land Partners, Inc. He also serves 
as Treasurer of publicly-listed Empire East Land Holdings, Inc. and Adams Properties, Inc. and 
Townsquare Development, Inc.  He is also a Director and Corporate Secretary of Megaworld Land, 
Inc.  Previously, he worked as Analyst Associate in Keppel IVI Investments. Mr. Ng obtained his 
bachelor’s degree in Quantitative Economics from the University of Asia and the Pacific, graduating 
summa cum laude in 1995. 
 
Englebert G. Teh 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
Mr. The is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Mr. Teh also served as the Corporate Planning 
Officer of MREIT Fund Managers, Inc. and the Assistant Vice President for Business Research and 
Development under the Office of Corporate Strategy of Megaworld Corporation, the Parent and 
Sponsor of the Company. His experience includes investment banking in Primeiro Partners, Inc. and 
business development for San Miguel Holdings Inc. Mr. Teh graduated in Ateneo De Manila University 
with a degree of BS Management Engineering. 
 
Maria Carla T. Uykim 
Corporate Secretary 
 
Atty. Uykim is the Corporate Secretary of the Company. She is concurrently the Head of the Corporate 
Advisory and Compliance of Megaworld Corporation, the Company’s Parent and Sponsor, and a 
member of its Management Executive Committee. She is concurrently the Corporate Secretary of San 
Vicente Coast, Inc., Northwin Properties, Inc. and Maple Grove Land, Inc. and a Director and 
Corporate Secretary of Luxury Global Malls, Inc. and Mactan Oceanview Properties and Holdings, Inc. 
Atty. Uykim was previously an Associate at Andres Marcelo Padernal Guerrero and Paras law offices 
from August 2005 to April 2007, where she specialized in labor and corporate law, and at ACCRA Law 
from February 2003 to January 2004, where she practiced immigration law. She also served as Chief 
of Staff of Congresswoman Remedios L. Petilla from July 2004 until June 2005. Atty. Uykim obtained 
her Juris Doctor Degree from the Ateneo De Manila School of Law and is a graduate of the double 
degree program of De La Salle University, with a Bachelor of Arts in Psychology and a Bachelor of 
Science in Marketing Management. 
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Vladimir B. Bumatay 
Assistant Corporate Secretary 
 
Atty. Bumatay is the Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Company. He is concurrently the Head of 
Litigation and Labor in Megaworld Corporation (publicly-listed), the Company’s Parent and Sponsor. 
He was previously the Director for Labor, General Counsel Group in publicly-listed companies JG 
Summit Holdings, Inc. and Universal Robina Corporation. He also previously served as Assistant Vice 
President for Legal in publicly-listed company Lepanto Consolidated Mining Company, and Legal 
Manager in Manila Mining Corporation. Atty. Bumatay obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in 
Philosophy and Letters, and his Bachelor of Laws degree, from San Beda University. Atty. Bumatay is 
also an arbitrator in the Philippine Dispute Resolution Center, Inc. and a member of the Philippine Bar 
Association and the Alliance for Alternative Action in San Beda Law. 
 
Cheryll B. Sereno 
Compliance Officer and Data Privacy Officer 
 
Ms. Sereno is the Compliance Officer and Data Privacy Officer of the Company. She is concurrently 
the Chief Risk Officer of Megaworld Corporation (publicly-listed), the Company’s Parent and Sponsor, 
and is the Head of the Opportunity and Risk Management Department. Ms. Sereno previously worked 
in the field of external audit, finance and has extensive experience handling Enterprise Risk 
Management and Business Continuity Management for the real estate industry. She graduated from 
Ateneo de Naga University with the degree of Bachelor of Science in Accountancy. Ms. Sereno is a 
Certified Public Accountant and a Certified Business Continuity Professional. 
 
Dave Michael V. Valeriano 
Investor Relations Officer 
 
Mr. Valeriano is the Investor Relations Officer of the Company.  He is concurrently the Investor 
Relations Head of Megaworld Corporation (publicly-listed), the Company's Parent and Sponsor. Prior 
to joining the Megaworld group, Mr. Valeriano had notable stints as Treasury and Investor Relations 
Head for Manila Water Company, Investor Relations Head for Aboitiz Equity Ventures and Aboitiz 
Power Corporation, and General Manager for WeatherPhilippines Foundation and Lima Water 
Corporation.  Mr. Valeriano graduated with the degree of Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering from 
UP Diliman and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from De La Salle University. He passed 
the Civil Engineering licensure examination in 2001.  
 
Significant Employees 
 
The business of the Company is not highly dependent on the services of personnel outside of Senior 
Management and the employees of the Fund Manager and the Property Manager. Nevertheless, the 
entire workforce is considered significant, and is expected to work together to achieve the Company’s 
goals and objectives. 
 
Family Relationships 
 
President and Chief Executive Officer Kevin Andrew L. Tan is the son of Andrew L. Tan, the Chairman 
and President of Megaworld Corporation (the Company’s Parent and Sponsor), and of Katherine L. 
Tan, Director of the Company and of Megaworld Corporation. Kevin Andrew L. Tan is also the Executive 
Vice President and Chief Strategy Officer of Megaworld Corporation. 
 
Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 
 
The Company is not aware of the occurrence, as of the date hereof and during the past five (5) years 
preceding this date, of any of the following events which it believes to be material to the evaluation of 
the ability or integrity of any of its directors, nominees for election as director, or executive officers: 
 
1.   Any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of a director, nominee for election as 
director, or executive officer who was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of the 
bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time; 
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2.   Any director, nominee for election as director, or executive officer being convicted by final judgment 
in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, or being subject in his personal capacity to a pending 
criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses; 
 
3.  Any director, nominee for election as director, or executive officer being subject to any order, 
judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent 
jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise 
limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities or banking activities; and 
 
4.   Any director, nominee for election as director, or executive officer being found by a domestic or 
foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the Commission or comparable foreign body, 
or a domestic or foreign exchange or other organized trading market or self-regulatory organization, to 
have violated a securities or commodities law or regulation, and the judgment has not been reversed, 
suspended, or vacated. 
 
 
ITEM 10. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  
 
Summary Compensation Table 
 
Aggregate compensation paid to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and the four most highly 
compensated executive officers as a group for the last two fiscal years and the estimate for the ensuing 
year are as follows: 
 

 
3 Officers' compensation for 6 months (from July to December 2021). 
4 Officers' compensation for 6 months (from July to December 2021). 

Name and Principal 
Position Year Salary 

Other 
Variable 

Pay 
Total Annual 

Compensation 

Kevin Andrew L. Tan 
President and CEO 

 

 

Giovanni C. Ng 
Treasurer 

 
Maria Carla T. Uykim 
Corporate Secretary 

 
Englebert G. The 

Chief Financial Officer 
 

Vladimir B. Bumatay 
Asst. Corporate Secretary 

 

President and 4 Most 
Highly Compensated 

Officers 

Actual 2020 n/a n/a n/a 

Actual 20213 Php5.20m Php1.075m P6.275m 

Projected 2022 Php10.90m Php2.25m P13.15m 
 

All Other Officers and 
Directors as a Group 

Actual 2020 n/a n/a n/a 

Actual 20214 Php1.75m Php0.37m Php2.12m 

Projected 2022 Php3.69m Php0.77m Php4.46m 
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Compensation of Directors 
 
The members of the Board will receive a standard per diem for attendance in Board meetings.  For 
2022, the Company has allocated Php700,000 for directors’ per diem. There are no arrangements 
pursuant to which any director of the Company was compensated, or is to be compensated, directly 
or indirectly, during the year ended December 31, 2021 for any service provided as a director. 
 

Name of Directors Year Salary Total Annual Director’s     
Per Diem 

Francisco C. Canuto   
 
 
 
 
  

Per diem 
 

Kevin Andrew L. Tan  Per diem 
 

Katherine L. Tan  Per diem 
 

Lourdes T. Gutierrez-Alfonso  Per diem 
 

Antonio E. Llantada, Jr.  Per diem 
 

Jesus B. Varela  Per diem 
 

Sergio R. Ortiz-Luis, Jr.  Per diem 
 

Kingson U. Sian5 
 

Per diem  

Maria Carla T. Uykim6 
 

Per diem  

Total Annual Director’s Per Diem 2020 
  

 
n/a 

2021 
  

 
n/a 

2022 
  

 
700,000 

 
Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control Arrangement 
 
Executive officers are appointed by the Board to their respective offices. The Company does not enter 
into employment contracts with its executive officers. Other than benefits available under the 
Company’s retirement plan, there is no compensatory plan or arrangement with respect to an 
executive officer which results or will result from the resignation, retirement or any other termination of 
such executive officer’s employment with the Company and its subsidiaries, or from a change-in-
control of the Company, or a change in an executive officer’s responsibilities following a change-in-
control of the Company. 
 
Options Outstanding 
 
There are no outstanding warrants or options in connection with the shares of the Company held by 
any of the directors or executive officers. 
 
 
  

 
5 Resigned in and replaced in April 2021. 
6 Resigned in and replaced in April 2021. 
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ITEM 11. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 
 
Security Ownership of Record and Beneficial Owners of more than 
5% of the Company’s Shares as of 31 December 2021 
 

Title of Class Name, address of 
Record Owner and 
Relationship with 

Issuer 
 

Name of 
Beneficial Owner 
and Relationship 

with Record 
Owner 

Citizenship No. of Shares 
Held 

Percent 
of Class 

 

Common 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Megaworld 
Corporation 
 
30th Floor, Alliance 
Global Tower, 36th 
Street cor.  
11th Avenue, 
Uptown Bonifacio, 
Taguig City 1634 
 
Parent/Sponsor 
 

Megaworld 
Corporation7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Filipino 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1,572,282,881 62.09% 
 

Common PCD Nominee 
Corp. (Filipino) 
 
G/F MKSE Bldg., 
6767 Ayala Ave., 
Makati 

Participants of the 
PCD composed of 
custodian banks 
and brokers.8 

Filipino 926,937,100 36.61% 

Common PCD Nominee 
Corp. (Filipino) 
 
G/F MKSE Bldg., 
6767 Ayala Ave., 
Makati 

BANCO DE ORO 
- Trust Banking 
Group 

Filipino 284,871,700 11.25% 

Common PCD Nominee 
Corp. (Filipino) 
 
G/F MKSE Bldg., 
6767 Ayala Ave., 
Makati 

Citibank N.A. Filipino 183,828,870 7.26% 

 
Other than the persons identified above, there are no other beneficial owners of more than 5% of the 
Company’s voting stock known to the Company. 
 
Security Ownership of Management as of 31 December 2021 
 

Title of Class 
Name of Beneficial Owner 

Amount and 
Nature of 
Beneficial 

Ownership* 

Citizenshi
p 

Percent of 
Class 

Directors/Nominees  
Common Francisco C. Canuto9 1,000 (Direct)  Filipino 0.0000% 
Common Kevin Andrew L. Tan10 9,995,000 (Direct)  Filipino 0.3900% 

 
7 The Board of Directors of Megaworld Corporation (“Megaworld”) has voting and investment power over shares of stock held by 
Megaworld in the Company. 
8 Among the PCD participants, BANCO DE ORO - Trust Banking Group owns 284,871,700 representing 11.25% of the 
Company's outstanding capital stock and Citibank N.A. owns 183,828,870 shares representing 7.26%. 
9 Shares are lodged with PCD Nominee Corporation. 
10 Shares are lodged with PCD Nominee Corporation. 
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Common Katherine L. Tan 1,000 (Direct)   Filipino 0.0000% 
Common Lourdes T. Gutierrez-Alfonso11 1,000 (Direct)   Filipino  0.0000% 
Common Antonio E. Llantada, Jr. 1,000 (Direct) Filipino 0.0000% 
Common Jesus B. Varela 1,000 (Direct) Filipino 0.0000% 
Common Sergio R. Ortiz-Luis, Jr. 1,000 (Direct) Filipino 0.0000% 
CEO and Most Highly Compensated Officers 
Common Kevin Andrew L. Tan Same as above 
Common Giovanni C. Ng 0 Filipino n/a 
Common Maria Carla T. Uykim 0 Filipino n/a 
Common Englebert G. Teh 0 Chinese n/a 
Common Vladimir B. Bumatay 0 Filipino n/a 
Other Executive Officers 
Common Giovanni C. Ng                       0 Filipino              n/a 
Common Englebert G. Teh 0 Filipino n/a 
Common Maria Carla T. Uykim 0 Filipino n/a 
Common Vladimir B. Bumatay 0 Filipino n/a 
Common Cheryll B. Sereno 0 Filipino n/a 
Common Dave Michael V. Valeriano 0 Filipino n/a 

 
Voting Trust Holders of 5% or More 
The Company is not aware of the existence of persons holding more than five percent (5%) of the 
Company’s common shares under a voting trust or similar agreement. 

Changes in Control 
 
On 1 February 2021, Megaworld obtained control over the Company by subscribing to 12,400,000 
shares of the Company’s authorized capital stock with par value of P100 per share or a total of 
P1,240,000,000. Accordingly, Megaworld acquired 99.20% direct ownership of the Company’s total 
issued and outstanding capital stock. 
 
On April 7, 2021, the Company approved the amendment of its Articles of Incorporation to change the 
par value of common shares from P100 to P1, resulting to an increase in the number of common shares 
from 50,000,000 to 5,000,000,000. 
 
On April 7, 2021, the Company also approved the Property-for-Share Swap transaction with Megaworld 
in which Megaworld transferred, assigned and conveyed absolutely in favor of the Company all of its 
rights, title and interests in certain real properties, in exchange for 1,282,120,381 common shares with 
a par value of P1 per share and additional paid-in capital (APIC) of P47,920,287,239. The SEC certified 
the approval of the valuation of the Property-for-Share Swap on June 1, 2021; hence, the issuance of 
additional common shares to Megaworld was consummated. Accordingly, Megaworld’s direct 
ownership interest increased to 99.61% of the total issued and outstanding capital stock of the 
Company. 
 
On 1 October 2021, upon the Company’s listing in the PSE, Megaworld sold 949,837,500 of its shares 
in the Company to the public. As a result, Megaworld became the 62.09% owner of the Company, while 
37.51% of the Company’s shares are held by the public. The remaining shares are held by the 
Company’s directors. 
 
Foreign Ownership 
 
As of 31 December 2021, 32,878,400 common shares, or 1.29% of the Company’s outstanding capital 
stock, are owned by foreigners. The Company’s foreign ownership limit is 40%. 
 
 
  

 
11 Shares are lodged with PCD Nominee Corporation. 
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ITEM 12. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Company, in the ordinary course of business, engages in transactions with its Parent and affiliates. 
On 25 June 2021, the Company adopted a Related Party Transaction Policy to ensure that related party 
transactions are entered into terms comparable to those available to unrelated third parties in similar 
transactions. The Company has also established a Related Party Transaction Committee composed of 
three members of the board, two of whom are independent, including the Chairman. 
 
Transactions with related parties include asset acquisitions from, and land leases with, Megaworld 
Corporation (the Company’s Parent and Sponsor), and fund and property management agreements 
with affiliates. The table below sets out the principal transactions of the Company with related parties 
as of December 31, 2021: 
 
 

Related Parties Nature of the Transaction Value of the Transaction 
   

Megaworld Corporation (and 
Empire East Land Holdings, 
Inc. in respect of certain 
properties) 

Acquisition of ten buildings 
owned by Megaworld in 
exchange for shares of stock in 
the Company 

The ten properties valued by 
an independent property valuer 
at Php49,202,407,620.00 were 
acquired by the Company in 
exchange for 1,282,120,381 
common shares, with a 
resulting additional paid-in 
capital of 
Php47,920,287,239.00 

   
Megaworld Corporation Acquisition of four buildings 

owned by Megaworld for cash 
The four properties were 
acquired by the Company for 
cash in the amount of 
Php9,116,000,000.00 

   
Megaworld Corporation (and 
Empire East Land Holdings, 
Inc. in respect of certain 
properties) 

Lease of various lands where 
the buildings acquired from 
Megaworld are located 

From 1 July 2023, rent 
equivalent to, as applicable: 
 
a. 2.5% of the Company’s 
gross rental income for office 
and retail properties; and 
b. 1.5% of the Company’s 
hotel rental/revenues for hotel 
properties. 
 
From 01 July 2025 onwards, 
rent equivalent to, as 
applicable: 
 
a. 5% of the Company’s gross 
rental income for office and 
retail properties; and 
b. 3% of the Company’s hotel 
rental/revenues for hotel 
properties. 

   
MREIT Fund Managers, Inc. Fund management agreement 

for the management of the 
Company’s funds and assets 

Fund management fee 
equivalent to 3.5% of the 
Company’s gross revenues, 
payable annually, not to 
exceed 1% of the net asset 
value of the properties under 
management 
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MREIT Property Managers, 
Inc. 

Property management 
agreement for the operation 
and management of the 
Company’s properties and 
facilities 

Property management fee 
equivalent to 2% of the 
Company’s gross revenues, 
payable quarterly, not to 
exceed 1% of the net asset 
value of the properties under 
management 

   
 
Other than the foregoing and those disclosed in the Company’s Financial Statements, the Company 
has not entered into any other related party transactions. (For more information, see Exhibit 1 – Audited 
Financial Statements) 
 

 
PART IV – CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 
Evaluation System 
 
The Company has designated a Compliance Officer who is tasked with monitoring compliance with the 
provisions and requirements of its Manual on Corporate Governance. The Compliance Officer has 
established an evaluation system, patterned after the CG Scorecard of the Institute of Corporate 
Directors to measure or determine the level of compliance by the Company with its Manual. The first 
Integrated Annual Corporate Governance (I-ACGR) of the Company will be submitted to the SEC on or 
before 30 June 2022.12 
 
Deviations from Manual and Sanctions Imposed 
 
In 2021, the Company substantially complied with its Manual on Corporate Governance and did not 
materially deviate from its provisions. No sanctions were imposed on any director, officer or employee 
on account of non-compliance with the Company’s Manual on Corporate Governance. 
 
Plan to Improve Corporate Governance 
 
The Company adopted a Manual of Corporate Governance that is compliant with SEC Memorandum 
Circular No. 19, Series of 2016. The Company will continue to adopt best practices in Corporate 
Governance as may be prescribed by the Commission. 
 
 

PART V – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 
 
Exhibits 
 

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit 

1 Audited Financial Statements as of December 31, 2021 
2 Sustainability Report for 2021 

 
Reports on SEC Form 17-C 
 
The Company filed the following reports on SEC Form 17-C during the last six-month period covered 
by this report. 
 

Date Disclosures 
1 October 2021 Press Release: MREIT to Bulk Up Assets with Uptown BGC Offices 

 
4 October 2021 Stabilization Activities 

 
12 Pursuant to the SEC Memorandum Circular No. 13, series of 2021, a public company’s or registered issuer’s I-ACGR shall be 
submitted on or before June 30 of the following year. 



 Page 25 

 
8 October 2021 Stabilization Activities 

 
15 October 2021 Stabilization Activities 

 
18 October 2021 Press Release: Just Two Weeks after Listing, MREIT sets to Declare 

Dividends this Month as Revenues Jump 6% in 1st Full Quarter Of Operations 
 

22 October 2021 Stabilization Activities 
 

25 October 2021 Cash Dividend Declaration 
 

29 October 2021 Notice of Analysts’ Briefing 
 

29 October 2021 Stabilization Period Closing Date 
 

2 November 2021 Change in Fiscal Year 
 

12 November 2021 Final Stabilization Report 
 

16 November 2021 Press Release: MREIT to Acquire Four Prime Assets 
 

15 December 2021 Resolutions approved in the Regular Board Meeting of MREIT, Inc. on 15 
December 2021 
 

15 December 2021 Appointment of Assistant Corporate Secretary 
 

15 December 2021 Press Release: MREIT’S Asset Value to Jump by 19% To P58.5-B after 
Megaworld Asset Infusion 
 

15 December 2021 Acquisition of four (4) prime, Grade A buildings located in PEZA-registered 
Zones, namely: Two Techno Place, Three Techno Place (Building D), One 
Global Center (Building A) and World Finance Plaza 
 

15 December 2021 Reinvestment Plan (4 Buildings acquired in December 2021) 
 

29 December 2021 Three-Year Investment Strategy of MREIT, Inc. 
 

  







C S 2 0 2 0 5 2 2 9 4

M R E I T , I N C .

1 8 / F ,  A L L I A N C E G L O B A L T O W E R ,

3 6 T H S T . , C O R . 1 1 T H A V E. ,

U P T O W N B O N I F A C I O , T A G U I G C I T Y

A F S C R M D

 

Note 2: All boxes must be properly and completely filled-up. Failure to do so shall cause delay in updating the corporation's records with the Commission and/or non-receipt of 
Notice of Deficiencies. Further, non-receipt of Notice of Deficiencies shall not excuse the corporation from liability for its deficiencies.

COVER SHEET

   SEC  Registration Number

Company Name

for
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORM TYPE DEPARTMENT REQUIRING THE REPORT SECONDARY LICENSE TYPE. IF APPLICABLE

COMPANY INFORMATION

Principal Office (No./Street/Barangay/City/Town/Province)

Note 1: In case of death, resignation or cessation of office of the officer designated as contact person, such incident shall be reported to the Commission within thirty (30) 
calendar days from the occurrence thereof with information and complete contact details of the new contact person designated.

COMPLIANCE@MREIT.COM.PH

COMPANY EMAIL ADDRESS

(632) 8894-6300/6400

COMPANY'S TELEPHONE NUMBER

(0917) 8788206

MOBILE NUMBER

11

NO. OF STOCKHOLDERS ANNUAL MEETING (MONTH/DAY)

TBA

FISCAL YEAR (MONTH/DAY)

DECEMBER 31

CONTACT PERSON'S ADDRESS

20TH FLOOR, ALLIANCE GLOBAL TOWER, 36TH STREET CORNER 11TH AVENUE, UPTOWN BONIFACIO, TAGUIG CITY 1634, PHILIPPINES

CONTACT PERSON INFORMATION

NAME OF CONTACT PERSON

CHERYLL B. SERENO COMPLIANCE@MREIT.COM.PH

EMAIL ADDRESS

(632) 8894-6300

TELEPHONE NO.

(0917) 8788206

MOBILE NUMBER

The designated contact person MUST be an Officer of the Corporation



The following document has been received:

Receiving: Jyrod Genova

Receipt Date and Time: March 04, 2022 06:36:58 PM

Company Information
____________________________________________________________________________

SEC Registration No.: CS202052294

Company Name: MEGAWORLD HOLDINGS, INC.

Industry Classification: K64200

Company Type: Stock Corporation

Document Information
____________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________

Document ID: OST1030420228244887

Document Type: Financial Statement

Document Code: FS

Period Covered: December 31, 2021

Submission Type: Annual

Remarks: no supplemental written statement



24th February 2022.





 
                     
 

                           
 

           Punongbayan & Araullo (P&A) is the Philippine member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 

 

Financial Statements and  
Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

MREIT, Inc. 
 

For the Six Months Ended December 31, 2021  
and June 30, 2021 and the Three Months Ended 
December 31, 2020 
 

 
 
 

 

FOR SEC FILING 



 

 

 

 

 

 

Punongbayan & Araullo 

20th Floor, Tower 1 

The Enterprise Center 

6766 Ayala Avenue 

1200 Makati City 

Philippines 

 

T +63 2 8988 2288 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

a 

 

 

   

 

Certified Public Accountants 

Punongbayan & Araullo (P&A) is the Philippine member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd. 

 

Offices in Cavite, Cebu, Davao  

BOA/ PRC Cert of Reg. No. 0002 

SEC Accreditation No. 0002 
 

 

grantthornton.com.ph 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report of Independent Auditors 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The Board of Directors 

MREIT, Inc. 

(Formerly Megaworld Holdings, Inc.) 

(A Subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation) 

18th Floor, Alliance Global Tower 

36th Street cor. 11th Avenue 

Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City 

 

 
Opinion 

 
We have audited the financial statements of MREIT, Inc. (the Company), which comprise the 

statements of financial position as of December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, and the 

statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity (capital deficiency) and 

statements of cash flows for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, and 

the three months ended December 31, 2020, and the notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, and its 

financial performance and its cash flows for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and 

June 30, 2021, and the three months ended December 31, 2020, in accordance with Philippine 

Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 

 

Basis for Opinion 
 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA).   

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are 

independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audits of the financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion.  
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Emphasis of a Matter 

 

As more fully described on Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company was incorporated 

and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on October 2, 

2020.  Subsequently, the Company applied with the SEC in October 2021 for the amendments 

in its By-laws for a change in its reporting period from fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending  

June 30 to calendar year beginning January 1 and ending December 31, and such amendment 

was approved by the SEC and Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) on November 4, 2021 and 

November 25, 2021, respectively. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 

significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period.  These matters were 

addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our 

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

Valuation of Investment Properties 
 
Description of the Matter 

 

The fair value of investment properties was determined by an independent appraiser using the 

income approach. Under the income approach, the fair value of an asset is measured by 

calculating the present value of its economic benefits by discounting expected cash flows at a 

rate of return that compensates the risks associated with a particular investment. The total fair 

value of investment properties as of December 31, 2021 is P59.3 billion, which represents         

97% of the total assets of the Company.  The valuation of investment properties is significant to 

our audit because of the significance of the amount and because the measurement involves 

application of significant judgments and estimates. 

 

The Company’s policy on measurement of investment properties is more fully described in  

Note 2 to the financial statements.  The significant judgments applied and estimates used in 

measuring fair value are more fully described in Note 3 to the financial statements, while the 

methods used are fully described in Note 21 to the financial statements. 

 

How the Matter was Addressed in the Audit 
 

We have evaluated the independence and competence of the appraiser by obtaining an 

understanding of their qualifications, experience and track record. We have also involved our 

internal valuation specialists in evaluating the accuracy of the valuation model and the 

reasonableness of key assumptions used, such as discount rates and growth rates.  We have 

also tested key inputs used such as lease rates and lease terms by agreeing a sample to 

supporting lease contracts. 
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Other Information 
 

Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 

information included in the Company’s SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), 

SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the period ended December 31, 2021, but does not 

include the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.  The SEC Form 20-IS, SEC 

Form 17-A and Annual Report for the period ended December 31, 2021 are expected to be 

made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. 

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audits of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the 

other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 

Financial Statements 
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

in accordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 

liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 

reporting process. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.  

However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 

going concern. 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence 

and, where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 

period and are therefore the key audit matters.  We describe these matters in our auditors’ 

report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 

report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 

The supplementary information for the period ended December 31, 2021 required by the BIR is 

presented by the management of the Company in a supplementary schedule filed separately 

from the basic financial statements.  The BIR requires the information to be presented in the 

notes to financial statements.  The supplementary information is not a required part of the basic 

financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS; it is also not a required disclosure 

under Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 of the SEC.  Such supplementary 

information is the responsibility of management.  Our opinion on the basic financial statements 

is not affected by the presentation of the information in a separate schedule. 

 

The engagement partner on the audits resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Renan A. 

Piamonte. 

 

 

      PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO 
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December 31, June 30,

Notes 2021 2021

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 4  1,333,805,607  P       2,308,916,531  P       

Trade and other receivables 5  88,118,786                 9,339,619                  

Other current assets 7  71,262,351                 1,194,220                  

Total Current Assets  1,493,186,744            2,319,450,370           

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables 5 56,558,890            12,300,122                

Investment properties 6  59,261,000,000          49,443,000,000         

Other non-current assets 7  54,441,929                 54,923,129                

Total Non-current Assets  59,372,000,819          49,510,223,251         

TOTAL ASSETS  60,865,187,563  P      51,829,673,621  P     

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts and other payables 8  172,191,343  P           63,879,299  P            

Deposits and other liabilities 9  263,008,802              179,944,909              

Total Current Liabilities  435,200,145               243,824,208              

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing loan 10  7,195,789,259            -   

Deposits and other liabilities 9  1,072,876,081            729,865,666              

Deferred tax liabilities 14  -    101,168,724              

Total Non-current liabilities  8,268,665,340            831,034,390              

Total Liabilities  8,703,865,485            1,074,858,598           

EQUITY 

Capital stock 16  2,532,121,381            2,532,121,381           

Additional paid-in capital 16  47,907,466,035          47,907,466,035         

Retained earnings  1,721,734,662            315,227,607              

Equity  52,161,322,078          50,754,815,023         

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  60,865,187,563  P      51,829,673,621  P     

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(A Subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation)

(Formerly Megaworld Holdings, Inc.)

MREIT, INC.

See Notes to Financial Statements.

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

A  S  S  E  T  S

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND JUNE 30, 2021



December 31, 2021 June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Notes (Six Months) (Six Months) (Three Months)

REVENUES

Rental income 11  1,197,497,661  P         195,044,232  P          -   

Income from dues - net 2  263,215,987                32,151,176                -   

 1,460,713,648              227,195,408              -   

COST OF SERVICES 12  222,987,792                20,469,415                -   

GROSS PROFIT  1,237,725,856             206,725,993              -   

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 13  9,630,912                    18,761,149                10,278,820               

OPERATING PROFIT  1,228,094,944             187,964,844             10,278,820 )(                

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) - NET

Fair value gains on investment properties 6  702,000,000                240,592,380              -   

Interest expense 9 , 10 23,833,140 )(                 2,403,391 )(                   -   
Interest income 4, 7  8,374,430                    637,045                     -   

 686,541,290                238,826,034              -   

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX  1,914,636,234              426,790,878             10,278,820 )(                

TAX INCOME (EXPENSE) 14  99,579,952                 101,284,451 )(               -   

NET PROFIT (LOSS)  2,014,216,186              325,506,427             10,278,820 )(               

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  -    -    -   

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  2,014,216,186  P         325,506,427  P         10,278,820 )( P             

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS

 (LOSS) PER SHARE 17  0.80  P                        0.13  P                     1.03 )( P                       

* The Company was incorporated on October 2, 2020 and has started its commercial operations on June 2, 2021.

See Notes to Financial Statements.

AND THE THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020*

MREIT, INC.

(Formerly Megaworld Holdings, Inc.)

(A Subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation)

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND JUNE 30, 2021

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

P



December 31, 2021 June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Notes (Six Months) (Six Months) (Three Months)

CAPITAL STOCK 

Balance at beginning of period  2,532,121,381  P       10,000,000  P            -   

Issuance of shares during the period 1  -    2,522,121,381           10,000,000               

Balance at end of period  2,532,121,381            2,532,121,381           10,000,000               

ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL

Balance at beginning of period  47,907,466,035         -    -   

Addition during the period 1, 16  -    47,907,466,035          -   

Balance at end of period  47,907,466,035         47,907,466,035          -   

RETAINED EARNINGS (DEFICIT)

Balance at beginning of period  315,227,607             10,278,820 )(                 -   

Net profit (loss) during the period  2,014,216,186            325,506,427             10,278,820 )(               

Dividends declared during the period 16 607,709,131 )(             -    -   

Balance at end of period  1,721,734,662           315,227,607             10,278,820 )(               

EQUITY (CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)  52,161,322,078  P     50,754,815,023  P    278,820 )( P                

* The Company was incorporated on October 2, 2020 and has started its commercial operations on June 2, 2021.

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

See Notes to Financial Statements.

AND THE THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020*

MREIT, INC.

(Formerly Megaworld Holdings, Inc.)

(A Subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND JUNE 30, 2021

P



December 31, 2021 June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Notes (Six Months) (Six Months) (Three Months)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit (loss) before tax  1,914,636,234  P       426,790,878  P         10,278,820 )( P            

Adjustments for:
6 702,000,000 )(            240,592,380 )(              -   

9, 10  23,833,140                2,403,391                 -   

Interest income 4, 7 8,374,430 )(               637,045 )(                    -   

Operating profit (loss) before working capital changes  1,228,094,944           187,964,844             10,278,820 )(              

Increase in trade and other receivables 122,916,877 )(            21,639,741 )(               -   

Increase in other current assets 70,068,131 )(              1,184,980 )(                9,240 )(                      

Decrease (increase) in other non-current assets  858,355                   54,864,716 )(               -   

Increase (decrease) in due to parent company  -   201,820 )(                    201,820                   

Increase in accounts and other payables  100,316,824              63,793,059                86,240                     

Increase in deposits and other liabilities  410,400,646              907,407,184              -   

Cash generated from (used in) operations  1,546,685,761           1,081,273,830          10,000,000 )(              

Interest received  7,876,217                 578,632                    -   

Income tax paid 1,588,771 )(                115,727 )(                    -   

 

Net Cash From (Used in) Operating Activities  1,552,973,207           1,081,736,735          10,000,000 )(              

CASH FLOW FROM AN INVESTING ACTIVITY

Acquisition of investment properties 6 9,116,000,000 )(          -    -   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from availment of loan, net of transaction costs 10  7,195,625,000           -    -   

Dividends paid 16 607,709,131 )(             -    -   

Proceeds from issuance of shares, net of shares issuance costs 16  -    1,227,179,796           10,000,000               

Net Cash From Financing Activities  6,587,915,869           1,227,179,796           10,000,000               

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 975,110,924 )(             2,308,916,531             -   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING 

OF PERIOD  2,308,916,531           -    -   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD  1,333,805,607  P       2,308,916,531  P       -   

* The Company was incorporated on October 2, 2020 and has started its commercial operations on June 2, 2021. 

Supplemental Information on Non-cash Investing and Financing Activity —

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

See Notes to Financial Statements.

AND THE THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020*

MREIT, INC.

(Formerly Megaworld Holdings, Inc.)

(A Subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND JUNE 30, 2021

Fair value gains on investment properties

Interest expense

In June 2021, the Company and Megaworld Corporation (the Parent Company) entered into a property-for-share swap transaction.  Accordingly, the Parent 

Company transferred certain real properties for lease to the Company amounting to P49,202.4 million and was presented as Investment Properties in the       

June 30, 2021 statement of financial position (see Note 6).  In exchange for the properties transferred, the Company issued 1,282,120,381 common shares with a 

par value of P1 per share to the Parent Company which resulted in recognition of Capital Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital amounting to P1,282.1 million 

and P47,920.3 million, respectively (see Note 16).

P



MREIT, INC. 

(Formerly Megaworld Holdings, Inc.) 

(A Subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND JUNE 30, 2021 

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos) 

 

 

 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

MREIT, Inc. (the Company, formerly Megaworld Holdings, Inc.) was incorporated and 
registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on October 2, 2020.  
The Company’s primary purpose, as amended in April 2021, is to engage in the business of a 
real estate investment trust, as provided under Republic Act (R.A.) No. 9856, The Real Estate 
Investment Trust Act of 2009 (the “REIT Act”), including its implementing rules and regulations, 
and other applicable laws.   

 
On February 1, 2021, Megaworld Corporation (MC or the Parent Company) obtained control 
over the Company by subscribing to 12,400,000 shares of the Company’s authorized capital 
stock with par value of P100 per share or a total of P1,240,000,000.  Accordingly, MC acquired 
99.20% direct ownership of the Company’s total issued and outstanding capital stock  
(see Note 16).   
 
On April 7, 2021, majority of the members of the BOD and stockholders of the Company 
approved the amendments to the Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of the Company, 
which include, among others, the following: 
 

• change of name of the Company from Megaworld Holdings, Inc. to MREIT, Inc.; 
 

• change in primary purpose of the Company from engaging in investment activities as 
an investment holdings company to engaging in the business of a real estate investment 
trust, as provided under the REIT Act and other applicable laws, which business 
includes: dealing with (1) income-generating real estate; (2) real estate, real estate-related 
assets, investments and instruments; and, (3) rent, interest, dividends and income 
arising from its property and investments; 
 

• change in the secondary purposes of the Company to align with its primary purpose; 
 

• change of principal office of the Company from 30th Floor, Alliance Global Tower to 
18th Floor, Alliance Global Tower, 36th Street cor. 11th Avenue, Uptown Bonifacio,  
Taguig City; 

 

• change in number of directors from five to seven; 
 

• change in par value of common shares from P100 to P1, resulting to an increase in the 
number of common shares from 50,000,000 to 5,000,000,000; and, 

 

• change in the fiscal year of the Company to begin on the first day of July and end on 
the last day of June of each year. 
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The SEC and the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) approved the amendments to the 
Company’s Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws on May 19, 2021 and May 20, 2021, 
respectively. 
 
Likewise, on April 7, 2021, the Board of Directors (BOD) and stockholders of the Company 
approved the Property-for-Share Swap transaction with the Parent Company (see Notes 6 and 
16.1). 
 

MC is presently engaged in property-related activities such as project design, construction, and 
property management.  MC’s real estate portfolio includes residential condominium units, 
subdivision lots and townhouses, condominium-hotel projects, as well as office projects and 
retail spaces. 
 

Alliance Global Group, Inc. (AGI) is the Company’s ultimate parent company.  AGI is a 
holding company presently engaged in the food and beverage, real estate development, quick-
service restaurant, tourism-oriented and gaming businesses. 

 

Both MC and AGI are publicly-listed companies in the Philippines. 
 

On September 30, 2021, the BOD approved the change in the Company’s accounting period 
to begin on the first day of January and end on the last day of December of each year. The 
Company applied with the SEC for an amendment of its By-laws in October 2021.  The SEC 
and the BIR approved the change on November 4, 2021 and November 25, 2021, 
respectively. 

 

On October 1, 2021, the Company offered and sold 949,837,500 of its common shares, with 
a par value of P1 per share (the Offer) through an initial public offering.  The Offer was 
comprised of secondary offer of shares held by MC.  The effective ownership of MC was 
reduced to 62.09% as a result of the Offer. 
 

On December 20, 2021, the Company acquired additional four properties from MC for cash 
(see Note 6). 
 

The registered office address and principal place of business of the Company and MC are 
located at 18th and 30th Floors, respectively, Alliance Global Tower, 36th Street cor. 11th 
Avenue, Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City.  The registered office of AGI, which is also its 
principal place of business, is located at 7th Floor, 1880 Eastwood Avenue, Eastwood City 
Cyberpark, 188 E. Rodriguez, Jr. Avenue, Bagumbayan, Quezon City. 
 

The financial statements of the Company as of and for the six months ended  
December 31, 2021 (including the comparative financial statements as of and for the six months 
ended June 30, 2021 and for the three months period ended December 31, 2020) were 
authorized for issue by the Company’s BOD on February 24, 2022. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial 
statements are summarized below and in the succeeding pages.  These policies have been 
consistently applied to the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 
2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements 
 

(a) Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards  
 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  PFRS are adopted by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) from the pronouncements issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board and approved by the Philippine Board of 
Accountancy.  
 
The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by 
PFRS for each type of asset, liability, income and expense.  The measurement bases are 
more fully described in the accounting policies that follow. 
 

(b) Presentation of Financial Statements 
 

The financial statements are presented in accordance with Philippine Accounting 
Standard (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.  The Company presents all items of 
income, expense and other comprehensive income or loss in a single statement of 
comprehensive income. 

 
The Company presents a third statement of financial position as of the beginning of the 
preceding period when it applies an accounting policy retrospectively, or makes a 
retrospective restatement or reclassification of items that has a material effect on the 
information in the statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding 
period.  The related notes to the third statement of financial position are not required to 
be disclosed. 
 
The Company presents Accounts and Other Payables as a separate line item in its 
statement of financial position as of December 31, 2021.  This account was previously 
presented as part of Deposits and Other Liabilities but is now presented separately as the 
amount is considered material as of December 31, 2021.  As a result, accrued expenses 
and other payables amounting to P63.8 million as of June 30, 2021, previously presented 
within Deposits and Other Liabilities, was reclassified and presented as part of Accounts 
and Other Payables.  The reclassification did not have a significant impact on the 
Company’s statement of financial position as of December 31, 2020; hence, the 
comparative statement of financial position is not presented. 
 

(c) Functional and Presentation Currency 
 

These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Company’s presentation 
and functional currency, and all values represent absolute amounts except when 
otherwise indicated. 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the 
Company’s functional currency.  Functional currency is the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Company operates. 
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2.2 Adoption of New and Amended PFRS  
 

(a) Effective in the Six Months Period Ended December 31, 2021 that is Relevant to the Company 
 
The Company adopted for the first time the application of the amendments to PFRS 16, 
Leases – COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond June 30, 2021, which is effective from 
April 1, 2021.  The amendment extends for one year the use of practical expedient of not 
assessing whether rent concessions reducing payments up until June 30, 2022 occurring 
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease modifications and instead 
to account for those rent concessions as if they are not lease modifications.  The 
application of these amendments had no significant impact to the Company’s financial 
statements. 
 

(b) Effective Subsequent to Fiscal Year 2021 but not Adopted Early 
 

  There are pronouncements effective for annual periods subsequent to 2021, which are 
adopted by the FRSC.  Management will adopt the following relevant pronouncements 
in accordance with their transitional provisions; and, unless otherwise stated, none of 
these are expected to have significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

 
(i) PAS 37 (Amendments), Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets – Onerous 

Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (effective from January 1, 2022).  The 
amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that 
relate directly to the contract’.  Costs that relate directly to a contract can either be 
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labor and 
materials) or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts 
(an example would be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of 
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).   

 

(ii) Annual Improvements to PFRS 2018-2020 Cycle.  Among the improvements, only  
PFRS 9 (Amendments), Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ Test for 
Derecognition of Liabilities (effective from January 1, 2022), is relevant to the 
Company.  The improvements clarify the fees that a company includes when 
assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially 
different from the terms of the original financial liability. 

 
(iii) PAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of Liabilities as 

Current or Non-current (effective from January 1, 2023).  The amendments aim to 
promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies determine 
whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an 
uncertain settlement date should be classified as current (due or potentially due to 
be settled within one year) or non-current. 
 

(iv) PAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of Financial Statements and PFRS Practice 
Statement 2 (Amendments), Making Materiality Judgments – Disclosure of Accounting 
Policies (effective from January 1, 2023).  The amendments specify the requirement 
for an entity to disclose its material accounting policies instead of its significant 
accounting policies and provide guidance and examples with regards to application 
of the four-step materiality process in the identification of material accounting 
policy disclosures. 
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(v) PAS 8 (Amendments), Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors – 
Definition of Accounting Estimates (effective from January 1, 2023).  The amendments 
clarify the definition of accounting estimates as monetary amounts in the financial 
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty and the difference of 
changes in accounting estimates from changes in accounting policies and 
corrections of prior period errors. 

 
2.3 Financial Instruments 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.   

 
(a) Financial Assets 

 
 For purposes of classifying financial assets, an instrument is considered as an equity 

instrument if it is non-derivative and meets the definition of equity for the issuer in 
accordance with the criteria of PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation.  All other  
non-derivative financial instruments are treated as debt instruments. 

 
(i) Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets 

 
The classification and measurement of financial assets is driven by the entity’s 
business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets.  Currently, the relevant financial asset 
classification applicable to the Company is financial assets at amortized cost. 

 
Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions 
are met: 

 

• the asset is held within the Company’s business model whose objective is to 
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows (“hold to 
collect”); and, 

 

• the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

 
Financial assets meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus 
transaction costs.  These are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less allowance for expected credit loss. 
 
The Company’s financial assets at amortized cost are presented as Cash and Cash 
Equivalents, Trade and Other Receivables and Security deposit (presented under 
Other Non-current Assets) in the statement of financial position.  Cash and cash 
equivalents include demand deposits and short-term placements with original 
maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.  Demand deposits 
maintained in a local bank are unrestricted and readily available for use in the 
Company’s operations.  Short-term placements include short-term, highly-liquid 
investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
Financial assets measured at amortized cost are included in current assets, except 
for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the end of reporting period, 
which are classified as non-current assets. 
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(ii) Impairment of Financial Assets 
 

The Company assesses expected credit losses (ECL) on a forward-looking basis 
associated with its financial assets carried at amortized cost.  The measurement of 
ECL involves consideration of broader range of information that is available 
without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current 
conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic 
conditions (i.e., forward-looking information) that may affect the collectability of 
the future cash flows of the financial assets.  Measurement of the ECL is determined 
by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the 
financial instruments evaluated based on a range of possible outcome. 

 
The Company applies the simplified approach in measuring ECL, which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade and other receivables and security 
deposit.  These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering 
the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial assets.  To 
calculate the ECL, the Company uses its historical experience, external indicators, 
forward-looking information, and other qualitative factors (including possible 
offsetting) to calculate the ECL using a provision matrix.  The Company also 
assesses impairment of trade and other receivables and security deposit on a 
collective basis as they possess shared credit risk characteristics, and have been 
grouped based on the days past due.   
 
For cash and cash equivalents, the Company applies low credit risk simplification 
and measures the ECL on the financial assets based on a 12-month ECL basis 
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which 
case, the loss allowance will be based on lifetime ECL. 

 
The key elements used in the calculation of ECL are as follows: 

 

• Probability of default – It is an estimate of likelihood of a counterparty defaulting 
at its financial obligation over a given time horizon, either over the next           
12 months or the remaining lifetime of the obligation.   

 

• Loss given default – It is an estimate of loss arising in case where a default occurs 
at a given time.  It is based on the difference between the contractual cash 
flows of a financial instrument due from a counterparty and those that the 
Company would expect to receive, including the realization of any collateral 
or effect of any credit enhancement. 

 

• Exposure at default – It represents the gross carrying amount of the financial 
instruments in the event of default which pertains to its amortized cost. 

 
The Company recognizes an impairment loss in profit or loss for all financial 
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through an 
allowance for impairment account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off are credited against the same line item. 
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(iii) Derecognition of Financial Assets 
 

The financial assets (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group 
of financial assets) are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive cash 
flows from the financial instruments expire, or when the financial assets and all 
substantial risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to another party.  
If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company 
recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it 
may have to pay.  If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to recognize the 
financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds 
received. 

 
(b) Financial Liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities, which pertain to Security deposits (presented under Deposits and 
Other Liabilities), Accounts and Other Payables (except tax-related liabilities), and 
Interest-bearing Loan are recognized initially at their fair values and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost, using effective interest method for maturities beyond one 
year, less settlement payments. 
 
All interest-related charges, except any capitalized borrowing costs, are recognized as 
expense in profit or loss under Interest Expense account in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due to be settled 
within one year or less after the end of the reporting period (or in the normal operating 
cycle of the business, if longer), or the Company does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the end of the 
reporting period.  Otherwise, these are presented as non-current liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of financial position only when 
the obligations are extinguished either through discharge, cancellation or expiration.  
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and 
the consideration paid or payable is recognized in profit or loss. 

 
(c) Offsetting of Financial Instruments  

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the resulting net amount, considered 
as a single financial asset or financial liability, is reported in the statement of financial 
position when the Company currently has legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.  The right of set-off must be available at the end of 
the reporting period, that is, it is not contingent on future event.  It must also be 
enforceable in the normal course of business, in the event of default, and in the event of 
insolvency or bankruptcy; and, must be legally enforceable for both entity and all 
counterparties to the financial instruments.  
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2.4 Other Assets 
 

Other current assets pertain to other resources controlled by the Company as a result of past 
events.  They are recognized in the financial statements when it is probable that the future 
economic benefits will flow to the Company and the asset has a cost or value that can be 
measured reliably. 
 
Other recognized assets of similar nature, where future economic benefits are expected to 
flow to the Company beyond one year after the end of the reporting period or in the normal 
operating cycle of the business, if longer, are classified as non-current assets. 

 
2.5 Investment Properties 

 
Investment properties include several buildings for mixed use, which are being leased out as 
office, retail and hotel, including the hotel’s parking spaces.   
 
Investment properties are accounted for under the fair value model.  They are revalued annually 
and are reported in the statement of financial position at its fair value.  Fair value is based on 
the income approach and is determined annually by an independent appraiser with sufficient 
experience with respect to both the location and the nature of the investment properties           
(see Note 21.3).   

 
Any gain or loss resulting from either a change in the fair value or the sale or retirement of an 
investment property is immediately recognized in profit or loss as Fair value gains on 
investment properties account under the Other Income (Charges) section in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Investment properties are derecognized upon disposal or when permanently withdrawn from 
use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. 
 
2.6 Provisions and Contingencies 
 

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of 
economic resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the 
outflow may still be uncertain.  A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or 
constructive obligation that has resulted from past events. 

 
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, 
based on the most reliable evidence available at the end of the reporting period, including the 
risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  Where there are a number of 
similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined 
by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  When time value of money is material,  
long-term provisions are discounted to their present values using a pretax rate that reflects 
market assessments and the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due 
to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
 
In those cases, where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present 
obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot be 
measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statements.  Similarly, probable 
inflows of economic benefits to the Company that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of 
an asset are considered contingent assets; hence, are not recognized in the financial 
statements.  On the other hand, any reimbursement that the Company can be virtually certain 
to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation is recognized as a separate asset 
not exceeding the amount of the related provision.  
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2.7 Revenue and Expense Recognition 
 

Revenue comprises revenue from leasing activities.   
 
To determine whether to recognize revenue, the Company follows a five-step process: 
 
1. identifying the contract with a customer; 
2. identifying the performance obligation; 
3. determining the transaction price; 
4. allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and, 
5. recognizing revenue when/as performance obligations are satisfied. 
 
The Company determines whether a contract with customer exists by evaluating whether the 
following gating criteria are present: 
 
(i) the parties to the contract have approved the contract either in writing, orally or in 

accordance with other customary business practices; 
(ii) each party’s rights regarding the goods or services to be transferred or performed can be 

identified; 
(iii) the payment terms for the goods or services to be transferred or performed can be 

identified; 
(iv) the contract has commercial substance (i.e., the risk, timing or amount of the future cash 

flows is expected to change as a result of the contract); and, 
(v) collection of the consideration in exchange of the goods and services is probable. 

 
Revenue is recognized only when (or as) the Company satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring control of the promised services to a customer.  The transfer of control can occur 
over time or at a point in time. 

 
A performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time unless it meets one of the following 
criteria, in which case it is satisfied over time: 
 
(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the 

Company’s performance as the Company performs; 
(b) the Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as 

the asset is created or enhanced; and, 
(c) the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the 

Company and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed 
to date. 

 
The transaction price allocated to performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is 
recognized as revenue when control of the goods or services transfers to the customer.  If 
the performance obligation is satisfied over time, the transaction price allocated to that 
performance obligation is recognized as revenue as the performance obligation is satisfied.  
The Company uses the practical expedient in PFRS 15 with respect to non-disclosure of the 
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied or partially satisfied 
performance obligations as of the end of the reporting period and the explanation of when 
such amount will be recognized. 
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The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 
 

(a) Income from dues – Income from dues are recognized when the related services are rendered.  
Electricity and water dues in excess of actual charges and consumption are recorded as 
revenues.  In addition, billing from common dues, presented at gross amounts, is 
computed based on a fixed rate per square meter of the leasable area occupied by the 
tenant.   

 
The Company assesses its revenue agreement against the specific criteria in order to 
determine if it is acting as a principal or an agent.  The Company has concluded that it is 
acting as a principal for billings from common area, air conditioning and other dues, 
except for electricity and water dues in which the Company acts as an agent. 

 
(b) Interest Income – Revenue is recognized as the interest accrues taking into account the 

effective yield on the asset. 
 
The Company also recognizes revenues from rentals which are based on the provisions of  
PFRS 16 [see Note 2.8(b)].   
 
Cost of services and operating expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of 
the goods or services or at the date these are incurred.   
 
Finance costs are reported on an accrual basis, except any capitalized borrowing costs which 
are included as part of the cost of the related qualifying asset (see Note 2.11). 

 
2.8 Leases  

 
 The Company accounts for leases as follows: 
 

(a) Company as a Lessee 
 

For any new contracts entered into, the Company considers whether a contract is, or 
contains, a lease.  A lease is defined as a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the 
right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration.  To apply this definition, the Company assesses whether the contract 
meets three key evaluations which are whether: 

 

• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the 
contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made 
available to the Company; 

 

• the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits 
from use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its 
rights within the defined scope of the contract; and, 

 

• the Company has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the 
period of use.  The Company assesses whether it has the right to direct ‘how and 
for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use. 
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The Company has elected to account for any short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets using the practical expedients.  Instead of recognizing a right-of-use asset and 
lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognized as an expense in profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
(b) Company as a Lessor 
 

Leases wherein the Company substantially transfers to the lessee all risks and benefits 
incidental to ownership of the leased item are classified as finance leases and are 
presented as receivable at an amount equal to the Company’s net investment in the 
lease.  Finance income is recognized based on the pattern reflecting a constant periodic 
rate of return on the Company’s net investment outstanding in respect of the finance 
lease. 
 

Leases which do not transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits of 
ownership of the asset, are classified as operating leases.  Lease income from operating 
leases is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

The Company determines whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease based on the 
substance of the arrangement.  It makes an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific or identified asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. 

 

2.9 Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
 

The Company’s non-financial assets are subject to impairment testing whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 

For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).  As a result, assets are tested for 
impairment either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. 

 

Impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the amount by which the asset’s or  
cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amounts which is the higher 
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  In determining value in use, management 
estimates the expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines the 
suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.  The data 
used for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Company’s latest approved 
budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of asset enhancements.  Discount factors 
are determined individually for each cash-generating unit and reflect management’s 
assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risk factors.   
 

All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously 
recognized may no longer exist.  An impairment loss is reversed if the asset’s or  
cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.   
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2.10 Employee Benefits 
 

The Company provides post-employment benefits to employees through defined 
contribution plans and other employee benefits which are recognized as follows: 

 
(a) Defined Contribution Plans 
 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment plan under which the Company pays 
fixed contributions into an independent entity.  The Company has no legal or 
constructive obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed 
contribution.  The contributions recognized in respect of defined contribution plans 
are expensed as they fall due.  Liabilities and assets may be recognized if underpayment 
or prepayment has occurred and are included in current liabilities or current assets as 
they are normally of a short-term nature. 
 

(b) Compensated Absences 
 

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days (including 
holiday entitlement) remaining at the end of the reporting period.  They are included in 
Trade and Other Payables account in the statement of financial position at the 
undiscounted amount that the Company expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement. 

 
2.11 Borrowing Costs 

 

For financial reporting purposes, borrowing costs are recognized as expenses in the period 
in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalized.  Borrowing costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset (i.e., an asset that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale) are capitalized as part of the cost of such asset.  The capitalization of borrowing costs 
commences when expenditures for the asset are being incurred, borrowing costs are being 
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are 
in progress.  Capitalization ceases when substantially all such activities are complete.  
 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalization. 
 
For income tax purposes, interest and other borrowing costs are charged to expense when 
incurred. 
 
2.12 Income Taxes 
 
Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax 
not recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, if any. 

 
Current tax assets or current tax liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal 
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting periods, that are uncollected or unpaid at 
the reporting period.  They are calculated using the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the 
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the period.  All changes to 
current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in profit or loss. 
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Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method on temporary differences at the end 
of the reporting period between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes.  Under the liability method, with certain exceptions, 
deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused 
tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax 
assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that 
it has become probable that future taxable profit will be available to allow such deferred tax 
assets to be recovered. 

 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled provided such tax 
rates have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.   
 
The measurement of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end 
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

 
Most changes in deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities are recognized as a component 
of tax expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the Company has a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred 
taxes relate to the same entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
2.13 Related Party Transactions and Relationships 
 
Related party transactions are transfers of resources, services or obligations between the 
Company and its related parties, regardless whether a price is charged. 

 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  
Related parties include: (a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries, control or are controlled by, or under common control with the Company; 
(b) associates; and, (c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting 
power of the Company that gives them significant influence over the Company and close 
members of the family of any such individual. 
 
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance 
of the relationship and not merely on the legal form. 

 
Based on the requirement of SEC Memorandum Circular 2019-10, Rules of Material Related 
Party Transactions of Publicly-listed Companies, transactions amounting to 10% or more of the 
total assets based on its latest financial statements that were entered into with related parties 
are considered material. 
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All individual material related party transactions shall be approved by at least two-thirds (2/3) 
vote of the Company’s board of directors, with at least a majority of the independent 
directors, with at least a majority of the independent directors voting to approve the material 
related party transactions.  In case that a majority of the independent directors’ vote is not 
secured, the material related party transaction may be ratified by the vote of the stockholders 
representing at least two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock.  For aggregate related party 
transactions within a 12-month period that breaches the materiality threshold of ten percent 
of the Company’s total assets based on the latest financial statements, the same board 
approval would be required for the transactions that meet and exceeds the materiality 
threshold covering the same related party. 

 
2.14 Equity (Capital Deficiency) 
 
Capital stock represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.   
 
Additional paid-in capital (APIC) includes any premiums received on the issuance of capital. 
Any transaction costs associated with the issuance of shares are deducted from APIC, net of 
any related income tax benefits. 
 
Retained earnings (deficit) represents all current and prior period results of pre-operations 
and operations as reported in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 
2.15 Earnings (Loss) Per Share 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net profit (loss) by the weighted 
average number of shares issued and outstanding, adjusted retrospectively for any share 
dividend declared, share split and reverse share split during the current year, if any.  

 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed by adjusting the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of potential dilutive common shares.  
Currently, the Company does not have potential dilutive shares outstanding; hence, the 
diluted earnings (loss) per share is equal to the basic earnings (loss) per share. 

 
2.16 Events After the End of the Reporting Period 
 
Any event after the end of the reporting period that provides additional information about 
the Company’s financial position at the end of the reporting period (adjusting event) is 
reflected in the financial statements.  Events after the end of the reporting period that are not 
adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the financial statements.   
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
  

 The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires 
management to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the 
financial statements and related notes.  Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may 
ultimately differ from these estimates. 
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3.1 Critical Management Judgment in Applying Accounting Policies 
 

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the 
following judgments, apart from those involving estimation, which have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements.   
 
(a) Determination of ECL on Trade and Other Receivables   

 
The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade and other receivables.  
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer 
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography and customer type). 

 
The Company has just started its operations during the period; hence, no historical 
default is available for the Company.  The Company’s management intends to regularly 
calibrate (i.e., on an annual basis) the matrix to consider the historical credit loss 
experience with forward-looking information (i.e., forecast economic conditions).  
Details about the ECL on the Company’s trade and other receivables are disclosed in 
Note 19.2(b). 
 
Based on management evaluation of information and circumstances affecting the 
Company’s trade and other receivables as of the end of the reporting periods, the 
Company has not recognized any impairment loss. 

 

(b) Distinction Among Investment Properties and Owner-occupied Properties  
 

The Company determines whether a property should be classified as investment 
property or owner-occupied property.  The Company applies judgment upon initial 
recognition of the asset based on intention and also when there is a change in use.  In 
making its judgment, the Company considers whether the property generates cash flows 
largely independently of the other assets held by an entity.  Owner-occupied properties 
generate cash flows that are attributable not only to property but also to other assets 
used in the production or supply process. 
 
When a property comprises of a portion that is held to earn rental or for capital 
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the Company’s main line of 
business or for administrative purposes, the Company accounts for the portions 
separately if these portions can be sold separately (or leased out separately under finance 
lease).  If the portions cannot be sold separately, the property is accounted for as 
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the Company’s 
main line of business or for administrative purposes.  Judgment is applied in 
determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify 
as investment property.  The Company considers each property separately in making 
its judgment. 

 
(c) Distinction Between Operating and Finance Leases (As a Lessor) 

 
The Company has entered into various lease agreements.  Critical judgment was 
exercised by management to distinguish each lease agreement as either an operating or 
finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention of significant risk and rewards of 
ownership of the properties covered by the agreements.  Failure to make the right 
judgment will result in either overstatement or understatement of assets and liabilities.  
Based on management assessment, the Company’s lease agreements are classified as 
operating leases. 
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(d) Evaluating Principal Versus Agent Consideration 
 

The Company exercises judgment to determine whether the nature of its promise is a 
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e., the 
Company is a principal) or to arrange for the other party to provide to those goods or 
services (i.e., the Company is an agent).  Failure to make the right judgment will result 
in misstatement of revenues and expenses accounts.  The Company assessed that it is 
acting as an agent for utility transactions of its tenants under operating leases.  The 
amount of utility revenues and utility expenses which were set off against each other is 
presented as part of Income from dues under Revenues section of the statements of 
comprehensive income for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 
2021. 
 

(e) Recognition of Provisions and Contingencies 
 

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and 
contingencies.  Accounting policies on recognition and disclosure of provision are 
discussed in Note 2.6 and disclosures on relevant provisions and contingencies are 
presented in Note 18. 
 

3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
Presented below are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting 
period:   
 
(a) Estimation of Allowance for ECL 

 
The measurement of the allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortized cost is an 
area that requires the use of significant assumptions about the future economic 
conditions and credit behavior (e.g., likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting 
losses).  Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation used in measuring ECL 
is further detailed in Note 19.2. 

 
(b) Fair Value Measurement of Investment Properties 

 
The Company’s investment properties, composed of buildings for mixed use, are 
measured using the fair value model.  In determining the fair value of these assets, the 
Company engages the services of professional and independent appraisers applying the  
Income Approach.  In determining the fair value under the Income Approach, 
significant estimates are made such as revenues generated, costs expenses related to the 
operations of the development and discount rate (see Note 21.3).   
 
A significant change in these elements may affect prices and the value of the assets.  
The fair value of investment properties is disclosed in Notes 6 and 21.3. 

 
For investment properties with valuation conducted prior to the end of the current 
reporting period, management determines whether there are significant circumstances 
during the intervening period that may require adjustments or changes in the disclosure 
of fair value of those properties. 
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(c) Determination of Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Asset 
 

The Company reviews its deferred taxes at the end of each reporting period and reduces 
the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. 
Although the Company is not designated as tax-free under the law, as a REIT entity it 
is exempt from income tax provided it meets certain conditions which includes 
distribution of a minimum amount of its earnings. The Company assesses that it will 
continue to comply with the conditions and therefore will not have sufficient taxable 
income against which it can utilize its net operating loss carry over (NOLCO).  As a 
result, no deferred tax asset was recognized as of December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021. 
 
The carrying amount of the unrecognized deferred tax asset as at December 31, 2021, 
and June 30, 2021 is disclosed in Note 14. 

 
(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
 

In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset 
or a cash-generating unit based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate 
to calculate the present value of those cash flows.  Estimation uncertainties relates to 
assumptions about future operating results and the determination of suitable discount 
rate.  Also, the Company’s policy on estimating the impairment of non-financial assets 
is discussed in detail in Note 2.9.  Though management believes that the assumptions 
used in the estimation of fair values reflected in the financial statements are appropriate 
and reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the 
assessment of recoverable values and any resulting impairment loss could have a 
material adverse effect on the results of operations.   
 
There were no impairment losses on the Company’s non-financial assets required to be 
recognized for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, and the 
three months ended December 31, 2020 based on management’s assessment. 

 
 

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
  Cash and cash equivalents include the following: 
 

      December 31,   June 30,  
      2021   2021  
 

  Cash on hand and in bank    P 832,127,010 P 1,308,559,864 
  Short-term placements     501,678,597  1,000,356,667 
 

        P 1,333,805,607 P 2,308,916,531 
 

 Cash in bank generally earns interest based on daily bank deposit rates.  
 

 Short-term placements are made for varying periods from 30 to 44 days and earn effective 
interest of 0.5% to 1.125%. 

 

 Interest earned from cash in bank and short-term placements for the six months ended 
December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 amounted to P8.0 million and P0.6 million, respectively, 
and is presented as Interest income under Other Income (Charges) section in the statements 
of comprehensive income for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021.   
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5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 
This account is composed of the following:  

  
      December 31,   June 30,  
      2021   2021  
 
  Current     
   Trade receivables:  
    Billed    P 70,763,275 P 7,793,613 
    Accrued     14,112,404  85,318 
   Others     3,243,107  1,460,688 
         88,118,786  9,339,619 
  Non-current –  
   Trade receivables –  
    Accrued     56,558,890  12,300,122 
 
        P 144,677,676 P 21,639,741 
   

Accrued receivables pertain to receivables resulting from the straight-line method of 
recognizing rental income. 
 
Billed receivables arise mainly from tenants for rentals of office, retail, hotel and parking 
spaces, including dues.  These are noninterest-bearing and are generally collectible on 30-day 
term. 
 
All trade and other receivables are subject to credit risk exposure.  However, there was no 
impairment losses recognized for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 
as management believes that the remaining receivables are fully collectible [see Note 19.2(b)]. 
 
 

6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 
The Company’s investment properties include several buildings for mixed use, which are being 
leased out as office, retail and hotel, including the hotel’s parking spaces. 
 
A reconciliation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the six-month periods 
ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 of investment properties is shown below. 
 
   Balance at January 1, 2021  P -  
   Additions  for the period   49,202,407,620 
   Fair value gains   240,592,380 
 
   Balance at June 30, 2021   49,443,000,000 
   Additions for the period   9,116,000,000 
   Fair value gains   702,000,000 
 
   Balance at December 31, 2021  P 59,261,000,000 
    
In May 2021, ten properties were transferred to the Company in accordance with the  
Property-for-Share Swap transaction (the Assigned Properties) entered into by the Company 
and MC as approved by its BOD and stockholders on April 7, 2021 (see Note 1). 
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On May 19, 2021, in furtherance of the transfer, assignment and conveyance in favor of 
MREIT of all of MC’s rights, title and interests in the Assigned Properties in exchange for 
MREIT’s common shares, MC and MREIT entered into a Deed of Assignment of Leases 
assigning all of MC’s rights and interests in and to the Contracts of Lease over portions of 
the Assigned Properties leased out to various entities effective upon the issuance of MREIT’s 
common shares in the name of the Company under the Deed of Exchange of Property and 
Shares.   
 
On June 1, 2021, SEC has certified the approval of the valuation of the Assigned Properties 
under the Deed of Exchange of Property and Shares.  Consequently, on June 2, 2021, the 
Company issued 1,282,120,381 common shares to MC, and the Deed of Assignment of Leases 
was consummated (see Note 16.1).   
 
On December 20, 2021, the Company purchased four additional prime, Grade A buildings 
located in zones registered with the Philippine Economic Zoning Authority (PEZA) from 
MC for a total acquisition price of P9,116.0 million (the Additional Properties). The 
acquisition was partially financed by a loan obtained from a local bank (see Note 10).  MC 
and MREIT likewise entered into a Deed of Assignment of Leases assigning all of MC’s rights 
and interests in and to the Contracts of Lease over portions of the Additional Properties. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, the Company has a total of 14 assets consisting of the following: 
 
 Located at McKinley Hill, Fort Bonifacio, Taguig City: 
  One World Square 
  Two World Square 
  Three World Square 
  8/10 Upper McKinley Building 
  18/20 Upper McKinley Building 
  World Finance Plaza 
 
 Located at Eastwood, Quezon City: 
  1880 Eastwood Avenue 
  1800 Eastwood Avenue 
  E-Commerce Plaza 
 
 Located at Iloilo Business Park, Iloilo City: 
  Richmonde Hotel Iloilo and Richmonde Iloilo Office Tower 
  One Techno Place 
  Two Techno Place 
  Three Techno Place 
  One Global Center 
 
For the six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, rental income from 
investment properties amounted to P1,197.5 million and P195.0 million, respectively (see 
Note 11).  All investment properties generate rental income. 
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The direct operating costs incurred relating to investment properties, which pertains to 
repairs and maintenance and real property taxes, amounted to P10.7 million and P4.4 million 
for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, respectively.   
 
The fair values of the investment properties as of December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 
amounted to P59.3 billion and P49.4 billion, respectively, were determined based on the latest 
appraisal reports by an independent real property appraiser, which uses the income approach 
(see Note 21.3).  The related fair value gain amounting to P702.0 million and P240.6 million 
is presented as Fair value gains on investment properties in the Other Income (Charges) 
section of the statement of comprehensive income for the six months ended December 31, 
2021 and June 30, 2021, respectively. 

 

The Company does not have contractual commitments for purchase of investment 
properties.  The operating lease commitments of the Company as lessor are fully disclosed in 
Note 18.1. 
 
 

7. OTHER ASSETS 
 

The Company’s other assets consist of the following:  

 

      December 31,   June 30,  
      2021   2021  
 
  Current: 
  Creditable withholding taxes    P 35,522,343 P 1,140,880 
  Prepaid expenses     24,595,487  -  
  Deferred input value added tax (VAT)   11,144,521  53,340 
         71,262,351  1,194,220 
   
  Non-current:  
   Security deposit      12,704,475     12,327,320  
   Deferred charges       41,737,454     42,595,809  
           54,441,929    54,923,129  
 

        P 125,704,280 P 56,117,349 
 

Security deposit is related to the lease of certain parcels of land on which the investment 
properties stand (see Note 15.3).  The related interest income recognized from subsequent 
amortization of the security deposit is presented as part of Interest income under Other 
Income (Charges) section in the statements of comprehensive income for the six months 
ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021. 
 
Deferred charges pertain to the difference between the nominal values of the security 
deposits and their fair values.  These are initially measured at fair value and subsequently 
amortized using the straight-line method.  Amortization of deferred charges is presented as 
part of Miscellaneous under Cost of Services account in the statements of comprehensive 
income for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 (see Note 12).   
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8. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

The details of this account are as follows: 
 

      December 31,   June 30,  
   Notes   2021   2021  
 
  Accounts payable  15.4  P 84,743,687 P -  
  Accrued expenses     54,791,622  55,497,840 
  Deferred output VAT     11,618,604  917,509 
  Interest payable  10   7,995,219  - 
  Withholding taxes payable     7,083,822  1,480 
  Others      5,958,389  7,462,470 
 
       P 172,191,343 P 63,879,299 

 
Other payables include output VAT payable. 

 
 

9. DEPOSITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

 
The details of this account are as follows: 

 

      December 31,   June 30,  
   Notes   2021   2021  
 
  Current: 
  Advance rent 15.1, 18.1 P 139,154,738 P 47,908,232 
  Security deposits 15.1,18.1   87,085,752  102,285,171 
  Deferred credits     36,768,312  29,751,506 
          263,008,802  179,944,909 
 
  Non-current:  
  Security deposits 15.1, 18.1  588,129,870  405,187,680 
  Advance rent 15.1, 18.1  411,374,176  259,071,270 
  Deferred credits     73,372,035  65,606,716 
          1,072,876,081  729,865,666 
 
         P 1,335,884,883  P 909,810,575 
 

Security deposits represent deposits from lessees to secure the faithful compliance by lessees 
of their obligations under the lease contracts.  These are equivalent to three months’ rent for 
office and six months’ rent for commercial spaces and will be refunded to the lessee at the 
end of the lease term.   
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A reconciliation of security deposits as of December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 is shown 
below: 
 

      December 31,   June 30,  
      2021   2021  
 
  Balance at beginning of period    P 507,472,851 P -  
  Additions      152,069,109  505,069,460 
  Accretion of interest     15,673,662  2,403,391 
 
  Balance at end of period    P 675,215,622 P 507,472,851 
 

Accretion of interest is presented as part of Interest expense under Other Income (Charges) 
section of the statements of comprehensive income for the six months ended December 31, 
2021 and June 30, 2021.   

 
Advance rentals from lessees represent cash received in advance representing three months’ 
rent which will be applied to the last three months’ rentals on the related lease contracts. 

 
Deferred credits pertain to the difference between the nominal values of the deposits and 
their fair values.  These are initially measured at fair value and subsequently amortized using 
the straight-line method. 

 
A reconciliation of deferred credits is shown below. 
 

      December 31,   June 30,  
      2021   2021  

 
  Balance at beginning of period    P 95,358,222 P -  
  Additions      31,323,170  97,977,031 
  Amortization    ( 16,541,045) ( 2,618,809) 
 
  Balance at end of period    P 110,140,347 P 95,358,222 

 
Amortization of deferred credits is presented as part of Rental income under Revenues 
section in the statements of comprehensive income for the six months ended December 31, 
2021 and June 30, 2021 (see Note 11).   

 
 

10. INTEREST-BEARING LOAN 
 

In December 2021, the Company obtained an unsecured, 10-year, P7.25 billion term loan 
from a local bank to finance the acquisition of investment properties (see Note 6).  The 
principal is payable quarterly in instalment beginning on the last quarter of the fifth year with 
a balloon payment at the end of the term.  Interest is payable quarterly at 3.64% per annum 
subject to repricing on December 2024.  Interest incurred amounted to P8.0 million and is 
presented as part of Interest Expense in the statement of comprehensive income for the six 
months ended December 31, 2021.  The related accrual is presented as Interest payable under 
Accounts and Other Payables in the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2021 
(see Note 8). 
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Total capitalized loan origination costs amounted to P54.4 million.  Amortization for the six 
months ended December 31, 2021 amounted to P0.1 million and is presented as part of 
Interest Expense in the statement of comprehensive income for the six months ended 
December 31, 2021. 
 
 

11. RENTAL INCOME 

 
The Company derives its revenues from contracts with customers through leasing real 
properties.  The breakdown of rental income for the six months ended December 31, 2021 
and June 30, 2021 reported in the statements of comprehensive income is shown below. 
 

      December 31,   June 30,  
      2021   2021  
 
  Office     P 1,106,101,576 P 180,906,954 
  Commercial      45,839,766  6,715,759 
  Hotel      28,200,000  4,700,000 
  Parking      629,980  102,710 
  Advertising      185,294  - 
  Amortization of deferred credits     16,541,045  2,618,809 
 
        P 1,197,497,661 P 195,044,232 
 

Rental income from office, retail and advertising includes income from straight-line method 
of recognizing rental income amounting to P58.3 million and P12.4 million, for the six 
months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, respectively.   

 
Rental income also includes variable lease payments amounting to P8.2 million and               
P1.4 million for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, respectively, 
which do not depend on an index or a rate.   

 
 

12. COST OF SERVICES 

 
The following are the details of direct costs and expenses from rendering of services for the 
six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021: 

 
      December 31,   June 30,  
   Note   2021   2021  
 
  Outside services    P 79,955,624 P 9,308,668 
  Management fees  15.4   63,807,804  -  
  Utilities      54,410,175  4,370,148 
  Taxes and licenses     11,434,498  3,485,621 
  Repairs and maintenance     2,469,379  2,966,060 
  Miscellaneous     10,910,312  338,918 
 
        P 222,987,792 P 20,469,415 
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13. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 
Presented below are the details of other operating expenses. 
 
      December 31,   June 30,   December 31,  

      Note   2021   2021   2020  

 

 Outside services  15.5 P 3,376,257 P 1,100,342 P -  

 Taxes and licenses  2,967,914  17,017,937  10,201,820 

 Professional fees   1,069,812  444,500  77,000 

 Advertising and promotion  920,130  -   - 

 Office supplies   692,044  3,630  - 

 Salaries and employee benefits  197,218  37,500  -  

 Miscellaneous   407,537  157,240  -  

 

     P 9,630,912 P 18,761,149 P 10,278,820 

 
 

14. INCOME TAXES 
 

The components of tax expense (income) as reported in the statements of comprehensive 
income for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 (nil for the three 
months ended December 31, 2020) are as follows: 
 

      December 31,   June 30,  
      2021   2021  

 

  Current tax expense – 
  Final tax at 20%    P 1,588,771 P 115,727 
 

  Deferred tax expense (income) 
  related to origination and reversal 
  of temporary differences   (  101,168,723)  101,168,724 
 

       ( P 99,579,952) P 101,284,451 
 

A reconciliation of tax on pretax profit or loss computed at the applicable statutory rates to 
tax expense or income reported in the statement of comprehensive income for the six months 
ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 is as follows: 
 

      December 31,   June 30,  
      2021   2021  

 
  Tax on pretax profit at 25% P 478,659,059 P 106,697,720 
  Adjustment for income subjected 
  to lower income tax rate ( 410,548) (  28,931) 
  Application of unrecognized NOLCO   -   (  2,144,401) 
  Tax effects of: 
  Deductible expenses ( 280,417,757) (  3,205,301) 
  Reversal of deferred tax liabilities ( 101,168,724)   - 
  Non-taxable income ( 194,301,013) (  669,305) 
  Excess of optional standard deductions 
   (OSD) over itemized deductions ( 6,514,902)   - 
  Non-deductible expenses   4,573,933    634,669 
 
     (P 99,579,952)  P 101,284,451  
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The deferred tax liabilities as at June 30, 2021 relate to the following: 
 

  Fair value gains on investment properties P 60,148,095 
  Depreciation of investment properties  37,924,269 
  Rent income differential  3,096,360 
 
     P 101,168,724 
   

In 2021, the Company is subject to regular corporate income tax (RCIT) of 25% of net taxable 
income.  However, the Company did not recognize RCIT in 2021 since the Company 
reported zero net taxable income for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and June 30, 
2021.  On the other hand, the Company is in a tax loss position for the three months ended 
December 31, 2020 as the Company has not yet started commercial operations during such 
time; hence, there was no RCIT reported.   
 
The Company availed of tax-free incentives available under the REIT Act and no deferred 
taxes were recognized on temporary differences. 
 
The Company is not subject to the minimum corporate income being a REIT entity. 
 
The Company opted to claim OSD for the six months ended December 31, 2021 while the 
Company claimed itemized deductions in computing for its income tax due for the six 
months ended June 30, 2021 and for the three months ended December 31, 2020.  In 
addition, the Company’s dividend distribution can be claimed as a special deduction in 
computing for taxable income both under OSD and itemized deductions. 
 

In 2020, the Company incurred NOLCO amounting to P10.3 million, of which P8.6 million 
was claimed as a deduction from the Company’s taxable income for the period ended  
June 30, 2021.  The remaining NOLCO incurred in 2020, which can be claimed as a deduction 
from the future taxable income until 2025 in accordance with R.A. No. 11494, Bayanihan to 
Recover as One Act, amounted to P1.7 million as at June 30, 2021.  Deferred tax asset on 
NOLCO amounting to P0.4 million both as at December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 and  
P3.1 million as at December 31, 2020, respectively, was not recognized [see Note 3.2(c)].   
 

On March 26, 2021, R.A. No. 11534, Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises 
(CREATE) Act, amending certain provisions of the National Internal Revenue Code of 1997, 
as amended, was signed into law with veto on certain provisions and shall be effective              
15 days after its publication.  The CREATE Act has several provisions with retroactive effect 
beginning July 1, 2020.  The CREATE Act aims to lower certain corporate taxes and 
rationalize tax incentives given to certain taxpayers.  The CREATE Act has no impact on the 
Company’s financial statements. 

 
 

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Company’s related parties include the Parent Company and related parties under 
common ownership.  A summary of the Company’s transactions and outstanding balances 
with its related parties is presented in the succeeding page. 

  



- 26 -  
 

       Outstanding 
   Amount of Transaction    Receivable (Payable)  

   Related Party  December 31,  June 30,   December 31,  June 30,  
   Category       Notes   2021   2021   2021   2021  
    
  Parent Company 
   Property-for-share swap   6  P -  P 49,202,440,620 P -  P - 
   Purchase of properties   6   9,116,000,000  -   -   - 
   Rendering of services   15.1   73,776,308  12,296,051  10,897,960  1,556,851, 
   Advance rent   15.1  (  13,527,808 )  13,527,808   -   (  13,527,808 ) 
   Security deposits received  15.1  (  18,117,600 )  -  (  18,117,600 )   - 
   Security deposits paid   15.3    377,155   12,327,320   12,704,475    12,327,320  
   Accommodation of expenses  15.2    -   (  201,820)   -     -  
  
  Related parties 
   under common 
   ownership  
   Advance rent   15.1  (  96,529 )   8,713,747   ( 8,617,218) (  8,713,747 ) 
   Security deposits received  15.1    10,674,337   12,195,962  ( 22,870,299) (  12,195,962 ) 
   Rendering of services   15.1   61,122,501  9,938,898  21,192,835   3,655,623  
   Management services   15.4   63,807,804  -   ( 53,860,004 )   - 
  
  Key management  
   personnel –   
   Compensation   15.5   2,734,890  455,815   -     - 

 

15.1 Rendering of Services to Related Parties 
 

The Company leases some of its investment properties to Parent Company and other related 
parties under common ownership with rental payments mutually agreed generally before the 
commencement of the lease.  Most of the leases have terms ranging from 5 to 25 years, with 
renewal options, and include annual escalation rates of 5% to 10%, except for contingent 
rent.  The revenues earned from these related parties are included as part of Rental income 
under Revenues section in the statements of comprehensive income for the six months ended 
December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 (see Note 11).  The related outstanding receivables 
from these transactions, which are collectible on demand, unsecured and noninterest-bearing, 
are presented as part of Trade receivables under the Trade Receivables account in the 
statements of financial position (see Note 5).  Advanced rentals and security deposits relating 
to this transaction are presented under the current and non-current portion of Deposits and 
Other Liabilities account in the statements of financial position (see Note 9).   

 
15.2 Accommodation of Expenses 

 

In 2020, portion of the SEC registration fees amounting to P0.2 million was paid by the 
Parent Company on behalf of the Company.  Such amount is still outstanding as of December 
31, 2020 and is presented as Due to Parent Company in the 2020 statement of financial 
position.  This outstanding balance is unsecured, noninterest-bearing and is payable in cash 
on demand or through offsetting arrangement.  As of June 30, 2021, the outstanding balance 
was fully paid. 
 
15.3 Land Lease Agreement 

 

In 2021, the Company entered into a land lease agreement with MC over the land on which 
its investment properties stood for a period of 25 years, renewable for another 25 years, at 
the option of the Company, on terms and conditions mutually acceptable to the parties.  As 
consideration for the land lease, the Company shall pay MC rent equivalent to: (a) 2.5% of 
gross rental income for office, retail and commercial properties for the period July 1, 2023 
and until June 30 2025, and 5% thereafter; and, (b) 1.5% of gross rental income for hotel 
properties for the period July 1, 2023 and until June 30 2025, and 3% thereafter. 

 
Deposit paid by the Company from the land lease agreement was presented as Security 
deposit under Other Non-current Assets in the statements of financial position (see Note 7).  
This deposit will be refunded at the end of the lease term at its face value amounting to     
P55.0 million.   
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15.4 Management Services 
 

The fund management function of the Company is handled by MREIT Fund Managers, Inc., 
a subsidiary of MC, in exchange for a fee.  Management fee is payable annually equivalent to 
3.5% of the Company’s gross revenues but shall not exceed 1% of the net asset value of the 
properties under management. 
 
The operations and management of the properties and facilities of the Company are handled 
by MREIT Property Managers, Inc., a subsidiary of MC, in exchange for a fee.  Property 
management fee is payable quarterly equivalent to 2% of the Company’s gross revenues but 
shall not exceed 1% of the net asset value of the properties under management. 
 
The Company recognized a total of P63.8 million management fees for the six months ended 
December 31, 2021 (nil for the six months ended June 30, 2021), which is presented as part 
of Cost of Services in the statement of comprehensive income for the six months ended 
December 31, 2021.  The outstanding balance of P53.9 million as of December 31, 2021 is 
presented as part of Accounts payable under Accounts and Other Payables account in the 
statement of financial position as of December 31, 2021 (see Note 8).   

 

15.5 Key Management Personnel Compensation 
 

Key management personnel compensation pertains to payment for outsourced management 
services included within Outside services under Other Operating Expenses (see Note 13).  
There was no similar transaction for the three months ended December 31, 2020.   
 

 
16. EQUITY 

 

16.1 Capital Stock 
 

Capital stock consists of: 
 

      Shares   Amount  
        December 31,   June 30,   December 31   December 31,   June 30,   December 31,  
        2021   2021   2020   2021   2021   2020  

 
 Common shares 
  Authorized 
   Balance at beginning 
    of the period  5,000,000,000  50,000,000  50,000,000 P 5,000,000,000 P 5,000,000,000 P 5,000,000,000 
   Change in par value  -   4,050,000,000  -   -   -   -  
 
   Balance at end of 
    the period  5,000,000,000  5,000,000,000  5,000,000,000 P 5,000,000,000 P 5,000,000,000 P 5,000,000,000 
  
  Issued and outstanding 
   Balance at beginning 
    of the period  2,532,121,381  100,000  -  P 2,532,121,381 P 10,000,000 P -  
   Issuance  -   1,294,521,381  100,000  -   2,522,121,381  10,000,000 
   Change in par value  -   1,237,500,000  -   -   -   -  
 
   Balance at end of 
    the period  2,532,121,381  2,532,121,381  100,000 P 2,532,121,281 P 2,532,121,381 P 10,000,000 

 
On October 2, 2020, the Company was incorporated with a total authorized capital stock of 
P5,000,000,000 divided into 50,000,000 common shares with a P100 par value per share, of 
which P10,000,000 has been subscribed and paid. 
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On February 1, 2021, MC has subscribed to and paid for 12,400,000 shares with par value of 
P100 per share or a total of P1,240,000,000 (see Note 1). 
 
On April 7, 2021, majority of the members of the BOD and stockholders of MREIT 
approved the amendments to the Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of MREIT, which 
include, among others, the change in par value of common shares from P100 to P1, resulting 
in an increase in the number of authorized common shares from 50,000,000 to 5,000,000,000 
and subscribed common shares from 12,500,000 to 1,250,000,000.  On May 19, 2021, the 
Company obtained approval of the amendments from the SEC (see Note 1).    

 
On May 28, 2021, an individual stockholder subscribed and paid 1,000 common shares of 
the Company with par value of P1 per share or a total subscription price of P1,000. 

 
On June 2, 2021, on consummation of the Deed of Exchange of Property and Shares in 
relation to the Property-for-Share Swap transaction with MC, the Company issued 
1,282,120,381 common shares at par value of P1 per share (see Notes 1 and 6).  In addition, 
the Company recognized APIC amounting to P47,920,287,239, less shares issuance costs 
amounting to P12.8 million. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, there are 12,900 holders of at least one board lot of the listed 
shares, which closed at P19.70 per share as of that date. 
 
16.2 Dividends 

 

On October 25, 2021, the BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of P0.24 per share 
(P607.7 million) to stockholders on record as of November 9, 2021.  The dividends were 
declared out of the unrestricted retained earnings for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021 and 
earnings for the quarter ending September 30, 2021.  The cash dividends were paid on 
November 15, 2021. 
 
16.3 Distributable Income 
 
The computation of the distributable income of the Company as at December 31, 2021 is 
shown below. 
 
 Net income P 2,014,216,186 
 Fair value adjustment of investment property 
  resulting to gain (  702,000,000 ) 
 Unrealized gains or adjustments to income 
  as a result of certain transactions 
  accounted for under PFRS (  214,909,856 ) 
 Adjustments due to any prescribed accounting 

  standard which result to a loss   858,354 
 

 Distributable income  P 1,098,164,684 
 
REIT entities must distribute annually at least 90% of its distributable income as dividends 
to its shareholders not later than the last working day of the fifth month following the close 
of the fiscal year. 
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17. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE 
 

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share amounts were computed as follows: 
 
   December 31,     June 30,     December 31,   
   2021     2021     2020  
   (Six Months)     (Six Months)     (Three Months)  
 
  Net profit (loss) for the period  P 2,014,216,186   P 325,506,427  ( P 10,278,820 ) 
  Divided by weighted number 
   of outstanding common shares   2,532,121,381    2,532,121,381    10,000,000 
 
  Basic and diluted earnings (loss) 
   per share  P 0.80   P 0.13  ( P 1.03 ) 
 

The Company has no potential dilutive common shares as of December 31, 2021, June 30, 
2021 and December 31, 2020. 

 

 
18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 

18.1  Operating Lease Commitments – Company as a Lessor 
 
The Company is a lessor under several operating leases covering real estate properties for 
office and commercial use (see Note 6).  The future minimum lease receivable under these 
agreements as of December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 are shown below.   

 

      December 31,   June 30,  
      2021   2021  
 

  Within one year P 2,911,615,030 P 2,072,833,070 
  After one year but not more than 
   two years  2,876,435,530  1,913,175,479 
  After two years but not more than     
   three years  2,090,182,820  1,281,609,300 
  After three years but not more than 
   four years  1,424,419,672  927,994,622 
  After four years but not more than 
   five years  749,643,195  456,827,297 
  More than five years  2,946,449,745  2,321,048,522 
 

     P 12,998,745,992 P 8,973,488,290 
 

The Company is subject to risk incidental to the operation of its office and commercial 
properties, which include, among others, changes in market rental rates, inability to renew 
leases upon lease expiration, and inability to collect rent from tenants due to bankruptcy or 
insolvency of tenants.  Majority of the Company’s revenue from rental properties are derived 
from commercial and BPO-based tenants.  If the expected growth, particularly from  
BPO-based tenants, does not meet management’s expectations, or in the case of commercial 
tenants more stringent health measures are imposed resulting to further temporary or 
permanent closures of commercial establishments, the Company may not be able to lease their 
properties in a timely manner or collect rent at profitable rates.   
 
To mitigate these risks, the Company requires security deposits and advanced rentals 
representing three months’ and six months’ rent from office and commercial tenants, 
respectively (see Note 9).   
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18.2  Operating Lease Commitments – Company as a Lessee 
 
The Company entered into a land lease agreement with MC over the land on which its 
investment properties stood for a period of 25 years, renewable for another 25 years. 
(see Note 15.3).  Variable lease payments will commence on July 1, 2023.  The lease agreement 
do not contain any fixed lease payments.  In addition, the lease agreement involves payment 
for security deposit (see Note 7). 
  
18.3  Others 

 
There are commitments and contingent liabilities that may arise in the normal course of the 
Company’s operations, which are not reflected in the financial statements.  Management is 
of the opinion that losses, if any, from these commitments and contingencies will not have 
material effects on the Company’s financial statements. 

 
 

19. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
 
The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks in relation to its financial instruments. 
The Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities by category are summarized in  
Note 20.  The main types of risks are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.   
 
The Company’s risk management is coordinated with its parent company, in close 
coordination with the BOD, and focuses on actively securing the Company’s short to 
medium-term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial risks. 
 
The Company does not engage in trading of financial assets for speculative purposes.  The 
relevant financial risks to which the Company is exposed are discussed below and in the 
succeeding pages. 
 
19.1 Market Risk 

 
As of December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, the Company is exposed to market risk through 
its cash in banks, which are subject to changes in market interest rates.  However, 
management believes that the related interest rate risk exposure is not significant.  All other 
financial assets and financial liabilities are either noninterest-bearing or subject to fixed 
interest rates. 

 
19.2 Credit Risk  

 

The Company’s credit risk is attributable to trade and other receivables and other financial 
assets.  The Company maintains defined credit policies and continuously monitors defaults 
of customers and other counterparties, identified either individually or by group, and 
incorporate this information into its credit risk controls.  Where available at a reasonable cost, 
external credit ratings and/or reports on customers and other counterparties are obtained 
and used.  The Company’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy counterparties.  In 
addition, for trade receivables, security deposits and advance payments are received to 
mitigate credit risk. 
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The maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrying amount of the financial 
assets as shown in the statement of financial position (or in the detailed analysis provided in 
the notes to financial statements), as summarized below.  
 

      December 31,   June 30,  
  Notes   2021   2021  

 
  Cash and cash equivalents 4 P 1,333,805,607 P 2,308,916,531 
  Trade and other receivables 5  144,677,676  21,639,741 
  Security deposit 7  12,704,475  12,327,320 
 
     P 1,491,187,758 P 2,342,883,592 
 

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible since the 
counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.  Included in 
the cash and cash equivalents are cash in banks and short-term placements which are 
insured by the Philippine Deposit Insurance Corporation up to a maximum of  
P0.5 million for every depositor per banking institution. 

 
(b) Trade and Other Receivables  
 

The Company applies the simplified approach in measuring ECL which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade and other receivables.  To measure the expected 
credit losses, trade and other receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due (age buckets).  The other receivables relate to 
receivables from third parties other than trade receivables and have substantially the same 
risk characteristics as the trade receivables.  The Company has therefore concluded that 
the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss 
rates for the other assets. 

 
The Company has just started its operation during the current period; hence, no historical 
information is available for the Company.  In addition, management considers the ECL 
on the Company’s trade and other receivables to be negligible taking into consideration 
the counterparties’ ability to repay at the reporting date. 
 
Furthermore, the Company considers credit enhancements in determining the expected 
credit loss.  Trade receivables are collateralized by advance rental and security deposits 
received from lessees.   

 
The estimated fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against trade 
and other receivables as of December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 is presented below. 

 
      Gross   Fair     

      Maximum   Value of   Net 

      Exposure   Collaterals   Exposure  

 

   As of December 31, 2021 P 144,677,676 P 1,225,744,536 P -  

 

   As of June 30, 2021 P 21,639,741 P 814,452,353 P -  
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(c) Security Deposit 
 

The credit risk for security deposit is considered negligible as the Company has ongoing 
lease agreement with the counterparty and the latter is considered to be with sound 
financial condition and sufficient liquidity.  The security deposit can also be applied 
against future rental payments in cases of default. 

 

19.3 Liquidity Risk 
 
The Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing 
payments for long-term financial liabilities as well as cash outflows due in a day-to-day 
business.  Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day and  
week-to-week, as well as on the basis of a rolling 30-day projection.  Long-term needs for a 
6-month and one-year period are identified monthly. 
 
The Company maintains cash to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 60-day periods.  
Excess cash is invested in time deposits, or short-term marketable securities. 
 
As at December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, the Company’s financial liabilities have 
contractual maturities which are presented below. 

 
        Within   1 to 5   More than  
         1 Year   Years   5 Years  
 
   December 31, 2021 
 Interest-bearing loan P 202,226,142 P 1,062,378,362 P 8,558,008,771 
 Security deposits  80,283,620  624,904,157  81,250,993 
 Accounts payable  84,743,687  -   - 
 Accrued expenses  54,791,622  -   -  
 
  P 422,045,071 P 1,687,282,519 P 8,639,259,764 
 
   June 30, 2021 
 Security deposits P 12,163,230 P 475,158,733 P 115,724,527 
 Accrued expenses  55,497,840  -   -  
 
       P  67,661,070 P 475,158,733 P 115.724,527 

 
The above contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ from the 
carrying values of the liabilities at the end of the reporting periods. 
 
 

20. CATEGORIES, FAIR VALUES AND OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 

20.1 Carrying Amounts and Fair Value by Category 
 

The carrying values and fair values of the categories of financial assets and financial  
liabilities presented in the statements of financial position are shown below and in the 
succeeding page. 

 

          December 31, 2021   June 30, 2021  
       Notes   Carrying Values   Fair Values   Carrying Values   Fair Values  

 

  Financial assets 
  Financial assets at 
   amortized cost: 
   Cash and cash equivalents 4 P 1,333,805,607 P 1,333,805,607 P 2,308,916,531 P 2,308,916,531 
   Trade and other receivables 5  144,677,676  144,677,676  21,639,741  21,639,741 
   Security deposit  7  12,704,475  14,998,475  12,327,320  12,443,514 
 

        P 1,491,187,758 P  1,493,481,758 P 2,342,883,592 P 2,342,999,786 
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          December 31, 2021   June 30, 2021  
       Notes   Carrying Values   Fair Values   Carrying Values   Fair Values  
 

 Financial liabilities 
  Financial liabilities at 
   amortized cost:             
   Interest-bearing loan 10 P 7,195,789,259 P 7,195,789,259 P -  P -  
   Security deposits  9  675,215,622  755,115,600  507,472,851  507,990,352 
   Accounts payable  8  84,743,687  84,743,687  -   - 
   Accrued expenses  8  54,791,622  54,791,622  55,497,840  55,497,840 
   Interest payable  8  7,995,219  7,995,219  -   -  
 

        P 8,018,535,409 P  8,098,435,387 P 562,970,691 P 563,488,192 

 
See Note 2.3 for the description of the accounting policies for each category of financial 
instruments.  A description of the Company’s risk management objectives and policies for 
financial instruments is provided in Note 19. 
  
20.2 Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

 
Except for the offsetting of rental receivables and rental deposits arising from the normal 
course of the Company's leasing activities, the Company has not set off financial instruments 
and do not have relevant offsetting arrangements.  Currently, all other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are settled on a gross basis; however, each party to the financial instrument 
(particularly related parties) will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in 
the event of default of the other party through approval by both parties’ BOD and 
shareholders.  As such, the Company’s outstanding receivables from and payables to the same 
related parties can be potentially offset to the extent of their corresponding outstanding 
balances.   

 
 

21. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURE 
 

21.1 Fair Value Hierarchy 
 

In accordance with PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, the fair value of financial assets and 
financial liabilities and non-financial assets which are measured at fair value on a recurring or 
non-recurring basis and those assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for which 
fair value is disclosed in accordance with other relevant PFRS, are categorized into three levels 
based on the significance of inputs used to measure the fair value.  The fair value hierarchy 
has the following levels: 
 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that an entity can access at the measurement date; 

 

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); 
and, 

 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).  

 
The level within which the asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest 
level of significant input to the fair value measurement. 

 
For purposes of determining the market value at Level 1, a market is regarded as active if 
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 
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21.2 Financial Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost for which Fair Value is 
Disclosed  

 
The Company’s financial assets which are not measured at fair value in the statements of 
financial position but for which fair value is disclosed include cash and cash equivalents, 
which are categorized as Level 1, and trade and other receivables and security deposit, which 
are categorized as Level 3.  Financial liabilities which are not measured at fair value but for 
which fair value is disclosed pertain to security deposits, accrued expenses and due to parent 
company, which are categorized under Level 3.  
 
For financial assets with fair values included in Level 1, management considers that the 
carrying amounts of these financial instruments approximate their fair values due to their 
short-term duration. 
 
The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included in Level 3, which are 
not traded in an active market, are determined based on the expected cash flows of the 
underlying net asset or liability based on the instrument where the significant inputs required 
to determine the fair value of such instruments are not based on observable market data. 

 
21.3 Fair Value Measurement of Investment Properties  

 
As of December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, the Company’s investment properties 
amounting to P59.3 billion and P49.4 billion, respectively, are classified under Level 3 of the 
hierarchy of fair value measurements. 

 
The fair values of the Company’s investment properties (see Note 6) are determined on the 
basis of the appraisals performed by Santos Knight Frank, Inc., an independent appraiser 
with appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of similar properties in 
the relevant locations.  To some extent, the valuation process was conducted by the appraiser 
in discussion with the Company’s management with respect to the determination of the 
inputs such as the size, age, and condition of the properties (buildings), and the comparable 
prices in the corresponding property location.  In estimating the fair value of these properties, 
management takes into account the market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits 
by using the assets in their highest and best use.  Based on management assessment, the best 
use of the Company’s investment property is its current use. 

 

Fair value as determined by independent appraisers are based on the Income Approach.  
Under Income Approach, the fair value of an asset is measured by calculating the present 
value of its economic benefits by discounting expected cash flows at a rate of return that 
compensates the risks associated with the particular investment.  The most common 
approach in valuing future economic benefits of a projected income stream is the discounted 
cash flows model.  This valuation process of this model consists of the following:  
(a) estimation of the revenues generated; (b) estimation of the costs expenses related to the 
operations of the development; (c) estimation of an appropriate discount rate; and  
(d) discounting process using an appropriate discount rate to arrive at an indicative fair value.  
The most significant unobservable inputs used in this model are the estimated expected future 
annual cash inflows and outgoing expenses, which runs for an average period of 10 years.  
Cash inflows include the contractual rents that are based on existing lease contracts, as 
presented in Note 18.1, with an assumption of renewal for a period of 5 years and an annual 
escalation of 5% until the end of the term.  Aside from rentals, cash inflows also include 
income from dues with 15% of the average expected costs are assumed to be recovered.  The 
costs and expenses are assumed to be at an average of 10% to 15% of the total net revenues.  
In addition, the discount rates and terminal growth rates used range from 4.5% to 9%.  A 
reasonably possible change in the inputs to different amounts or rates would not cause the 
fair values of the investment properties to increase or decrease significantly.  
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Also, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value hierarchy. 
 
 

22. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 
 

The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure , 
i.e., equity and liabilities.  The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustment 
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying 
assets.  The Company’s total liabilities and total equity are presented below. 
 

      December 31,   June 30,  
      2021   2021  
 

  Total liabilities    P 8,703,865,485 P 1,074,858,598 
  Total equity     52,161,322,078   50,754,815,023 
 

Under REIT Act, the Company is subject to external capital requirement to have a minimum 
paid-up capital of P300.0 million. 

 
 

23. OPERATING SEGMENT 
 

The Company has determined that it operates as one operating segment.  The Company’s only 
income-generating activity is the lease of its buildings which is the measure used by the Chief 
Operating Decision Maker in allocating resources. 
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Report of Independent Auditors 

to Accompany Supplementary  

Information Required by the Securities  

and Exchange Commission Filed  
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders 

MREIT, Inc. 

(A Subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation) 

(Formerly Megaworld Holdings, Inc.) 

18th Floor, Alliance Global Tower 

36th Street cor. 11th Avenue 

Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City 
 

 

We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the financial statements 

of MREIT, Inc. (the Company) as at December 31, 2021 and for the six months then ended, and 

have issued our report thereon dated February 24, 2022.  Our audits were made for the purpose 

of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole.  The applicable 

supplementary information (see List of Supplementary Information) is presented for purposes of 

additional analysis in compliance with the requirements of the Revised Securities Regulation 

Code Rule 68 and is not a required part of the basic financial statements prepared in 

accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.  Such supplementary information is 

the responsibility of the Company’s management.  The supplementary information has been 

subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, 

in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements 

taken as a whole. 
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The Company does not have financial assets classified under fair value through other comprehensive income, 

fair value through profit or loss and held to maturity as of December 31, 2021.

MREIT, Inc.

Schedule A - Financial Assets 

December 31, 2021

 - 1 - 



The Company does not have amounts receivable from directors, officers, employees, related parties and principal

stockholders (other than related parties) above P1 million or 1% of total assets as of December 31, 2021.

MREIT, Inc.

Schedule B - Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and Principal Stockholders

 (Other than Related Parties)

December 31, 2021

 - 2 - 



Name and 
Designation of 

Debtor

Balance at 
Beginning of 

Period
Additions

Amounts 
Collected

Amounts 
Written Off

Current Not Current
Balance at End 

of Period

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

MREIT, Inc.

Schedule C - Amounts Receivable/ Payable from/ to Related Parties which are Eliminated 

During the Consolidation of Financial Statements

December 31, 2021

Deductions

 - 3 - 



Title of Issue and Type of 
Obligation

Amount Authorized 
by Indenture

Amount shown under 
Caption"Current 

Portion of Long-term 
Debt" in related 
Balance Sheet

Amount shown under 
Caption"Long-term 
Debt" in related 
Balance Sheet

Long -term loan (Domestic)  7,250,000,000  P                                           -     P              7,195,789,259  

MREIT, Inc.

Schedule D - Long-Term Debt

December 31, 2021

 - 4 - 

P



Name of Related Party Balance at Beginning of Period Balance at End of Period

N/A N/A N/A

MREIT, Inc.

Schedule E - Indebtedness to Related Parties (Long-term Loans from Related Companies)

December 31, 2021

 - 5 - 



Name of Issuing Entity of 
Securities Guaranteed by the 

Company for which this 
Statement is Filed

Title of Issue of Each Class 
of Securities Guaranteed

Total Amount Guaranteed 
and Outstanding

Amount Owned by Person 
for which Statement is Filed

Nature of Guarantee

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

MREIT, Inc.

Schedule F - Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers

December 31, 2021

 - 6 - 



Title of Issue
Number of Shares 

Authorized

Number of Shares 
Issued and Outstanding 

as shown under the 
related Balance Sheet 

Caption

Number of Shares 
Reserved for Options, 
Warrants, Conversion 

and other Rights

Related Parties
Directors, Officers 
and Employees

Others

Common shares - P1 par value 5,000,000,000              2,532,121,381                   -                                1,572,282,881             10,001,000                949,837,500               

MREIT, Inc.

Schedule G - Capital Stock

December 31, 2021

Number of Shares Held by

- 7 -



Unappropriated Retained Earnings at Beginning of the Period   P                                315,227,607  

Prior Period Outstanding Reconciling Items:

Fair value adjustments of investment properties ( P                              240,592,380 )

Deferred tax expense  101,168,724                                  

PFRS 16 straight-line adjustment on rental income 12,385,440 )(                                   

Rent income on amortization of deferred credits 2,618,809 )(                                     

Interest expense on amortization of security deposit (liability)  2,403,391                                      

Rent expense on amortization of deferred charges  135,284                                        

Interest income on amortization of security deposit (asset) 58,413 )(                                          151,947,643 )(                                   

Unappropriated Retained Earnings Available for 

Dividend Declaration at Beginning of Period, as Adjusted  163,279,964                                   

Net Profit Realized during the period

Net profit per audited financial statements  2,014,216,186                                

Non-actual/unrealized income

Fair value adjustments of investment properties 702,000,000 )(                                 

Deferred tax income 101,168,724 )(                                 

PFRS 16 straight-line adjustment on rental income 58,285,853 )(                                   

Loan transaction costs 54,210,741 )(                                   

Rent income on amortization of deferred credits 16,541,045 )(                                   

Interest expense on amortization of security deposit (liability)  15,673,662                                    

Rent expense on amortization of deferred charges  858,354                                        

Interest income on amortization of security deposit (asset) (                                        377,155 ) 916,051,502 )(                                   

Dividends declared during the period 607,709,131 )(                                   

Unappropriated Retained Earnings Available for 

Dividend Declaration at End of Period  653,735,517  P                              

For the Six Months Ended December 31, 2021

MREIT, INC.

(A Subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation)
18th Floor, Alliance Global Tower,

36th Street cor. 11th Avenue, Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City

Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration

(Formerly Megaworld Holdings, Inc.)



ALLIANCE GLOBAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Map Showing the Relationship Between Alliance Global Group, Inc.

       and its Related Parties

December 31, 2021

Legend

(1) Subsidiary A Megaworld Corporation F Manila Bayshore Property Holdings, Inc. K Megaworld Global Estates, Inc. P Sonoma Premier Land, Inc.

(2) Associate B Adams Properties, Inc. G Westside City Resorts World, Inc. L Megaworld Central Properties, Inc. Q Gilmore Property Marketing Associates, Inc.

(3) Jointly Controlled Entity C First Centro, Inc. H Townsquare Development, Inc. M Shiok Success International, Ltd. R Emperador Inc.

D Newtown Land Partners, Inc. I Megaworld Resort Estates, Inc. N Dew Dreams International, Ltd. S Empire East Land Holdings, Inc.

E Travellers International Hotel Group, Inc. J Twin Lakes Corporation O Southwoods Mall, Inc. T Suntrust Home Developers, Inc.

Alliance Global Group, Inc.
(Parent Company)

Emperador, Inc. and 
Subsidiaries****

(1)

M

N

First Centro, Inc.
(1)

Megaworld Corporation and 
Subsidiaries*

(1)

C

D

Adams Properties, Inc.
(1)

Megaworld Resort Estates, Inc.
(1)

A

Greenspring Investment 
Holdings Properties, Ltd.

(1)

Venezia Universal, Ltd.
(1)

Travellers Group, Ltd.
(1)

Oceanic Realty Group Int'l, Inc.
(1)

ERA Real Estate Exchange, Inc.
(1)

A

E

G

P

A

C

B
Westside City Resorts World, Inc.

(1)

Golden Arches Development, 
Inc. and Subsidiaries***

(1)

Townsquare Development, Inc.
(1)

A

C

B

Alliance Global Group Cayman 
Islands, Inc.

(1)

Alliance Global Brands, Inc.
(1)

Travellers International Hotel 
Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries**

(1)

Great American Foods, Inc.
(1)

McKester Pik-Nik International, 
Ltd.
(1)

New Town Land Partners, Inc.
(1)

A

Shiok Success International, Ltd.
(1)

Dew Dreams International, Ltd.
(1)

R

Purple Flamingos Amusement 
and Leisure Corporation

(1)

Red Falcon Amusement and 
Leisure Corporation

(1)

Q

Golden Panda-ATI Realty 
Corporation

(1)

Infracorp Development, Inc..
(1)

E

Shiok Success International, Inc.
(1)

Dew Dreams International, Inc.
(1)

Boracay Newcoast Resorts, Inc.
(1)

Pacific Coast Megacity, Inc..
(1)

S



ALLIANCE GLOBAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Map Showing the Relationship Between Alliance Global Group, Inc.

       and Megaworld Corporation Group

December 31, 2021

Legend

Relationship with Megaworld Corporation

(1) Subsidiary

(2) Associate

(3) Jointly Controlled Entity

A Megaworld Corporation E Travellers International Hotel Group, Inc. I Megaworld Resort Estates, Inc. M Shiok Success International, Ltd. Q Gilmore Property Marketing Associates, Inc.

B Adams Properties, Inc. F Manila Bayshore Property Holdings, Inc. J Twin Lakes Corporation N Dew Dreams International, Ltd. R Emperador Inc.

C First Centro, Inc. G Westside City Resorts World, Inc. K Megaworld Global Estates, Inc. O Southwoods Mall, Inc. S Empire East Land Holdings, Inc.

D Newtown Land Partners, Inc. H Townsquare Development, Inc. L Megaworld Central Properties, Inc. P Sonoma Premier Land, Inc. T Suntrust Home Developers, Inc.

Alliance Global Group, Inc.
(Parent Company)

Megaworld Corporation(I)

Arcovia Properties, Inc.
(1)

Palm Tree Holdings 
Development Corporation

(2)

Megaworld Cayman Islands, Inc.
(1)

Eastwood Cyber One
Corporation

(1)

Megaworld Cebu Properties, 
Inc.
(1)

Mactan Oceanview Properties 
and Holdings, Inc.

(1)

Oceantown Properties, Inc.
(1)

Megaworld Newport Property 
Holdings, Inc.

(1)

Megaworld Globus Asia, Inc.
(1)

Piedmont Property Ventures, 
Inc.
(1)

Stonehaven Land, Inc.
(1)

Streamwood Property, Inc.
(1)

Megaworld-Daewoo 
Corporation

(1)

Suntrust Home Developers, Inc.
(2)

Suntrust Properties, Inc.
(1)

Integrated Town Management 
Corporation

(1)

Richmonde Hotel Group 
International Ltd.

(1)

Empire East Land Holdings, 
Inc.
(1)

Valle Verde Properties, Inc.
(1)

Empire East Communities, Inc.
(1)

Sonoma Premier Land, Inc.
(1)

Gilmore Property Marketing 
Associates, Inc.

(1)

Laguna BelAir Science School, 
Inc.
(1)

Eastwood Property Holdings, 
Inc.
(1)

Sherman Oak Holdings, Inc.
(1)

Megaworld Central Properties, 
Inc.
(1)

E G I J

C H

A

K L

San Vicente Coast, Inc.
(1)

Luxury Global Hotels and 
Leisures,  Inc.

(1)

Landmark Seaside Properties, 
Inc..
(1)

Suntrust One Shanata,  Inc.
(1)

Global One Integrated Business 
Services Inc.

(1)

Suntrust Two Shanata, Inc.
(1)

Manila Bayshore Property 
Holdings, Inc.

(1)

Bonifacio West Development 
Corporation

(2)

Pacific Coast Mega City, Inc.
(1)

20th Century Nylon Shirt, Inc.
(1)

Davao Park District Holdings, 
Inc.
(1)

Belmont Newport Luxury 
Hotels, Inc.

(1)

Suntrust Ecotown Developers, 
Inc.
(1)

SWC Project Management 
Limited.

(2)

WC Project Management 
Limited

(2)

Governor's Hills Science School, 
Inc.
(1)

Sunrays Property Management, 
Inc.
(1)

Newtown Commercial Center 
Administration, Inc.

(1)

Iloilo Center Mall 
Administration, Inc.

(1)

Luxury Global Malls, Inc.
(1) E

Paseo Center Building 
Administration, Inc.

(1)

La Fuerza, Inc.
(1)

City Walk Building 
Adminstration, Inc.

(1)

Maple Grove Land, Inc.
(1)

Forbestown Commercial Center 
Administration, Inc.

(1)

Soho Cafe Restaurant Group, 
Inc.
(1)

Uptown Commercial Center 
Administration, Inc.

(1)

Global-Estate Resorts, Inc. and 
Subsidiaries

(1)

J

O

K

Valley Peaks Property 
Management, Inc.

(1)

Prestige Hotels and Resorts, Inc.
(1)

Global One Hotel Group, Inc.
(1)

Megaword Bacolod Properties, 
Inc.
(1)

San Lorenzo Place Commercial 
Center Administration, Inc. (1)

Northwin Properties, Inc.
(1)

Hotel Lucky Chinatown, Inc.
(1)

Megaworld Land, Inc.
(1)

Stateland, Inc.
(1)

Megaworld Capital Town, Inc.
(1)

Savoy Hotel Manila, Inc.
(1)

Southwoods Lifestyle Mall 
Management, Inc.

(1)

Savoy Hotel Mactan, Inc.
(1)

Kingsford Hotel Manila, Inc.
(1)

Agile Digital Ventures, Inc.
(1)

MREIT Fund Managers, Inc.
(1)

MREIT Property Managers, Inc.
(1)

MREIT, Inc.
(1)

O



ALLIANCE GLOBAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Map Showing the Relationship Between Alliance Global Group, Inc.

       and Travellers Group

December 31, 2021

Legend

Relationship with Travellers International Hotel Group, Inc.

(1) Subsidiary

(2) Associate

(3) Jointly Controlled Entity

A MegaworldCorporation J Twin Lakes Corporation

B Adams Properties, Inc. K Megaworld Global Estates, Inc.

C First Centro, Inc. L Megaworld Central Properties, Inc.

D Newtown Land Partners, Inc. M Shiok Success International, Ltd.

E Travellers International Hotel Group, Inc. N Dew Dreams International, Ltd.

F Manila Bayshore Property Holdings, Inc. O Southwoods Mall, Inc.

G Westside City Resorts World, Inc. P Sonoma Premier Land, Inc.

H Townsquare Development, Inc. Q Gilmore Property Marketing Associates, Inc.

I Megaworld Resort Estates, Inc. R Emperador Inc.

S Empire East Land Holdings, Inc. T Suntrust Home Developers, Inc.

Alliance Global Group, Inc.
(Parent Company)

Travellers International Hotel 
Group, Inc.(II)

Netdeals, Inc.
(1)

Grand Integrated Hotels and 
Recreation, Inc.

(1)

Royal Bayshore Hotels and 
Amusement, Inc.

(1)

Entertainment City Integrated Resorts and 
Leisure, Inc.

(1)

Grand Services, Inc.
(1)

Lucky Star Hotels and Recreation, Inc.
(1)

APEC Assets Limited
(1)

Bright Leisure Management, Inc.
(1)

Newport Star Lifestyle, Inc.
(1)

Bright Pelican Leisure and 
Recreation, Inc.

(1)

Grand Venture Management Services, Inc.
(1)

F

Deluxe Hotels and Recreation, Inc.
(1)

Westside City Resorts 
World, Inc.

(1)

A CB

Purple Flamingos Amusement 
and Leisure Corporation

(1)

Red Falcon Amusement and Leisure 
Corporation

(1)

Agile Fox Amusement and Leisure 
Corporation

(1)

Aquamarine Delphinium 
Leisure Corporation

(1)

Coral Primrose Leisure and 
Recreation Corporation

(1)

Lucky Panther Amusement and Leisure 
Corporation

(1)

Lumimescent Vertex Hotels and 
Leisure Corporation

(1)

Magenta Centaurus Amusement 
and Leisure Corporation (1)

Sapphire Carnation Leisure and Recreation 
Corporation

(1)

Scarlet Milky Way Amusement 
and Leisure Corporation

(1)

Sparkling Summit Hotels and Leisure 
Corporation

(1)

Valiant Leopard Amusement and 
Leisure Corporation

(1)

Vermillion Triangulum 
Amusement and Leisure 

Corporation (1)

Front Row Theatre Management, Inc
(3)

Golden Peak Leisure and Recreation, Inc.
(1)

Westside Theater, Inc.
(1)

FHTC Entertainment and Production, Inc.
(1)

Brilliant Apex Hotels and Leisure 
Corporation

(1)

Majestic Sunrise Leisure and 
Recreation, Inc.

(1)

Captain View Group Limited
(1)



ALLIANCE GLOBAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Map Showing the Relationship Between Alliance Global Group, Inc.

       and Golden Arches Development Corporation Group

December 31, 2021

Legend

Relationship with Golden Arches Development Corporation

(1) Subsidiary

(2) Associate

(3) Jointly Controlled Entity

A MegaworldCorporation J Twin Lakes Corporation

B Adams Properties, Inc. K Megaworld Global Estates, Inc.

C First Centro, Inc. L Megaworld Central Properties, Inc.

D Newtown Land Partners, Inc. M Shiok Success International, Ltd.

E Travellers International Hotel Group, Inc. N Dew Dreams International, Ltd.

F Manila Bayshore Property Holdings, Inc. O Southwoods Mall, Inc.

G Westside City Resorts World, Inc. P Sonoma Premier Land, Inc.

H Townsquare Development, Inc. Q Gilmore Property Marketing Associates, Inc.

I Megaworld Resort Estates, Inc. R Emperador Inc.

S Empire East Land Holdings, Inc. T Suntrust Home Developers, Inc.

Alliance Global Group, Inc.
(Parent Company)

Golden Arches Development 
Corp. (III)

Clark Mac Enterprises, Inc.
(1)

First Golden Laoag Ventures
(1)

Golden Laoag Foods 
Corporation

(1)

Davao City Food Industries, Inc.
(1)

Golden Arches Realty, Corp.
(1)

McDonald's Puregold Taguig
(1)

Golden City Food Industries, 
Inc.
(1)

McDonald's Bonifacio Global 
City
(1)

Advance Food Concepts Manufacturing, Inc.
(1)

Red Asian Food Solutions
(1)

McDonald's Anonas City Center
(1)

Molino First Golden Foods, Inc.
(1)

GY Alliance Concepts, Inc.
(1)



ALLIANCE GLOBAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Map Showing the Relationship Between and

       Among Megaworld and Global Estate Resorts Inc. Group

December 31, 2021

Legend

(1) Subsidiary

(2) Associate

(3) Jointly Controlled Entity

A MegaworldCorporation J Twin Lakes Corporation

B Adams Properties, Inc. K Megaworld Global Estates, Inc.

C First Centro, Inc. L Megaworld Central Properties, Inc.

D Newtown Land Partners, Inc. M Shiok Success International, Ltd.

E Travellers International Hotel Group, Inc. N Dew Dreams International, Ltd.

F Manila Bayshore Property Holdings, Inc. O Southwoods Mall, Inc.

G Westside City Resorts World, Inc. P Sonoma Premier Land, Inc.

H Townsquare Development, Inc. Q Gilmore Property Marketing Associates, Inc.

I Megaworld Resort Estates, Inc. R Emperador Inc.

S Empire East Land Holdings, Inc. T Suntrust Home Developers, Inc.

Megaworld Corporation

Global Estate Resorts, Inc.
(1)

Novo Sierra Holdings, Corp.
(1)

Fil-Estate Urban Development, 
Inc.
(1)

Fil-Estate Realty and Sales Associates, Inc.
(2)

Oceanfront Properties, Inc.
(1)

Megaworld Global Estates, Inc.
(1)

Fil-Estate Network, Inc.
(2)

File-Estate Sales, Inc.
(2)

Fil-Estate Realty Corporation
(2)

Nasugbu Properties, Inc.
(2)

Twin Lakes Corporation
(1)

Fil-Estate Golf and 
Development, Inc.

(1)

Golforce Inc.
(1)

Southwoods Ecocentrum Corp.
(1)

Philippine Acquatic Leisure Corp.
(1)

Fil-Estate Properties, Inc.
(1)

Aklan Holdings, Inc.
(1)

Pioneer L-5 Realty Corporation
(1)

Blue Sky Airways, Inc..
(1)

Prime Airways, Inc.
(1)

Fil-Estate Subic Development 
Corp.
(1)

Sto. Domingo Place 
Development Corporation

(1)

Fil-Power Concrete Blocks Corporation
(1)

Golden Sun Airways, Inc.
(1)

Fil-Power Construction Equipment Leasing 
Corp.
(1)

Fil-Estate Industrial Park.
(1)

La Compaña De Sta. Barbara, 
Inc.
(1)

Sherwood Hills Development, Inc.
(1)

MCX Corporation
(1)

Boracay Newcoast Hotel Group, Inc.
(2)

J

A

A

Global Homes and Communities, 
Inc.
(1)

Southwoods Mall, Inc.
(1) A

Elite Communities Property Services, 
Inc.
(1)

Twin Lakes Hotel, Inc.
(1)

Savoy Hotel Boracay, Inc.
(1)

Belmont Hotel Boracay, Inc.
(1)



ALLIANCE GLOBAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Map Showing the Relationship Between Alliance Global Group, Inc.

       and Emperador Group

December 31, 2021

Legend

Relationship with Emperador Inc.

(1) Subsidiary (100%)

(2) Subsidiary (50%)

(3) Subsidiary (51%)

(4) Jointly Controlled Entity

Alliance Global Group, Inc.
(Parent Company)

Emperador Inc. (IV)

Emperador Distillers, Inc.
(1)

Emperador International Ltd.
(1)

Anglo Watsons Glass, Inc.
(1)

The Bar Beverage, Inc.
(1)

Emperador Asia Pte Ltd.
(1)

Grupo Emperador Spain, S.A.U.
(1)

Bodega Las Copas S.L.
(4)

Bodega San Bruno, S.L.
(1)

Alcoholera de la Mancha 
Vinicola, S.A.U.

(1)

Viñedos del Rio Tajo, S.L.U.
(1)

Emperador UK Limited
(1)

Emperador Holdings (GB) 
Limited

(1)

Whyte and Mackay Group 
Limited

(1)

Cocos Vodka Distillers 
Philippines, Inc.

(1)

Emperador Europe SARL
(1)

Whyte and Mackay Limited
(1)

Whyte and Mackay Warehousing 
Ltd.
(1)

Emperador Gestion S.L.
(1)

Tradewind Estates, Inc.
(1)

Alcazar De Bana Holdings 
Company, Inc.

(1)

ProGreen Agricorp., Inc.
(1)

South Point Science Park, Inc.
(1)

Bodegas Fundador S.L.U.
(1)

Zabana Rum Company, Inc.
(1)

Whyte and Mackay Americas Ltd, 
LLC
(1)

Harvey's Cellars S.L.U.
(Formerly Destilados de la Mancha 

S.L.)

Domecq Bodega Las Copas, S.L.
(2)

Pedro Domecq S.A. de C.V.
(2)

Domecq Distribucion de 
Bebidas S.A. de C.V.

(2)

BoozyLife, Inc.
(3)

Whyte and Mackay Global 
Limited

(1)

Stillman Spirits, S.L.
(1)
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Report of Independent Auditors 

on Components of   

Financial Soundness Indicator 
 

 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 

MREIT, Inc. 

(A Subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation) 

(Formerly Megaworld Holdings, Inc.) 

18th Floor, Alliance Global Tower 

36th Street cor. 11th Avenue 

Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City 
 
 

We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the financial statements of 

MREIT, Inc. (the Company) as at December 31, 2021 and for the six months then ended, and 

have issued our report thereon dated February 24, 2022.  Our audits were made for the purpose 

of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole.  The Supplementary 

Schedule on Financial Soundness Indicators, including their definitions, formulas, calculation, 

and their appropriateness or usefulness to the intended users, are the responsibility of the 

Company’s management.  These financial soundness indicators are not measures of operating 

performance defined by Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) and may not be 

comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.  This schedule is 

presented for the purpose of complying with the Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 

issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is not a required part of the basic 

financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS.  The components of these financial 

soundness indicators have been traced to the Company’s financial statements as at  

December 31, 2021 and for the six months then ended and no material exceptions were noted. 

 
 

 PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO  
 
 
 
 
 

 By: Renan A. Piamonte 
  Partner 
 
  CPA Reg. No. 0107805 
  TIN 221-843-037 
  PTR No. 8852342, January 3, 2022, Makati City 
  SEC Group A Accreditation 
   Partner - No. 107805-SEC (until Dec. 31, 2023) 
   Firm - No. 0002 (until Dec. 31, 2024) 
  BIR AN 08-002511-037-2019 (until Sept. 4, 2022) 
  Firm’s BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0002 (until Aug. 27, 2024) 

 
 
       February 24, 2022 



MREIT, INC.

SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS

For the six months ended December 31, 2021*

Ratio Formula
December 31, 2021

(Six Months)

June 30, 2021

(Six Months)

December 31, 2020

(Three Months)

Current ratio Current assets / Current liabilities 3.43 9.51 0.03

Acid test ratio Quick assets / Current liabilities (Quick assets include cash and current portion of 

trade receivables - net)

3.27 9.51 0.00

Solvency ratio EBITDA / Total debt (Total debt includes interest bearing loans and borrowings 

and bonds and notes payable )**

0.27 N/A N/A

Debt-to-equity ratio Total debt / Total stockholders' equity (Total debt includes interest bearing loans 

and borrowings and bonds and notes payable )**

0.14 N/A N/A

Asset-to-equity ratio Total assets / Total stockholders' equity 1.17 1.02 -0.03

Interest rate coverage ratio EBIT / Total Interest (Total interest includes interest expense and capitalized 

interest)***

81.34 178.58 N/A

Return on equity Net profit (loss) / Average total stockholders' equity (capital deficiency) 0.04 0.01 36.87

Return on assets Net profit (loss) / Average total assets 0.04 0.01 -1,112.43

Net profit margin Net profit (loss) / Total revenues**** 1.38 1.43 N/A

*The Company was incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on October 2, 2020.  Subsequently, the Company applied with the 

SEC in October 2021 for the amendments in its By-laws for a change in its reporting period from fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30 to calendar year beginning 

January 1 and ending December 31, and such amendment was approved by the SEC and Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) in November 2021.

**The Company has no interest bearing loans and borrowings and bonds and notes payable as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

***The Company did not incur any interest expense for the three months ended December 31, 2020.

****The Company did not earn any revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2020.
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Annex A: Reporting Template 

(For additional guidance on how to answer the Topics, organizations may refer to Annex B: Topic Guide) 
 

Contextual Information 
Company Details  
Name of Organization MREIT, Inc. 
Location of Headquarters 18th Floor, Alliance Global Tower, 36th Street corner 11th Avenue, 

Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City (Main office).  
Location of Operations Philippines  
Report Boundary: Legal entities 
(e.g. subsidiaries) included in this 
report* 

 
MREIT is a subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation  

Business Model, including 
Primary Activities, Brands, 
Products, and Services 

MREIT, a company designated by our Sponsor to operate as a REIT, 
leases to a diversified tenant base, currently with a high-quality 
portfolio (the “Portfolio”) of 14 office, hotel, retail and other assets 
(the “Properties” and each, a “Property”) across the Philippines 
with an aggregate GLA of 280,175 sqm as of December 31, 2021. 
MREIT’s Portfolio consists of commercial spaces primarily leased 
for office purposes, which may also be used and leased for retail 
purposes as required.  

Reporting Period For the period ending December 31, 2021 
Highest Ranking Person 
responsible for this report 

Englebert G. Teh 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Materiality Process 
 
 

Explain how you applied the materiality principle (or the materiality process) in identifying your 
material topics.14 

Process in Determining Materiality 
For 2021, MREIT conducted its first Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) materiality 

assessment to identify the economic, environmental, and social topics that are material to the group and 
its stakeholders. Stakeholder engagement was conducted through Megaworld as parent and sponsor 
company. Furthermore, the organization also looked into trends and issues related to sustainability in the 
industry. These processes served as a guide for the group to determine their materiality for the year. 
MREIT assessed different topics and identified those that are material based on the importance of the 
topic to the Company ability to act on these topics. With that, topics that were seen to have the highest 
ratings in the materiality matrix were selected as material. 
 
Approach to Stakeholder Engagement 

Engagement is done through meetings (face-to-face or virtual) at least once a month to get their 
feedback and input, supporting LGU programs, attending functions/meetings/seminars together with our 
partners.  

 
14 See GRI 102-46 (2016) for more guidance.



 

  ECONOMIC  
 
Economic Performance 

Direct Economic Value Generated and Distributed 
 

Disclosure Amount Units 
Direct economic value generated (revenue) 1,687,909,056.00 PhP 
Direct economic value distributed:  PhP 

a. Operating costs 228,537,088.00 PhP 
b. Employee wages and benefits 234,718.00 PhP 
c. Payments to suppliers, other operating costs 8,171,492.00 Php 
d. Dividends given to stockholders and interest payments to 

loan providers* 631,542,271.44 
PhP 

e. Taxes given to government 36,610,468.00 PhP 
f. Investments to community (e.g. donations, CSR) - PhP 

*As of the date of this report, the Company has distributed a total of Php1,076,151,586.92 out of its income 
generated for the six months ending December 31, 2021 or 98% of its distributable income for the period. 

 
 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Economic Performance 

 
Measuring the economic/financial performance of the organization is critical in understanding how 

we manage and allocate resources prudently. MREIT’s business model relies a lot on its ability to generate 
stable rental income and grow its portfolio of income generating properties over the long term. As such, it 
prefers properties that already have stable tenants such as those from the BPO industry. The Company has 
made it a point not to have any exposure from Philippine Offshore Gaming Operators (POGO). It also seeks 
to minimize concentration risk by having diversification in its portfolio in terms of location and tenant mix.  

 
In spite of the community quarantine imposed by the Government due to the coronavirus pandemic, 

MREIT’s properties enjoy pre-COVID-19 occupancy levels due largely to the sustained operations of the BPO 
office tenants. Nonetheless, cost-saving measures in other areas of operations have been implemented to 
ensure that investors can maximize the return on their investments. MREIT has already set its growth plans 
for the coming decade. The Company’s expansion will largely come from its Sponsor, Megaworld’s existing 
property portfolio and project pipeline. Complementing this initiative, the Company implements a rigorous 
valuation exercise and ensures that measures governing related party transactions are strictly observed. 
Regular reviews of corporate objectives and budget variances are conducted monthly to understand the 
resources utilized and expected scorecards have been achieved.



 

Climate-related risks and opportunities 
 
Natural catastrophes, such as severe weather conditions, may materially disrupt the Company’s 

operations and result in losses not covered by its insurance. 
 
The Philippines has experienced a number of major natural catastrophes over the years, including 

typhoons, floods, droughts, volcanic eruptions and earthquakes. There can be no assurance that the 
occurrence of such natural catastrophes will not materially disrupt the Company’s operations. These factors, 
which are not within the Company’s control, could potentially have significant effects on the Company’s 
leasing business and building operations. In particular, damage to the Company’s structures resulting from 
such natural catastrophes could also give rise to claims against the Company from third parties or from 
customers for physical injuries or loss of property.  

 
Further, although the Company carries insurance for certain catastrophic events, of types (such as 

business interruption insurance), in amounts and with deductibles that the Company believes are in line with 
general industry practices in the Philippines, there are losses for which the Company cannot obtain insurance 
at a reasonable cost or at all. Should an uninsured loss or a loss in excess of insured limits occur with respect 
to a particular property, for instance, the Company could lose all or a portion of the capital invested to acquire 
such property. Any material uninsured loss could materially and adversely affect the Company’s business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 
 

Procurement Practices 
Proportion of spending on local suppliers 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Percentage of procurement budget used for significant locations 
of operations that is spent on local suppliers 

100 % 

 
 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Procurement Practices 

 
Procurement processes and protocols are important to the Company in ensuring that the partners 

and vendors it engages have reputable backgrounds. By supporting local suppliers, an organization can 
indirectly attract additional investment to the local economy. 

 
In the case of MREIT, most of its procurement would be related to the management of its properties, 

which is outsourced to MREIT Property Managers, Inc., a subsidiary of its sponsor, Megaworld Corporation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Anti-corruption 
Training on Anti-corruption Policies and Procedures 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Percentage of employees to whom the organization’s anti- 
corruption policies and procedures have been communicated to 

100 % 

Percentage of business partners to whom the organization’s 
anti-corruption policies and procedures have been 
communicated to 

100 % 

Percentage of directors and management that have received 
anti-corruption training 

100 % 

Percentage of employees that have received anti-corruption 
training* 100 % 

*Training related to anti-corruption is done through the employee onboarding activities. 
 

Incidents of Corruption 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
Number of incidents in which directors were removed or 
disciplined for corruption 

0 # 

Number of incidents in which employees were dismissed or 
disciplined for corruption 

0 # 

Number of incidents when contracts with business partners 
were terminated due to incidents of corruption 

0 # 

 
 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Anti-Corruption Practices 

 
Anti-corruption processes and protocols are important to the organization, especially, in ensuring 

that we engage with reputable partners and vendors. MREIT deals with a variety of government and non-
government agencies in its business operations. Any instances of corruption, especially within the industry of 
office leasing and investment property management, could result in the loss of trust of existing investors and 
shareholders, distort markets, underline competition, and increase costs to firms. MREIT, a subsidiary of 
Megaworld, is not highly dependent on the services of personnel outside of Senior Management, who are 
officers and employees of Megaworld and of the services performed by the Company’s fund manager and 
property manager. The Company’s Legal team, with the help of the Human Resources team, takes the lead 
in resolving issues and concerns regarding corruption. To help ensure that corruption does not occur, the 
Company conducts annual training for all levels of management, and the leadership mandate prioritizing 
integrity is communicated regularly throughout the organization. There are no incidences of corruption for 
2021. 



 

  ENVIRONMENTAL  
Resource Management 

Energy consumption within the organization: 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
Energy consumption (renewable sources - biodiesel) - GJ 
Energy consumption (gasoline) - GJ 
Energy consumption (LPG) - GJ 
Energy consumption (diesel) 18,825.84 GJ 
Energy consumption (electricity) 59,931.28 GJ 
   

Reduction of energy consumption 
 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Energy reduction (gasoline)  

N/A 
GJ 

Energy reduction (LPG) N/A GJ 
Energy reduction (diesel) N/A GJ 
Energy reduction (electricity) N/A GJ 
Energy reduction (gasoline) N/A GJ 

 
 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Energy Consumption 

 
The nature of our operations requires us to maintain and operate equipment and facilities that 

require significant energy utilization, particularly for cooling and lighting requirements. It is therefore 
important for the Company to manage energy use efficiently.  

 
Through its property manager, the Company regularly monitors its facilities and equipment to see 

areas where energy conservation initiatives can be applied.  
 
The Company measures its ability to manage its energy consumption through the monitoring of its 

actual energy consumption versus   its allocated budget. Maintenance checks are also conducted at regular 
intervals to make sure that equipment is running at optimal level. 

 
Aside from managing the amount of energy consumed, MREIT also recognizes that the source of 

energy is important. In line with the Megaworld group’s thrust to transition to clean energy, MREIT will exert 
efforts to shift to renewable energy, where applicable. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Water consumption within the organization 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
Water withdrawal 874 cubic 

meter 
Water consumption 874 cubic 

meter 
Water recycled and reused Not available cubic 

meter 
 

Supplied from a third-party water, the total water withdrawal and consumption is 874 cubic meters 
respectively. 
 

Effluents 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total volume of water discharges Not available Megaliters 

Percent of wastewater recycled N/A % 
 

All of MREIT’s buildings are located in Megaworld townships. As such, it is the Sponsor’s responsibility 
for the treatment of wastewater coming from its properties. 

 
 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Water and Effluents 

 
The Company believes that given the size of its property portfolio, it can significantly contribute to 

efforts to help efficiently manage the country’s limited water resources. Water-saving initiatives in MREIT’s 
operations help conserve this natural resource. Through its property manager, the Company puts efforts to 
minimize leakages to its plumbing system, promote the responsible use of water among its visitors and 
tenants, and look at opportunities to use water-saving technologies in its properties. 
 

Materials used by the organization 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
Materials used by weight or volume   

renewable  N/A cubic 
meters 

non-renewable  N/A liters 
Percentage of recycled input materials used to manufacture the 
organization’s primary products and services 

N/A % 

 
This is not considered material to MREIT since it is primarily engaged in the leasing business, which 

does not require significant use of input materials in its operations. 
 
 
 
 



 

Ecosystems and biodiversity (whether in upland/watershed or coastal/marine) 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
Operational sites owned, leased, managed in, or adjacent to, 
protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside 
protected areas 

N/A # 

Habitats protected or restored N/A ha 
IUCN17 Red List species and national conservation list species 
with habitats in areas affected by operations 

N/A  

 
17 International Union for Conservation of Nature 
 

This is not considered material to MREIT since it does not have any property that are within or 
adjacent to watersheds or coastal and marine areas. 

 
Environmental impact management 

Air Emissions 
GHG  

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Direct (Scope 1) GHG Emissions 
Diesel Generator 

1,309.00 Tonnes 
CO2e 

Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG Emissions N/A Tonnes 
CO2e 

Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS) N/A Tonnes 
 

MREIT regularly monitors its GHG emissions. We have 1,309.00 Tonnes CO2e for Direct (Scope 1) 
GHG Emissions while data on Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG Emissions and Emissions of ozone-depleting 
substances (ODS) are not available. MREIT is committed to materialize sustainable approaches to its 
operating properties by providing green spaces and use of natural light in its common areas.  Included in the 
operations and project development planning are ways on how the Company can use its resources efficiently, 
thereby reducing consumption and GHG emissions 

 
Air pollutants  

Disclosure Quantity Units 
NOx N/A kg 
SOx N/A kg 
Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) N/A kg 
Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) N/A kg 
Hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) N/A kg 
Particulate matter (PM) N/A kg 

 
 
 
 
 



 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Emissions 

 
The Alliance Global group has started a target of being carbon neutral by 2035.  As part of the group, 

MREIT aims to significantly contribute to the achievement of this target. By setting targets and goals for 
reducing carbon emissions, MREIT can identify initiatives that will allow the Company to reach its target in a 
timely and efficient manner. 

 
 The Company is currently in the process of developing its program for managing its emissions. 
 

Solid and Hazardous Wastes 
Solid Waste  
 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total solid waste generated 7,860.68 metric tonnes 

Electronic Scrap 0.83 metric tonnes 
Printer fax and cartridges 0.34 metric tonnes 
Glass 1.15 metric tonnes 
Metal 21.09 metric tonnes 
Plastic 306.25 metric tonnes 
Textile 11.08 metric tonnes 
Wood 2.931 metric tonnes 
Paper  223.74 metric tonnes 
Sludge  22.2 metric tonnes 
Office waste  7,251.00 metric tonnes 
Engine Oil  12.69 metric tonnes 
Electronics  0.56 metric tonnes 
Battery  4.87 metric tonnes 
Lamp Bulbs 1.95 metric tonnes 

 
The total solid waste generated by MREIT amounts to 7,860.676 metric tonnes which accounts to 

reusable, recyclable, composted, incinerated and residuals/landfilled wastes which is presented in detail 
above. 

 
Hazardous Waste  
 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total weight of hazardous waste generated Data unavailable metric 

tonnes 
Total weight of hazardous waste transported Data unavailable metric 

tonnes 
 

Waste was identified by MREIT to be material since compliance requirements is one of their relevant 
topics in the organization.  



 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Waste Management 

 
Waste generated by MREIT properties are sent to DENR-Accredited third-party haulers and recyclers. 

Improper handling could lead to environmental pollution, waste accumulation resulting in obstruction of 
drainage systems, and health and sanitation risks. 

 
MREIT believes that waste generation must be controlled at various stages of the waste handling 

process to lessen the impact to the environment. The Company, through its property manager, ensures that 
waste generated by MREIT properties are managed efficiently.  

 
Environmental compliance 
Non-compliance with Environmental Laws and Regulations 

 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total amount of monetary fines for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulations 

None PhP 

No. of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulations 

None # 

No. of cases resolved through dispute resolution mechanism  None # 
 

The Company secures various government approvals, including environment compliance certificates 
and operating permits required in the Company’s operation of its assets for lease. The property manager is 
tasked to ensure that the Company’s permits and licenses to operate are up-to-date. 
 

MREIT had no incidents of non-compliance with environmental laws and/or regulations for 2021. 
 



 

  SOCIAL  

Employee Management 
Employee Hiring and Benefits 
Employee data  

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total number of employees18 1  

a. Number of female employees 1 # 
b. Number of male employees - # 

Attrition rate19 0% rate 
Ratio of lowest paid employee against minimum wage N/A ratio 

 
18 Employees are individuals who are in an employment relationship with the organization, 
according to national law or its application (GRI Standards 2016 Glossary) 
19 Attrition are = (no. of new hires – no. of turnover)/(average of total no. of employees of previous year 
and total no. of employees of current year) 

 
No employees are below minimum wage. 

 
Employee benefits  

List of Benefits Y/N % of female employees 
who availed for the 
year 

% of male employees 
who availed for the 
year 

SSS Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 
PhilHealth Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Pag-ibig Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Parental leaves Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Vacation leaves Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Sick leaves Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Medical benefits (aside from 
PhilHealth) 

Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 

Housing assistance (aside from Pag- 
ibig) 

Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 

Retirement fund (aside from SSS) Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Further education support Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Company stock options N 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Telecommuting Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Flexible-working Hours N 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Life insurance Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Disability and invalidity coverage Y 0.00 % 0.00 % 
Others     

 
 
 



 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Employment 

 
Megaworld is in-charge of MREIT’s Human Resources and talent acquisition and plays a vital role in 

the Company's operations. Thus, it places value in its talents by taking care of their well-being. Upon hiring, 
the MREIT covers for an employee's physical well-being thru an HMO coverage, provides security thru a life 
insurance coverage, and shows recognition of an employee's performance thru annual appraisals and 
incentives. 

 
As needed, the Company does benchmarking against competitors and even other industries to check 

if its practices, processes, and compensation and benefits packages are at par. 
 

Employee Training and Development 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total training hours provided to employees   

a. Female employees 0 hours 
b. Male employees hours 

Average training hours provided to employees   
a. Female employees 0 hours/employee 
b. Male employees hours/employee 

 
 
MREIT values its employees and it believes that training and development is necessary in each 

position to adapt to the rapid changes and demands in the industry. As part of the Company’s 2022 initiatives, 
MREIT plans to improve an individualized employee learning track record by gender.  
 
 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Training and Development 

 
Megaworld handles and manages the training and development of MREIT employees through 

Megaworld's Learning Academy which oversees the whole learning and development of the employees. The 
Company has a performance system in place to provide an opportunity for getting feedback on how the 
employee is contributing to the overall goal of the Company. 

 
The effectiveness of learning and development initiatives/programs is determined through post-

training evaluation/feedback which helps us in understanding training areas for improvement.  
 

Labor-Management Relations 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
% of employees covered with Collective Bargaining 
Agreements 

N/A % 

Number of consultations conducted with employees 
concerning employee-related policies 

  Minimum of once a 
year 

# 

 
 



 

MREIT aligns with the labor management practices and policies of Megaworld. The Company 
establishes a good working management relationship with its manpower complement when it comes to labor 
management. Though the organization has no collective bargaining agreements, a minimum of once-a-year 
consultation is conducted with employees concerning employee-related policies. 
  

Diversity and Equal Opportunity 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
% of female workers in the workforce 100% % 
% of male workers in the workforce 0% % 
Number of employees from indigenous communities and/or 
vulnerable sector* 

Data unavailable # 

*Vulnerable sectors include, elderly, persons with disabilities, vulnerable women, refugees, migrants, internally displaced 
persons, people living with HIV and other diseases, solo parents, and the poor or the base of the pyramid (BOP; Class D and E). 

 
 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Diversity and Equal Opportunity 

 
The Company believes in empowering its people to grow and learn, thus opening new opportunities 

within the organization. 
 

Workplace Conditions, Labor Standards, and Human Rights 
Occupational Health and Safety 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Safe Man-Hours Data Unavailable Man-hours 
No. of work-related injuries None # 
No. of work-related fatalities None # 
No. of work related ill-health None # 
No. of safety drills None # 

 
 

MREIT’S Management Approach on Occupational Health and Safety 

 
Employee well-being is vital in reaching the Company’s vision of uplifting lives and mission statement 

of delivering long-term value to its employees. The organization's Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) 
focuses on maintaining a safe and healthy work environment which impacts across the supply chain. The 
organization is in the low-risk level relative to OHS risk category. Risks include decrease in productivity and 
healthcare financing for accidents and illnesses. 

 
MREIT’s practices are consistent with Megaworld’s OHS Policy. Monitoring and reporting incidents 

of illness and accidents in the workplace are regularly conducted. 
 
 
 
 



 

Labor Laws and Human Rights 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of legal actions or employee grievances involving forced 
or child labor 

N/A # 

 
The MREIT Board-of-Directors approved the adoption of anti-harassment and employee welfare 

policies of the Company. MREIT values employee welfare by keeping everyone informed of the new policies 
to be adopted in its process. The Company ensures that these policies are effectively communicated through 
virtual meetings, emails and memorandums to inform the employees prior to implementation. 
 

Topic Y/N If Yes, cite reference in the company policy 
Forced labor N  
Child labor N 
Human Rights N  

 
Supply Chain Management 

 
 The Company has a broad base of suppliers that cater to the operation, maintenance, upkeep and 
valuation of the Company’s properties, and the management of its funds and assets, which the Company 
engages either directly or through the property manager or the fund manager. The accreditation of these 
suppliers are also conducted by the property manager and fund manager following Megaworld’s policy.  
 

Do you consider the following sustainability topics when accrediting suppliers? 
 

Topic Y/N If Yes, cite reference in the supplier policy 
Environmental performance N/A  
Forced labor N/A 
Child labor N/A 
Human rights N/A 
Bribery and corruption N/A 

 
 



 

Relationship with Community 
Significant Impacts on Local Communities 
 

Operations 
with 
significant 
(positive or 
negative) 
impacts on 
local 
communities 
(exclude CSR 
projects; this 
has to be 
business 
operations) 

Location Vulnerable 
groups (if 
applicable)* 

Does the 
particular 
operation 
have 
impacts on 
indigenous 
people 
(Y/N)? 

Collective or 
individual 
rights that 
have been 
identified that 
or particular 
concern for the 
community 

Mitigating 
measures (if 
negative) or 
enhancement 
measures (if 
positive) 

Leasing 
Operations 

Philippines Elderly, 
persons with 
disabilities, 
vulnerable 
women, solo 
parents, 
people living 
with HIV and 
other 
diseases 

N - decent work and 
economic growth 
 

 As the Company 
increases its 
portfolio, MREIT is 
also able to 
provide more 
employment 
opportunities for 
this sector 

*Vulnerable sector includes children and youth, elderly, persons with disabilities, vulnerable women, refugees, migrants, 
internally displaced persons, people living with HIV and other diseases, solo parents, and the poor or the base of the pyramid 
(BOP; Class D and E) 

For operations that are affecting IPs, indicate the total number of Free and Prior Informed Consent 
(FPIC) undergoing consultations and Certification Preconditions (CPs) secured and still operational and 
provide a copy or link to the certificates if available:    
 

Certificates Quantity Units 
FPIC process is still undergoing N/A # 
CP secured N/A # 

 
 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Local Communities 

 
MREIT supports the thrust of Megaworld to help the national government in its efforts to promote 

countryside development by investing and managing stable and attractive properties. MREIT believes that 
it can contribute to the growth of economic activities in the localities where it has a presence. 
 

 
 
 



 

 

 
Customer Management 

Customer Satisfaction  
Disclosure Score Did a third party conduct 

the customer satisfaction 
study (Y/N)? 

Customer satisfaction N/A N 
 

No customer satisfaction survey has been conducted in 2021.  
 

Health and Safety  
Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of substantiated complaints on product or service 
health and safety* - 

# 

No. of complaints addressed - # 
*Substantiated complaints include complaints from customers that went through the organization’s formal communication 
channels and grievance mechanisms as well as complaints that were lodged to and acted upon by government agencies. 
 

 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Customer Health and Safety 

 
MREIT has been strictly and consistently following government guidelines in promulgating a secure 

and safe experience to its office tenants. The Company also is in full compliance in terms of IATF Safety 
Guidelines such as issuance of Safety Seal from the LGUs.  
 

Marketing and labelling  
Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of substantiated complaints on marketing and 
labelling* 

None # 

No. of complaints addressed None # 
*Substantiated complaints include complaints from customers that went through the organization’s formal communication 
channels and grievance mechanisms as well as complaints that were lodged to and acted upon by government agencies. 

 
Marketing and labeling were not identified as material to the organization. 
 

Customer privacy  
Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of substantiated complaints on customer privacy* None # 
No. of complaints addressed None # 
No. of customers, users and account holders whose 
information is used for secondary purposes 

None # 

*Substantiated complaints include complaints from customers that went through the organization’s formal communication 
channels and grievance mechanisms as well as complaints that were lodged to and acted upon by government agencies. 

 
 



 

 
 

Data Security 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of data breaches, including leaks, thefts and losses 
of data 

None # 

 
 

MREIT’s Management Approach on Customer Privacy and Data Security 

 
MREIT values the trust of its customers and safeguarding against this violation of trust is crucial for 

the business. 
 
The Company gathers and processes a significant amount of data from the clients, partners and 

vendors. As such, compliance with the National Privacy Commission and Data Privacy Act requirements are 
observed and implemented to ensure that necessary and relevant measures to safeguard this information 
are observed. 

 
Regular reviews and impact assessments are conducted to identify compliance with the company 

requirements.



 

UN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS 
Product or Service Contribution to UN SDGs 

Key products and services and its contribution to sustainable development. 
 

Key Products and 
Services 

Societal Value / 
Contribution to UN SDGs 

Potential Negative 
Impact of Contribution 

Management Approach 
to Negative Impact 

Office rentals  
SDG 3: Good Health and 
Well-being 
Safety seals for all MREIT 
properties 
 
SDG 5: Gender Equality 
Equal opportunities in 
employment, skills training, 
and career advancement 
  
 
SDG 7: Affordable and Clean 
Energy 
Adapting DOE’s Energy 
Efficiency Program 
 
SDG 8: Decent work and 
Economic Growth 
indirect employment 
through its tenants 
 
SDG 10: Reduced 
Inequalities 
providing job opportunities 
to vulnerable sector of the 
community  
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

* None/Not Applicable is not an acceptable answer. For holding companies, the services and products of its subsidiaries may be 
disclosed. 
 

The stated product and services on sustainable development goals are of Megaworld. MREIT is 
also committed to the world in achieving such goals as our top priority by establishing and implementing 
the plans for sustainable business.  

.



 

Annex B: Topic Guide 

In line with the Disclosure Topic and Management Approach discussion above, this Annex will provide a 
guide on what to disclose in the Topics provided in the Reporting Template. The guide is based on the GRI 
Standards, SASB Standards and Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial 
Disclosures. 

 
ECONOMIC  

Economic disclosures relate to how the company directly increases the pool of economic resources that 
flows in the local and national economy. Included in the disclosures are the risks and opportunities due 
to climate change, procurement practices with respect to local suppliers and anti-corruption. 

 
Economic Performance 

 
Measuring the direct economic value generated, measured as revenue and distributed (costs) shows that 
an organization does not just create economic value for itself but also ensures that this value flows back 
to its various stakeholders such as stockholders, suppliers, employees, government, and the community. 
This also discloses the remaining value that is retained in the company for liquidity and for future 
investments. Figures for this disclosure can be derived using the audited financial statement with the 
revenue as the economic value generated for the reporting period. 

 
This disclosure answers the questions: 

• How much direct economic value (revenue) did you generate? 
• How much of this flowed back to society (costs disaggregated according to stakeholders)? 
• How much of this was retained in the company for liquidity and to fund future investments? 

 
See GRI 201-1 for more guidance on the disclosure. 

 

Disclosure of an organization’s climate-related issues helps stakeholders make sound and reasonable 
assessments of the impact climate change may have on the organization. Companies should disclose the 
climate-related risks and opportunities they have identified and how they assess and manage those issues. 
See GRI 201-2 and the Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures for 
more guidance on the disclosure. 

 
Procurement Practices 

 
Disclosure on the proportion of spending on local suppliers show’s an organization’s support for local 
groups, including those owned by women or members of vulnerable sectors. Supporting local suppliers 
can indirectly attract additional investments to the local economy. The disclosure describes the policies 
and practices used to select locally-based suppliers and to promote economic inclusion when selecting 
suppliers. See GRI 204 for more guidance on disclosures 

 
Anti-corruption 

 
Disclosures on training on anti-corruption policies and procedures show how the company ensures that it 
has the necessary capability to fight against corruption through proper training and awareness building for 
its directors, management, employees and business partners. Disclosures on incidents of corruption and 



 

how the company responded on the incidents show how serious an organization is on combatting 
corruption. See GRI 205 and SASB Standards General Issue Category: Business Ethics for more guidance on 
the disclosures. 

 

ENVIRONMENT  

Environmental disclosures relate to how the company manages the natural resources it needs for its 
business, as well as how it minimizes its negative impacts to the environment, including biodiversity. The 
company’s ability to access materials needed for its operations is critical to the company's long-term 
success. 

 
Resource Management 

 
Disclosures on resource management such as energy consumption, water consumption, and materials use 
show how efficiently an organization uses scarce natural resources, which has implications on reduction 
of environmental impacts from extraction and processing of these resources. The efficiency of managing 
resources relates to profitability of the organization. See GRI 301, GRI 302, GRI 303 and SASB Standards 
General Issue Categories: Energy Management; Water and Wastewater Management; Material Sourcing 
and Efficiency for more guidance on the disclosures. 

 
Ecosystems and Biodiversity 

 
Disclosure on activities that show how an organization protects, conserves, or rehabilitates ecosystems 
and biodiversity therein such as in watersheds and coastal and marine areas gives an idea of how that 
organization appreciates the ecosystem and the services it gives that make business thrive. Ecosystems 
and Biodiversity is vital to human existence. Companies have the responsibility and clear business case for 
ensuring ecosystems and biodiversity around its sites are protected and restored. See GRI 303, GRI 304 
and SASB Standards General Issue Category: Ecological Impacts for more guidance on the disclosures. 

 
Environmental Impact Management 

 
Reporting on an organization’s impact on air, soil, and water through emissions, wastes, and effluents 
provides a basis for companies to manage these impacts. Responsible companies take an effort to 
minimize such impacts through cleaner production and pollution prevention measures. Companies should 
disclose their performance on these topics including how well the organization mitigates, reduces, and/or 
prevents these impacts to the environment in compliance to Philippine Environmental Laws or on efforts 
beyond compliance. See GRI 305, GRI 306 and SASB Standards General Issue Categories: GHG Emissions; 
Air Quality; Water & Wastewater Management; Waste & Hazardous Materials Management for more 
guidance on the disclosures. 

 
Environmental Compliance 

 
Disclosure on an organization’s compliance with environmental laws and/or regulations shows an 
organization’s ability to conform to certain performance parameters. The strength of an organization’s 
compliance indicates its concern for environmental protection. See GRI 307 and SASB Standards General 
Issue Categories: Ecological Impacts; Air Quality; Water & Wastewater Management; Waste and 
Hazardous Materials Management for more guidance on the disclosures 



 

SOCIAL  

Disclosures on social topics relate to how the organization relates and manages its relationship with its 
stakeholders such as employees, communities, customers, and suppliers. 

 
Employee Management 

 
Disclosing on employee management indicates of how good an employer the organization is in engaging 
its employees. It also provides a sense on how the organization develops its employees and gives equal 
opportunity for all, such as indigenous people and those coming from vulnerable groups which include 
elderly, persons with disabilities, vulnerable women, refugees, migrants, internally displaced persons, 
people living with HIV and other diseases, solo parents, and the poor or the base of the pyramid (BOP; 
Class D and E). See GRI 401, GRI 402, GRI 404, GRI 405, GRI 406, GRI 407, GRI 102-8, GRI 102-41 and 
SASB Standards General Issue Categories: Labor Practices; Employee, Engagement Diversity & Inclusion 
for more guidance on the disclosures. 

 
Workplace Conditions,Labor Standards and Human Rights 

 
Disclosures on workplace conditions and labor standards show how an organization gives importance to 
occupational health and safety and how it upholds labor standards and human rights in the workplace. 
See GRI 403, GRI 408, GRI 409, GRI 412 and SASB Standards General Issue Category: Employee Health & 
Safety for more guidance on the disclosures. 

 
Supply Chain Management 

 
Disclosures on supply chain management is most relevant for companies with a significant portion of value 
creation carried out by suppliers. Organizations can report on how the reporting company ensures that 
supplier upholds with sustainability standards and practices including compliance to Philippine laws. The 
reporting company may also disclose how it influences its suppliers to be sustainable through supplier 
accreditation processes, among other approaches. See GRI 308, GRI 414 and SASB Standards General Issue 
Category: Supply Chain Management for more guidance on the disclosures. 

 
Relationship with Community 

 
These disclosures show how an organization meaningfully engages the community around their sites and 
how it aims to create a net positive impact to its host or neighbors. These also includes how the company 
contributes in addressing issues of indigenous people and those coming from vulnerable groups [youth, 
elderly, persons with disabilities, vulnerable women, refugees, migrants, internally displaced persons, 
people living with HIV and other diseases, solo parents, and the poor or the base of the pyramid (BOP; 
Class D and E)] in its business operations. See GRI 411, GRI 412, GRI 413 and SASB Standards General Issue 
Category: Human Rights & Community Relations for more guidance on the disclosures. 

 
Customer Management 

 
Disclosing on customer management shows how well an organization upholds the rights of its customers 
to privacy, safety, and security from probable negative impacts of its products and services. See GRI 416, 
GRI 417, GRI 418 and SASB Standards General Issue Categories: Product Quality & Safety; Customer 
Welfare; Selling Practices & Product Licensing for more guidance on the disclosures.



 

Data Security 
 

Reporting on the number of data breaches, including leaks, thefts and losses of data shows how much 
importance an organization places on keeping data secure. Organizations can indicate how they manage 
risks related to the collection, retention and use of sensitive information. See SASB Standards General 
Issue Category: Data Security for more guidance on the disclosure. 

 
 

UN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS  

The SDG Compass can be used as guidance for companies on how they can align their strategies as well 
as measure and manage their contribution to the realization of the SDGs. The SDG Compass can be 
accessed at https://sdgcompass.org/ 

 

Moreover, a recent publication with the title: Integrating the SDGs into Corporate Reporting: A Practical 
Guide,20 helps companies of all sizes to prioritize SDG targets to act and report on, set related business 
objectives, and measure and report on progress. This is a co-production between GRI and UN Global 
Compact (UNGC). 

 
Companies may also use the following framework to determine which area of sustainable development 
its company is contributing to improve people’s quality of life. 
 

 
 

For more information on how the private sector can contribute to sustainable development, companies 
may visit www.sdgsbiz.ph. 

 
 
 
 
 

20 This publication may be accessed at 
https://www.globalreporting.org/resourcelibrary/GRI_UNGC_Reporting-on-SDGs_Practical_Guide.pdf 



Disclosures for REIT Companies1 
 
(a) Real Estate Transactions for 2021 

 
On April 7, 2021, the Company approved the Property-for-Share Swap transaction with Megaworld Corporation (“Megaworld”) in which Megaworld 
transferred, assigned and conveyed absolutely in favor of the Company all of its rights, title and interests in the real properties listed below, in 
exchange for 1,282,120,381 common shares with a par value of P1 per share and additional paid-in capital (APIC) of P47,920,287,239, or a total 
subscription price of Php 49,202,407,620.00. The SEC certified the approval of the valuation of the Property-for-Share Swap on June 1, 2021; 
hence, the issuance of additional common shares to Megaworld was consummated.  
 

Property Location Valuation 
 

1800 Eastwood Avenue Quezon City 6,947,630,000.00 
1880 Eastwood Avenue Quezon City 6,748,764,000.00 
E-Commerce Plaza Quezon City 4,188,040,000.00 
One World Square Taguig City 7,528,990,000.00 
Two World Square Taguig City 5,257,741,000.00 
Three World Square Taguig City 5,240,508,000.00 
8/10 Upper McKinley Taguig City 4,924,563,000.00 
18/20 Upper McKinley Taguig City 4,795,211,000.00 
Richmonde Iloilo Hotel and Office Tower Iloilo City 2,062,266,020.00 
One Techno Place Iloilo City 1,508.694,600.00 

 
The properties were valued using the Market Data Approach. 
 
On December 20, 2021, the Company purchased the following four additional prime, Grade A buildings located in PEZA-zones from Megaworld for 
a total cash acquisition price of P9,116,000,000.00: 
 

Property Location Valuation 
 

World Finance Plaza Taguig City Php5,265,000,000.00  
One Global Center Iloilo City 1,274,000,000.00 
Two Techno Place Iloilo City 1,498,000,000.00 
Three Techno Place Iloilo City 1,244,000,000.00 

 
The properties were valued using the Income Approach. 
 

 
1 Pursuant to Section 6.2 of the Amended Listing Rules for REITs 



(b) Schedule of Properties as of 31 December 2021 
 

 

Property and 
Location 

Purchase 
Price 

Latest 
Appraisal* 

Remaining 
Land 
Lease 
Term 

 Gross 
leasable 

area 
(GLA) 

Leased 
Area 

Occupancy 
Rate 

Rental 
Income 

Gross 
Revenue 

Cost of 
Services 

Gross 
Profit 

  in Php 
millions 

in Php 
millions Years in sqm in sqm % in Php 

millions 
in Php 

millions 
in Php 

millions 
in Php 

millions 
Eastwood, Quezon 
City 

             
1800 Eastwood 
Avenue   6,948   7,836  49.5  34,738  34,704  100% 185.2  239.5   38.2  201.4  
1880 Eastwood 
Avenue   6,749   6,814  49.5  33,744  29,751  88% 122.4  169.9   31.4  138.6  
E-Commerce Plaza   4,188   4,289  49.5  20,940  16,636  79%  87.4  104.2   15.5   88.6  
McKinley Hill, Taguig              
One World Square   7,529   8,047  49.5  30,482  30,224  99% 190.9  221.0   25.7  195.4  
Two World Square   5,258   5,554  49.5  21,286  20,630  97% 133.9  162.6   29.5  133.1  
Three World Square   5,241   5,208  49.5  21,217  21,144  100% 129.2  157.9   27.2  130.7  
8/10 Upper McKinley  4,925   5,000  49.5  19,938  19,938  100% 131.4  152.3   18.5  133.9  
18/20 Upper McKinley  4,795   4,460  49.5  19,414  19,413  100% 109.5  125.2   14.1  111.1  
World Finance Plaza**  5,153   5,265   50   25,067  25,006  100%  13.3   15.0   1.6   13.4  
Iloilo Business Park, 
Iloilo              
Richmonde Tower  2,062   1,709  49.5  13,124  13,124  100%  55.8   62.1   10.6   51.5  
One Techno Place  1,509   1,228  49.5  9,549   9,041  95%  29.3   39.2   8.6   30.6  
Two Techno Place**  1,465   1,498  50  10,809  10,653  99%  3.4   4.3   0.9   3.4  
Three Techno Place**  1,242   1,244  50  9,568   9,305  97%  2.9   3.6   0.7   2.9  
One Global Center**  1,256   1,274  50  10,301  10,043  97%  2.9   3.7   0.7   3.1  
Total  58,318   59,426    280,175  269,610  96%  1,197.5   1,460.7  223.0   1,237.7  

*Latest appraisal for IPO Properties, namely: 1800, 1880, E-Commerce, One World Square, Two World Square, Three World Square, 8/10 Upper 
McKinley, 18/20 Upper McKinley, Richmonde Tower, and One Techno Place, issued on Feb 24, 2022 
**Assets injected last December 2021 
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TABLE 1: DISBURSEMENT SCHEDULE FOR THE PROCEEDS OF THE SECONDARY OFFER  
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 

1 One LeGrand Tower
A LEED Office Building with support retail with a total of 

approximately 48k sqm GLA
McKinley West Investment in Building Office / Retail On-going 100% 2021

Megaworld 
Corporation

5.19m 5.19m 0.00m 0.00m 0.00m Megaworld Corporation

2 One Paseo
A LEED Office Building with support retail with a total of 

approximately 24k sqm GLA
ArcoVia City Investment in Building Office / Retail On-going 100% 2021

Megaworld 
Corporation

35.07m 35.07m 0.00m 0.00m 0.00m Megaworld Corporation

3 Worldwide Plaza
A LEED Office Building with support retail with a total of 

approximtely 69k sqm GLA
Uptown Bonifacio Investment in Building Office / Retail On-going 99% 2022

Megaworld 
Corporation

724.58m 724.58m 0.00m 0.00m 0.00m Megaworld Corporation

4 No. 1 Upper East Avenue
A LEED Office Building with support retail with a total of 

approximately 8.6k sqm GLA
The Upper East Investment in Building Office / Retail On-going 11% 2023

Megaworld Bacolod 
Properties, Inc.

580.00m 115.61m 0.00m 175.00m 289.39m
Megaworld Bacolod 

Properties, Inc.

5 International Finance Center
A LEED Office Building with support retail with a total of 

approximately 68k sqm
Uptown Bonifacio Investment in Building Office / Retail On-going 28% 2023

Megaworld 
Corporation

110.95m 110.95m 0.00m 0.00m 0.00m Megaworld Corporation

6 Enterprise One
A LEED Office Building with support retail of with a total of 

approximately approximately 34k sqm
Iloilo Business Park Investment in Building Office / Retail On-going 13% 2024

Megaworld 
Corporation

1,000.00m 167.58m 0.00m 450.00m 382.42m Megaworld Corporation

7 Office - Iloilo
A LEED Office building with support retail to be developed in Iloilo 

Business Park
Iloilo Business Park Investment in Building Office / Retail On-going 6% 2025

Megaworld 
Corporation

900.00m 54.10m 325.00m 283.00m 237.90m Megaworld Corporation

8 Office  - Taguig 
A LEED Office building with support retail to be developed in 

Taguig
Taguig Investment in Building Office / Retail On-going 8% 2025

Megaworld 
Corporation

1,735.91m 206.91m 200.00m 769.00m 560.00m Megaworld Corporation

9 Office / Commercial - Cavite A Lifestyle Mall / Office located in Maple Grove Maple Grove Investment in Building Office / Retail On-going 8% 2024
Megaworld 
Corporation

1,430.00m 77.95m 228.00m 515.00m 609.05m Megaworld Corporation

10 Office / Commercial - Pampanga A Lifestyle Mall / Office located in Pampanga Pampanga Investment in Building Office / Retail On-going 8% 2025
Megaworld Capital 

Town, Inc.
1,050.00m 1,050.00m 0.00m 0.00m

Megaworld Capital Town, 
Inc.

11 Commercial - Bacolod A commercial project in The Upper East The Upper East Investment in Building Mall On-going 8% 2025
Megaworld Bacolod 

Properties, Inc.
747.55m 47.55m 0.00m 350.00m 350.00m

Megaworld Bacolod 
Properties, Inc.

12 Commercial 2 - Bacolod A commercial project in Northill Gateway Northill Gateway Investment in Building Mall On-going 7% 2024
Megaworld Bacolod 

Properties, Inc.
676.51m 8.69m 0.00m 350.00m 317.82m

Megaworld Bacolod 
Properties, Inc.

13 Hotel A hotel project in various townships Various Investment in Building Hotel On-going 5% 2023
Prestige Hotels and 

Resorts, Inc.
1,021.24m 200.00m 450.00m 371.24m

Prestige Hotels and 
Resorts, Inc.

14 Eastwood City Projects Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Eastwood City

Investment in Building and its 
improvements, Land and its 
developments through the 

Company and its subsidiaries

Malls, Offices, Land 
Development and other 

developments
On-going 90% 2022

Eastwood Cyber One 
Corporation

1,000.00m 350.00m 350.00m 300.00m
Eastwood Cyber One 

Corporation

15 ArcoVia City Projects Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments ArcoVia City

Investment in Building and its 
improvements, Land and its 
developments through the 

Company and its subsidiaries

Malls, Offices, Land 
Development and other 

developments
On-going 10% 2026

ArcoVia Properties, 
Inc.

1,000.00m 300.00m 350.00m 350.00m ArcoVia Properties, Inc.

16 Boracay Newcoast Projects Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Boracay Newcoast

Investment in Building and its 
improvements, Land and its 
developments through the 

Company and its subsidiaries

Malls, Offices, Land 
Development and other 

developments
On-going 20% 2024

Global Estate Resorts, 
Inc.

500.00m 150.00m 167.00m 183.00m Global Estate Resorts, Inc.

17 Arden Botanical Estate Projects Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Arden Botanical Estate

Investment in Building and its 
improvements, Land and its 
developments through the 

Company and its subsidiaries

Malls, Offices, Land 
Development and other 

developments
On-going 5% 2026

Global Estate Resorts, 
Inc.

500.00m 70.00m 125.00m 305.00m Global Estate Resorts, Inc.

18 Twin Lakes Projects Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Twin Lakes

Investment in Building and its 
improvements, Land and its 
developments through the 

Company and its subsidiaries

Malls, Offices, Land 
Development and other 

developments
On-going 7% 2025

Twin Lakes 
Corporation

1,773.00m 557.00m 565.00m 651.00m Twin Lakes Corporation

Total 14,790.00m 1,554.18m 3,430.00m 4,899.00m 4,906.82m

Cumulative 4,984.18m 9,883.18m 14,790.00m

STATUSPROJECT NAME DESCRIPTION TOWNSHIP / LOCATION INVESTMENT TYPE PRODUCT Q3 2022 DISBURSING ENTITYPERCENTAGE 
COMPLETION

COMPLETION 
DATE

TOTAL PLANNED USE 
FOR THE YEAR

Q4 2021 Q1 2022 Q2 2022
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TABLE 1: DISBURSEMENT SCHEDULE FOR THE PROCEEDS OF THE SALE OF ASSETS TO MREIT 
 

 
 

Northwin Global City Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Bulacan
Investment in Building and its improvements, Land and its developments 

through the Company and its subsidiaries
Malls, Offices, Land Development and 

other developments
On-going 7% 2026 1,590.00m 795.00m 0.00m 795.00m 0.00m Northwin Properties, Inc.

Iloilo Business Park Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Iloilo
Investment in Building and its improvements, Land and its developments 

through the Company and its subsidiaries
Malls, Offices, Land Development and 

other developments
On-going 25% 2026 750.00m 0.00m 225.00m 262.50m 262.50m Megaworld Corporation

Paragua Coastown Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Palawan
Investment in Building and its improvements, Land and its developments 

through the Company and its subsidiaries
Malls, Offices, Land Development and 

other developments
On-going 7% 2026 1,000.00m 500.00m 500.00m 0.00m 0.00m

Megaworld San Vicente Coast, 
Inc.

The Mactan Newtown Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Mactan
Investment in Building and its improvements, Land and its developments 

through the Company and its subsidiaries
Malls, Offices, Land Development and 

other developments
On-going 15% 2026 1,172.83m 235.00m 255.00m 315.00m 367.83m Oceantown Properties, Inc.

Bacolod Projects Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Bacolod
Investment in Building and its improvements, Land and its developments 

through the Company and its subsidiaries
Malls, Offices, Land Development and 

other developments
On-going 20% 2026 195.00m 0.00m 55.00m 55.00m 85.00m

Megaworld Bacolod Properties, 
Inc.

Cavite Projects Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Cavite
Investment in Building and its improvements, Land and its developments 

through the Company and its subsidiaries
Malls, Offices, Land Development and 

other developments
On-going 10% 2026 450.00m 0.00m 180.00m 135.00m 135.00m Megaworld Corporation

Manila Projects Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Manila
Investment in Building and its improvements, Land and its developments 

through the Company and its subsidiaries
Malls, Offices, Land Development and 

other developments
On-going 10% 2026 1,000.00m 0.00m 0.00m 450.00m 550.00m Megaworld Corporation

Taguig Projects Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Taguig
Investment in Building and its improvements, Land and its developments 

through the Company and its subsidiaries
Malls, Offices, Land Development and 

other developments
On-going 25% 2025 1,000.00m 0.00m 300.00m 350.00m 350.00m Megaworld Corporation

The Mactan Newtown Malls, Offices, Land Development and other developments Mactan
Investment in Building and its improvements, Land and its developments 

through the Company and its subsidiaries
Malls, Offices, Land Development and 

other developments
On-going 8% 2025 1,500.00m 0.00m 425.00m 450.00m 625.00m Megaworld Cebu Properties, Inc.

Total 8,657.83m 1,530.00m 1,940.00m 2,812.50m 2,375.33m
Cumulative 3,470.00m 6,282.50m 8,657.83m

PRODUCTPROJECT NAME DESCRIPTION
TOWNSHIP / 

LOCATION INVESTMENT TYPE Q3 2022 Q4 2022 DISBURSING ENTITYSTATUS
PERCENTAGE 
COMPLETION

COMPLETION 
DATE

TOTAL PLANNED USE 
FOR THE YEAR Q1 2022 Q2 2022


















